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If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to
Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box.  ¨

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act,
please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective
registration statement for the same offering.  ¨

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following
box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same
offering.  ¨

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following
box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same
offering.  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting
company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer ¨

Non-accelerated filer x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of each class of

securities to be registered

Proposed maximum

aggregate offering price(1)(2)
Amount of

registration fee
Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share $230,000,000 $26,726

(1) Includes $30,000,000 of shares of common stock that may be purchased from the registrant by the underwriters
pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares.

(2) Estimated solely for purposes of determining the registration fee in accordance with Rule 457(o) under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, on the basis of the maximum aggregate offering price.

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay
its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this
Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of
1933 or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting
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pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.
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The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not
be sold until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This
preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities nor does it seek an offer to buy these securities in
any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to completion, dated May 18, 2015

Prospectus

$200,000,000

Common Stock

Nevro Corp. is offering $75,000,000 of shares of its common stock. The selling stockholders identified in this
prospectus are offering $125,000,000 of shares of our common stock. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale
of any shares by the selling stockholders.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol �NVRO�. The last reported sale price
of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on May 15, 2015 was $53.41 per share. Assuming a public
offering of $53.41 per share, we would be offering 1,404,231 shares of our common stock and the selling stockholders
would be offering 2,340,385 shares of our common stock.

We are an �emerging growth company,� as that term is used in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, and, as
such, have elected to comply with certain reduced public company reporting requirements for this prospectus and
future filings.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See �Risk Factors� beginning on page 10.

Per Share Totals
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Public offering price $ $
Underwriting discounts and commissions(1) $ $
Proceeds to Nevro Corp., before expenses $ $
Proceeds to selling stockholders $ $

(1) See �Underwriting� for additional disclosure regarding underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses.

We have granted the underwriters an option for a period of 30 days to purchase from us up to an additional
$30,000,000 of shares of common stock.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares against payment in New York, New York on or about                     ,
2015.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of
these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a
criminal offense.

J.P. Morgan Morgan Stanley

Leerink Partners JMP Securities
                    , 2015
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Neither we nor the selling stockholders have authorized anyone to provide any information or to make any
representations other than those contained in this prospectus or in any free writing prospectuses we may authorize to
be delivered or made available to you. We and the selling stockholders take no responsibility for, and can provide no
assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may give you. We and the selling stockholders are
offering to sell shares of common stock and seeking offers to buy shares of common stock only in jurisdictions where
offers and sales are permitted. The information contained in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front
of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of shares of our common stock. Our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may have changed since that date.

No action is being taken in any jurisdiction outside the United States to permit a public offering of our common
stock or possession or distribution of this prospectus in any such jurisdiction. Persons who come into possession
of this prospectus in jurisdictions outside the United States are required to inform themselves about and to
observe any restrictions as to this offering and the distribution of this prospectus applicable to that jurisdiction.

Nevro�, Senza®, HF10� and our logo are some of our trademarks used in this prospectus. This prospectus also includes
trademarks, tradenames and service marks that are the property of other organizations. Solely for convenience, our
trademarks and tradenames referred to in this prospectus appear without the ® and � symbol, but those references are
not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights, or the
right of the applicable licensor to these trademarks and tradenames.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. This summary
provides an overview of selected information and does not contain all of the information you should consider before
buying our common stock. Therefore, you should read the entire prospectus carefully, including the information in our
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, incorporated by reference in this prospectus, before
deciding to invest in our common stock. Investors should carefully consider the information set forth under �Risk
Factors� beginning on page 10 of this prospectus and those identified in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014, or our 2014 Annual Report, and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2015, or our March 2015 Quarterly Report. In this prospectus, unless the context otherwise requires,
references to �the Company,� �we,� �us,� �our,� or �Nevro� refer to Nevro Corp. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Overview

We are a medical device company that has developed and commercialized an innovative neuromodulation platform
for the treatment of chronic pain. Our Senza® system is the only spinal cord stimulation, or SCS, system that delivers
our proprietary HF10� therapy. On May 8, 2015, our premarket approval, or PMA, application for our Senza SCS
system, or Senza, was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA.

Key highlights of our SENZA PMA are as follows:

� First U.S. commercial approval for an SCS system supported by a prospective, randomized, controlled,
comparative study.

� HF10 therapy is the first and only SCS therapy approved by FDA with superiority labeling.

� HF10 therapy is the first and only SCS therapy that is approved by FDA to deliver paresthesia-free pain relief.

� HF10 therapy is the first and only SCS therapy approved by the FDA to be used without patient restrictions on
motor vehicle operation while receiving therapy.

� Senza is the first fully implantable SCS system approved by the FDA with labeling for 3T conditional MRI
compatibility.

Outside of the United States, Senza is indicated for the treatment of chronic intractable pain of the trunk and limbs, is
reimbursed under existing SCS codes, and has been commercially available in certain European markets since
November 2010 and in Australia since August 2011.

While traditional SCS therapy is indicated and reimbursed for treating back and leg pain, it has limited efficacy in
treating back pain and is used primarily for treating leg pain, limiting its market adoption. In our pivotal study, HF10
therapy was demonstrated to provide significant and sustained back pain relief in addition to leg pain relief. We
believe we are positioned to transform and grow the approximately $1.5 billion existing global SCS market under
current reimbursement by treating back pain in addition to leg pain and by eliminating paresthesia, a constant tingling
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sensation that is the basis of traditional SCS therapy.

Our SENZA-RCT U.S. pivotal study, a non-inferiority study, met its primary and secondary endpoints, and
demonstrated the superiority of HF10 therapy over traditional SCS therapies for treating both leg and back pain. In our
pivotal study, HF10 therapy was demonstrated to provide significant and sustained back pain relief in addition to leg
pain relief. Additionally, HF10 therapy was demonstrated to provide pain relief without paresthesia. HF10 therapy is
also designed to reduce variability in the operating procedure, providing meaningful benefits to both patients and
physicians.

We hold 76 issued patents globally and over 100 pending patent applications in the United States and international
jurisdictions. Our revenue increased from $23.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $32.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2014, with a net loss of $26.0 million and $30.7 million in these

1
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periods, respectively. We have a history of significant net losses and we expect to continue to incur losses for the
foreseeable future. Due to market penetration in Europe and Australia, we expect that our future revenue growth, if
any, will be largely from sales in the U.S. market.

We believe we have built competitive advantages through our proprietary technology, clinical evidence base, strong
track record of execution including over 3,000 patients implanted with Senza, and proven management team with
substantial experience in the neuromodulation field. With what we believe are compelling efficacy data for both leg
and back pain compared to traditional SCS therapy, we aim to drive adoption of Senza in the U.S. market, which
represents the largest opportunity in SCS, and expand patient access to HF10 therapy by investing in the development
of Senza for new indications.

SENZA-RCT Pivotal Study

We completed our SENZA-RCT pivotal study in March 2014, which was the first prospective randomized controlled
pivotal study in the history of SCS and the first to directly demonstrate comparative effectiveness between SCS
therapies. The SENZA-RCT study was designed as a non-inferiority trial comparing HF10 therapy to traditional
commercially available SCS therapy and met its primary and secondary endpoints.

Key highlights of our SENZA-RCT pivotal study are as follows:

� The SENZA-RCT study results demonstrated the non-inferiority of HF10 therapy to traditional SCS therapy on
all primary and secondary endpoints. Additionally, the study results demonstrated the superiority of HF10
therapy over traditional SCS therapy in all primary and secondary endpoints.

� HF10 therapy was nearly twice as successful in treating back pain as traditional SCS therapy, with 84.3% of
patients receiving HF10 therapy, as compared to 43.8% of patients receiving traditional SCS therapy, reporting
50% or more pain relief at three months, results that were statistically superior.

� HF10 therapy was 1.5 times as successful in treating leg pain as traditional SCS therapy, with 83.1% of
patients receiving HF10 therapy, as compared to 55.5% of patients receiving traditional SCS therapy, reporting
50% or more pain relief at three months, results that were statistically superior.

� HF10 therapy provided a 69.2% reduction in back pain as measured by the Visual Analog Scale, or VAS,
versus 44.2% for traditional SCS therapy, at three months, results that were statistically superior.

� HF10 therapy provided a 72.8% reduction in leg pain as measured by VAS, versus 51.5% for traditional SCS
therapy, at three months, results that were statistically superior.

� The study results demonstrated the superiority of HF10 therapy for both back and leg pain at each
measurement throughout the 12-month study.
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� Patients receiving HF10 therapy did not report paresthesia or uncomfortable stimulation at three months. In
comparison, 46.5% of patients receiving traditional SCS therapy reported uncomfortable stimulation at three
months.

� Based on our analysis, two-thirds of HF10 therapy patients had a VAS pain score of less than or equal to 2.5 on
a scale of 0 to 10 for back pain at three months (which we define as achieving remitter status), twice the
number of traditional SCS therapy patients, results that were statistically superior.

� Based on our analysis, three-fourths of HF10 therapy patients had a VAS pain score of less than or equal to 2.5
on a scale of 0 to 10 for leg pain at three months, twice the number of traditional SCS therapy patients, results
that were statistically superior.

� Safety outcomes were consistent across the control and test groups.
The outcomes for HF10 therapy in our pivotal study are consistent with the outcomes from our European clinical
study, the two year results of which have been published in the Pain Medicine journal of the American Academy of
Pain Medicine.

2
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Market Overview

Chronic pain has been defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) as pain that lasts longer
than the time required for tissues to heal, which is often defined to be three months. About 1.5 billion people suffer
from chronic pain worldwide, including approximately 100 million Americans. Back pain is the most common
manifestation of chronic pain, with an estimated 84 million patients in the United States experiencing chronic back
pain. In terms of impact, the annual cost of back pain in the United States is estimated to be $34 billion for treatment,
with another $100 billion in lost productivity.

Existing Treatments for Chronic Pain and Limitations

Patients who present with chronic pain are typically placed on a treatment progression plan. Initial medical
management typically includes behavioral modification, exercise, physical therapy, and over-the-counter analgesics
and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. When early stage medical management is not sufficient for the treatment
of chronic leg and back pain, patients may progress to interventional techniques including steroid injections or nerve
blocks. Patients who do not respond to these more conservative treatments are considered candidates for more
advanced therapies.

Spine Surgery

Spine surgery is a common invasive surgical procedure for the treatment of pain and typically precedes traditional
SCS therapy. Despite the possibility of surgical complications, recent data suggests that over 500,000 spinal
procedures are performed in the United States every year. Failed Back Surgery Syndrome is a common outcome of
spine surgery where chronic back and/or leg pain continues to persist and affects an estimated 10% to 40% of patients
receiving spine surgery.

Oral Opioids

Oral opioids are prescription pain medications that suppress the patient�s acute perception of pain but lack clinical
evidence supporting their long term use to treat chronic pain, including back pain. Oral opioids can significantly
compromise the patient�s quality of life, and are also known to present a high risk of addiction.

Traditional Spinal Cord Stimulation

SCS is a type of neuromodulation technology that utilizes an implantable pacemaker-like device to deliver electrical
impulses to the spinal cord. Traditional SCS therapy is a long-established pain treatment that utilizes low frequency
stimulation, typically between 40 Hz and 60 Hz (therapeutic pulses per second), to induce paresthesia that overlaps the
distribution of pain with the intent of masking pain perception. Paresthesia is often considered unpleasant or
uncomfortable, sometimes causes a shocking or jolting sensation with changes in posture and is a continuous reminder
of the patient�s chronic condition. The electrical pulses are delivered by small electrodes on leads that are placed near
the spinal cord and are connected to a compact, battery-powered generator implanted under the skin. Traditional SCS
therapy is considered to be a minimally invasive, reversible therapy that may provide greater long-term benefits over
more invasive surgical approaches or opioids.

The adoption of SCS to date has been driven primarily by the treatment of patients whose worst pain is in their legs
and for whom other treatment approaches have failed. The global market for traditional SCS therapy is projected to
grow to approximately $1.8 billion in 2017, with the United States comprising approximately 80% of this global
market. The addressable market in the United States for potential SCS candidates is estimated to be 1 million patients.
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We believe that due to factors such as an aging population and an increasing number of failed back surgeries, the
number of candidates for SCS will continue to grow. Despite the sizeable potential market, only approximately 40,000
SCS systems are implanted each year in the United States, representing less than 10% of the addressable U.S. market.
According to 2012 IMS data, there are approximately 4,400 facilities in the United States where SCS systems are
implanted by a variety of physicians, including neurosurgeons, physiatrists,

3
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interventional pain specialists and orthopedic spine surgeons. However, only approximately half of chronic pain
patients are considered candidates for traditional SCS therapy. We believe that broader utilization of traditional SCS
therapy has been restrained by the lack of prospective randomized clinical evidence supporting SCS broadly and, in
particular, demonstrating an ability to treat back pain. We believe there is an additional opportunity for an SCS
therapy that effectively treats back pain that is approximately the size of the existing global SCS market.

Limitations of Traditional SCS Therapy

� Limited clinical evidence: To date, we believe there are only two published prospective randomized SCS
studies that provide long-term (at least 12 months) data, both of which focused on leg pain. Neither of these
studies was done to support initial regulatory approval of an SCS system. We believe this limited clinical
evidence has inhibited market adoption of traditional SCS therapy.

� Lack of evidence supporting efficacy in back pain: We believe predominant back pain is more difficult to
treat with traditional SCS therapy than leg pain due to the reduced ability to achieve and maintain pain
coverage in the back. We are not aware of a prospective, randomized clinical trial supporting the efficacy of
traditional SCS therapy in treating back pain.

� Paresthesia: Traditional SCS therapy relies on paresthesia to mask pain with a constant tingling sensation.
Paresthesia is often considered unpleasant or uncomfortable, sometimes made worse by a shocking or jolting
sensation with changes in posture. Unpleasant sensations can be caused by lead movement closer to the spinal
cord or away from it as the patient moves, resulting in variation in paresthesia intensity. Paresthesia is also a
constant reminder of the patient�s chronic condition. Due to the distraction of paresthesia, patients with
traditional SCS devices are instructed not to drive or operate machinery when the device is activated.
Medtronic, the current leader in neuromodulation, has released a survey showing that 71% of patients find
paresthesia uncomfortable at times.

� Paresthesia mapping: A crucial part of the traditional SCS procedure is called paresthesia mapping. This
mapping process requires a patient to be sedated for the lead placement, then awakened and repeatedly
questioned in order for the physician to assess paresthesia coverage over the patient�s area of pain and
reposition and reprogram the leads to redirect the paresthesia. This process creates variability in the procedure
and a complicated anesthesia management process, impacting the physician�s schedule and patient comfort.

Our Solution for Chronic Pain

Our HF10 therapy is designed to overcome many of the limitations of traditional SCS therapy, offering benefits to
patients, physicians and hospitals. Compared to traditional SCS therapy, HF10 therapy delivers spinal cord stimulation
at a lower amplitude and a higher frequency waveform of 10,000 Hz (therapeutic pulses per second). We believe the
advantages of our proprietary HF10 therapy over traditional SCS include:

� Compelling efficacy data for both leg and back pain. We believe that the results of our pivotal clinical trial
provide compelling efficacy data in leg and back pain that may enable us to gain significant market share in the
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approximately $1.5 billion existing global SCS market, which is primarily based on treating leg pain. In
addition, we believe our efficacy data in back pain will allow us to expand the SCS market under current
reimbursement by meeting demand from back pain patients who are largely untreated by traditional SCS
therapies.

� Strong global clinical evidence. We believe the strength of our clinical evidence base supporting HF10
therapy differentiates it from traditional SCS therapies and we expect it to drive adoption among patients,
providers and payors through increased referrals and utilization.

� Paresthesia free pain relief for patients. HF10 therapy does not induce or require paresthesia to provide pain
relief. By delivering pain relief without paresthesia, HF10 therapy removes a major barrier for many patients
who would otherwise benefit from SCS.

4
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� Anatomical lead placement for physicians. Since HF10 therapy relies on anatomical lead placement, it
removes the cumbersome process of paresthesia mapping that is required by traditional SCS therapy, reducing
variability in the operating procedure and offering a significant benefit to both physicians and hospitals by
reducing variability of procedures.

� Ability to treat a broader group of chronic pain patients. We are currently investigating the use of HF10
therapy to treat pre-spinal surgery patients, chronic intractable neck and upper extremity pain and refractory
chronic migraine.

Our Growth Strategy

Our mission is to be the neuromodulation leader in the treatment of chronic pain by developing innovative,
evidence-based solutions. To accomplish this objective we intend to:

� Drive adoption of HF10 therapy through a world-class sales and marketing organization.

� Communicate what we believe is the compelling clinical efficacy of HF10 therapy to patients, physicians and
payors globally.

� Expand the existing SCS market by treating back pain.

� Develop HF10 therapy for use in other chronic pain indications.

� Invest in research and development to drive innovation.

� Scale our business to achieve cost and production efficiencies.
Risks Associated With Our Business

Our business is subject to numerous risks, as more fully described in the section entitled �Risk Factors� immediately
following this prospectus summary. These risks include, among others:

� We have a history of significant losses. If we do not achieve and sustain profitability, our financial condition
could suffer.

� We are substantially dependent on market acceptance in the United States for our HF10 therapy, and the failure
of our HF10 therapy to gain such market acceptance will negatively impact our business.
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� If we are unable to protect, enforce and maintain our intellectual property, our business will be negatively
affected.

� We must educate physicians on the safe and effective use of our HF10 therapy and demonstrate its merits
compared to the SCS systems of our competitors.

� We face significant competition from larger, well established companies with substantially greater resources
and who have a long history of competing in the SCS market, which we believe will intensify now that we
have received FDA approval and intend to launch in the U.S. market.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in March 2006 as a Minnesota corporation under the name NBI Development, Inc. and in
October 2006 reincorporated in Delaware. In June 2007, we changed our corporate name to Nevro Corp. We
completed the initial public offering of our common stock in November 2014. Our common stock is currently listed
on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol �NVRO.� Our principal executive offices are located at 4040
Campbell Avenue, Menlo Park, California 94025, and our telephone number is (650) 251-0005. Our website address
is www.nevro.com. The information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of this prospectus. We
have included our website address as an inactive textual reference only.

5

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 17



Table of Contents

We are an �emerging growth company,� as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. We will remain
an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) December 31, 2019 (the last day of the fiscal year following the
fifth anniversary of our initial public offering), (2) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross
revenue of at least $1.0 billion, (3) the last day of the fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated
filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the
prior June 30th, and (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the
prior three-year period. We refer to the Jumpstart Our Business Startup Act of 2012 herein as the �JOBS Act,� and
references herein to �emerging growth company� shall have the meaning associated with it in the JOBS Act.

6
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THE OFFERING

Common stock we are offering $75,000,000 of shares

Common stock the selling stockholders are
offering

$125,000,000 of shares

Common stock to be outstanding after the
offering

            shares (             shares if the underwriters exercise their option to
purchase additional shares in full)

Underwriter�s option to purchase additional
shares

We have granted the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an
additional $30,000,000 of shares of our common stock from us.

Use of proceeds We estimate that the net proceeds to us from this offering will be
approximately $69.8 million, or approximately $98.0 million if the
underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares in full, at
an assumed public offering price of $53.41 per share, which was the last
reported sale price of our common stock on the New York Stock
Exchange on May 15, 2015, after deducting the underwriting discounts
and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. We
currently expect to use the net proceeds from this offering to support our
commercial launch of Senza in the United States, and for working capital
and general corporate purposes, including research and development. See
�Use of Proceeds.�

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of any shares by the
selling stockholders.

Risk factors You should read the �Risk Factors� section of this prospectus and our 2014
Annual Report and our March 2015 Quarterly Report, incorporated by
reference herein, for a discussion of factors to consider carefully before
deciding to invest in shares of our common stock.

Symbol on the New York Stock Exchange �NVRO�
The number of shares of common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 24,896,511 shares of common
stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015, and excludes the following, in each case as of such date:
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� 3,315,947 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options having a
weighted-average exercise price of approximately $9.69 per share;

� 2,316,800 shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to future equity awards under our 2014
Equity Incentive Award Plan, as well as any future increases in the number of shares of our common stock
reserved for future issuance under this plan; and

� 445,320 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
as well as any future increases in the number of shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under
this plan.

Unless otherwise indicated, the number of shares of our common stock described above assumes no exercise of the
underwriters� option to purchase additional shares.

7
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents summary consolidated financial data for our business. We derived the following
statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 from our audited financial
statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus from our 2014 Annual Report and we derived the following
statements of operations data for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015 and the balance sheet data as of
March 31, 2015 from our unaudited interim financial statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus from our
March 2015 Quarterly Report. You should read this data together with our consolidated financial statements and
related notes, as well as the information under the captions �Selected Financial Data� and �Management�s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,� appearing in our 2014 Annual Report, which is
incorporated by reference herein. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our future results and results
for the three months ended March 31, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full year.

Years Ended December 31, Three Months Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014          2014                  2015         

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Data:
Revenue $ 18,150 $ 23,500 $ 32,573 $ 6,664 $ 9,662
Cost of revenue 7,527 9,473 11,278 2,999 3,873

Gross profit 10,623 14,027 21,295 3,665 5,789

Operating expenses
Research and development 15,659 20,345 19,824 4,696 4,998
Sales, general, and administrative 14,094 18,833 29,777 6,210 13,130

Total operating expenses 29,753 39,178 49,601 10,906 18,128

Loss from operations (19,130) (25,151) (28,306) (7,241) (12,339) 
Interest and other income (expense), net 325 (501) (1,896) 278 (1,579) 
Loss before income taxes (18,805) (25,652) (30,202) (6,963) (13,918) 
Provision for income taxes 162 362 478 93 142

Net loss $ (18,967) $ (26,014) $ (30,680) $ (7,056) $ (14,060) 

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock to redemption value (98) (153) (147) (43) �

Net loss attributable to common stockholders
per share, basic and diluted(1) $ (38.59) $ (29.84) $ (6.94) $ (6.60) $ (0.57) 

Weighted-average number of common shares
used to compute basic and diluted net loss per
share(1) 494,066 876,932 4,440,663 1,075,932 24,849,229

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 21



As of March 31, 2015(2)
Actual As Adjusted(3)

(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 159,216 $ 229,001
Working capital 174,363 244,148
Total assets 192,220 262,005
Accumulated deficit (136,037) (136,037) 

Total stockholders� equity $ 159,118 $ 228,903
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(1) See Notes 2 and 10 to our consolidated financial statements appearing in our 2014 Annual Report and Note 2 to
our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing in our March 2015 Quarterly Report, each
of which is incorporated by reference herein, for an explanation of the calculations of our basic and diluted net
loss per common share and the weighted-average number of shares used in the computation of the per share
amounts.

(2) The as-adjusted balance sheet data reflects the sale of $75,000,000 of shares of common stock offered by us in
this offering at an assumed public offering price of $53.41 per share, which was the last reported sale price of our
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on May 15, 2015, after deducting estimated underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. We will not receive any proceeds
from any sale of shares of our common stock in this offering by the selling stockholders; accordingly, there is no
impact upon the adjusted consolidated balance sheet for these sales.

(3) Assuming an issuance of 1,404,231 shares of common stock by us in this offering, $1.00 increase (decrease) in
the assumed public offering price of $53.41 per share, which was the last reported sale price of our common stock
on the New York Stock Exchange on May 15, 2015, would increase (decrease) the as adjusted amount of each of
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, working capital, total assets and total stockholders� equity by
approximately $1.3 million, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us. A 100,000 share increase (decrease) in the number of shares offered by us at the
assumed public offering price of $53.41 per share would increase (decrease) the as adjusted amount of each of
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, working capital, total assets and total stockholders� equity by
approximately $5.0 million after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us.

9
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before investing in our common stock, you should
carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other information in this prospectus or incorporated by
reference, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and the risks and uncertainties
discussed under �Risk Factors� in our 2014 Annual Report and our March 2015 Quarterly Report, which is incorporated
by reference herein in its entirety. The occurrence of any of the events or developments described below or
incorporated by reference herein could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth
prospects. In such an event, the market price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your
investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may
also impair our business operations.

Risks Related to our Business

We have a history of significant losses. If we do not achieve and sustain profitability, our financial condition could
suffer.

We have experienced significant net losses, and we expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. In
May 2015, the FDA approved our PMA to market Senza in the United States, and we have not yet commercially
launched the product in the United States. We expect to continue to incur losses as we build our U.S. commercial sales
force and initiate our commercial launch in the United States, as well as continue to investigate the use of our HF10
therapy to treat other chronic pain conditions. We incurred net losses of $14.1 million and $30.7 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, and as of March 31, 2015 our
accumulated deficit was $136.0 million. Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will
continue to have, for the foreseeable future, an adverse effect on our stockholders� deficit and working capital. If our
revenue grows more slowly than we anticipate, or if our operating expenses are higher than we expect, we may not be
able to achieve profitability and our financial condition could suffer. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we
may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods.

We are substantially dependent on market acceptance in the United States for our HF10 therapy, and the failure of
our HF10 therapy to gain such market acceptance would negatively impact our business.

Since our inception, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts to the development and commercialization of
Senza and HF10 therapy for the treatment of chronic leg and back pain. From inception through March 31, 2015, our
total revenue was $91.6 million and was derived entirely from sales of Senza in Europe and Australia. We have
incurred and will in the future incur significant costs, including costs to build our sales force, in order to commercially
launch in the United States. If we are unable to achieve significant market acceptance in the United States, our results
of operations will be adversely affected as the United States is expected to be the principal market for this product.
Because we do not have any other products currently in development, if we are unsuccessful in commercializing
Senza or are unable to market Senza as a result of a quality problem, failure to maintain or obtain additional regulatory
approvals, unexpected or serious complications or other unforeseen negative effects related to our HF10 therapy or the
other factors discussed in these risk factors, we would lose our only source of revenue, and our business will be
materially adversely affected.

We may in the future become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be
expensive and time consuming, and ultimately unsuccessful, and could result in the diversion of significant
resources, thereby hindering our ability to effectively commercialize our existing or future products. If we are
unable to obtain, maintain, protect, and enforce our intellectual property, our business will be negatively affected.
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The market for medical devices is subject to rapid technological change and frequent litigation regarding patent and
other intellectual property rights. It is possible that our patents or licenses may not withstand challenges made by
others or protect our rights adequately.
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Our success depends in large part on our ability to secure effective patent protection for our products and processes in
the United States and internationally. We have filed and intend to continue to file patent applications for various
aspects of our technology and trademark applications to protect our brand and business. We seek to obtain and
maintain patents and other intellectual property rights to restrict the ability of others to market products or services
that misappropriate our technology and/or infringe our intellectual property to compete with our products.

However, we face the risks that:

� We may fail to secure necessary patents, potentially permitting competitors to market competing products and
make, use or sell products that are substantially the same as ours without incurring the sizeable development
costs that we have incurred, which would adversely affect our ability to compete.

� Patents may not issue from any of our currently pending or future patent applications.

� Our already-granted patents and any future patents may not survive legal challenges to their scope, validity or
enforceability, or provide significant protection for us, and they may be re-examined or invalidated, and/or may
be found to be unenforceable or not cover competing products.

� Even if our patents are determined by a court to be valid and enforceable, they may not be drafted or
interpreted sufficiently broadly to prevent others from marketing products and services similar to ours or
designing around our patents. For example, third parties may be able to make systems or devices that are
similar to ours but that are not covered by the claims of our patents. Third parties may assert that we or our
licensors were not the first to make the inventions covered by our issued patents or pending patent applications.
The claims of our issued patents or patent applications when issued may not cover our commercial technology
or the future products and services that we develop. We may not have freedom to operate unimpeded by the
patent rights of others. Third parties may have dominating, blocking or other patents relevant to our technology
of which we are not aware. In addition, because patent applications in the United States and many foreign
jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after the filing of certain priority documents (or, in
some cases, are not published until they issue as patents) and because publications in the scientific literature
often lag behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for our
technology or our contemplated technology. Any such patent applications may have priority over our patent
applications or issued patents, which could further require us to obtain rights to issued patents covering such
technologies. If another party has filed a U.S. patent application on inventions similar to ours, depending on
when the timing of the filing date falls under certain patent laws, we may have to participate in a priority
contest (such as an interference proceeding) declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO), to
determine priority of invention in the United States. There may be prior public disclosures that could invalidate
our inventions or parts of our inventions of which we are not aware. Further, we may not develop additional
proprietary technologies and, even if we do, they may not be patentable.

� Patent law can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important
principles remain unresolved. In the United States and in many foreign jurisdictions, policies regarding the
breadth of claims allowed in patents can be inconsistent. The U.S. Supreme Court and the U.S. Court of
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Appeals for the Federal Circuit have made, and will likely continue to make, changes in how the patent laws of
the United States are interpreted. Similarly, foreign courts have made, and will likely continue to make,
changes in how the patent laws in their respective jurisdictions are interpreted. We cannot predict future
changes in the interpretation of patent laws or changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law by U.S.
and foreign legislative bodies. Those changes may materially affect our patents or patent applications, our
ability to obtain patents or the patents and patent applications of our licensors. Future protection for our
proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately
protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage, which could adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations.

� Monitoring unauthorized uses of our intellectual property is difficult and costly. From time to time, we seek to
analyze our competitors� products and services, and may in the future seek to enforce our patents
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or other proprietary rights against potential infringement. However, the steps we have taken to protect our
proprietary rights may not be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our intellectual property. We may not be
able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. Our
competitors may also independently develop similar technology. Any inability to meaningfully protect our
intellectual property could result in competitors offering products that incorporate our product features, which
could reduce demand for our products. In addition, we may need to defend our patents from third-party
challenges, including interferences, derivation proceedings, re-examination proceedings, post-grant review,
inter partes review, third-party submissions oppositions, nullity actions, or other patent proceedings. For
example, on May 11, 2015, we learned that Boston Scientific Neuromodulation Corporation intended to file
with the USPTO two petitions for inter partes review challenging the validity of our U.S. Patent No. 8,359,102.
These petitions were subsequently filed on May 14, 2015. We may also need to initiate infringement claims or
litigation. Adverse proceedings such as litigation or challenges to the validity of our patents can be expensive,
time consuming and may divert the efforts of our technical and managerial personnel, which could in turn harm
our business, whether or not we receive a determination favorable to us. In addition, in an infringement or other
adverse proceeding, a court may decide that the patent we seek to enforce is invalid or unenforceable, or may
refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that the patent in question does
not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation or proceeding could place one or more
of our patents at risk of being invalidated, interpreted narrowly, or found unenforceable. Some of our
competitors may be able to devote significantly more resources to intellectual property litigation, and may have
significantly broader patent portfolios to assert against us, if we assert our rights against them. Further, because
of the substantial discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some
of our confidential information could be disclosed or otherwise compromised during litigation.

� We may not be able to accurately estimate or control our future operating expenses in relation to obtaining,
enforcing and/or defending intellectual property, which could lead to cash shortfalls. Our operating expenses
may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting, defending and
enforcing patent claims and other patent related costs, including litigation costs and the results of such
litigation.

� We may also be forced to enter into cross-license agreements with competitors in order to manufacture, use,
sell, import and/or export products or services that are covered by our competitors� intellectual property rights.
If we need to use our intellectual property to enter such cross-license agreements, it may compromise the value
of our intellectual property due to the fact that our competitors may be able to manufacture, use, sell, import
and/or export our patented technology.

For additional information regarding risks related to our intellectual property, see �Risks Related to Intellectual
Property.�

We must demonstrate to physicians the merits of our HF10 therapy compared to those of our competitors.

Physicians play a significant role in determining the course of a patient�s treatment and, as a result, the type of product
that will be used to treat a patient. As a result, our success depends, in large part, on effectively marketing our HF10
therapy to physicians. In order for us to sell Senza, we must successfully demonstrate to physicians the merits of our
HF10 therapy compared to our competitors� SCS systems for use in treating patients with chronic leg and back pain.
Acceptance of our HF10 therapy depends on educating physicians as to the distinctive characteristics, perceived
benefits, safety, ease of use and cost-effectiveness of Senza as compared to our competitors� SCS systems, and
communicating to physicians the proper application of our HF10 therapy. If we are not successful in convincing
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physicians of the merits of our HF10 therapy or educating them on the use of Senza, they may not use Senza and we
may be unable to increase our sales, sustain our growth or achieve profitability.

In addition, we believe support of our products by physicians is essential for market acceptance and adoption. If we do
not receive support from physicians or long-term data does not show the benefits of using our HF10 therapy,
physicians may not use Senza. In such circumstances, our results of operations would be materially adversely affected.
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If we fail to develop and retain an effective direct sales force in the United States, our business could suffer.

In order to commercialize Senza in the United States, we must build a substantial direct sales force. As we initiate our
commercial launch and increase our marketing efforts, we will need to retain, develop and grow the number of direct
sales personnel that we employ. We intend to make a significant investment in recruiting and training sales
representatives and clinical representatives as we ramp up to commercially launch in the United States. There is
significant competition for sales personnel experienced in relevant medical device sales. Once hired, the training
process is lengthy because it requires significant education for new sales representatives to achieve the level of clinical
competency with our products expected by physicians. Upon completion of the training, our sales representatives
typically require lead time in the field to grow their network of accounts and achieve the productivity levels we expect
them to reach in any individual territory. Furthermore, the use of our products often requires or benefits from direct
support from us. If we are unable to attract, motivate, develop and retain a sufficient number of qualified sales
personnel, and if our sales representatives do not achieve the productivity levels we expect them to reach, our revenue
will not grow at the rate we expect and our financial performance will suffer. Also, to the extent we hire personnel
from our competitors, we may have to wait until applicable non-competition provisions have expired before deploying
such personnel in restricted territories or incur costs to relocate personnel outside of such territories, and we have been
in the past, and may be subject to future allegations that these new hires have been improperly solicited, or that they
have divulged to us proprietary or other confidential information of their former employers. Any of these risks may
adversely affect our business.

Our competitors are large, well-established companies with substantially greater resources than us and have a long
history of competing in the SCS market.

Our current and potential competitors are publicly traded, or are divisions of publicly-traded, major medical device
companies that have substantially greater financial, technical, sales and marketing resources than we do. The existing
global SCS market is estimated to be approximately $1.5 billion in 2014, with the United States comprising
approximately 80% of the market. Given the size of the existing and potential market in the United States, we expect
that as we initiate our commercial launch and launch in the United States our competitors will take aggressive action
to protect their current market position. For example, in May 2015, one of our principal competitors, Boston Scientific
Neuromodulation Corporation, filed with the USPTO two petitions for inter partes review challenging the validity of
our U.S. Patent No. 8,359,102. We will face significant competition in establishing our market share in the United
States and may encounter unforeseen obstacles and competitive challenges in the United States.

In addition, we face a particular challenge overcoming the long-standing practices by some physicians of using the
neuromodulation products of our larger, more established competitors. Physicians who have completed many
successful implants using the neuromodulation products made by these competitors may be reluctant to try new
products from a source with which they are less familiar. If these physicians do not try and subsequently adopt our
product, then our revenue growth will slow or decline.

Further, a number of our competitors are currently conducting, or we anticipate will be conducting, clinical trials to
demonstrate the results of their SCS systems. The results of these trials may be equivalent to, or potentially better
than, the results of our pivotal U.S. trial.

If we fail to maintain U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval to market and sell Senza, or if such approval is
impacted in the future, we will be unable to commercially distribute and market Senza in the United States.
Further, we may not be able to obtain required regulatory approvals to expand the indications for which we may
market and sell Senza.
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The FDA requires manufacturers of medical devices to maintain regulatory approval by filing timely reports and
complying with numerous regulations. There can be no assurance that approval will be maintained. For example:

� we may not be able to maintain to the FDA�s satisfaction that our product is safe and effective for its intended
use;
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� we may fail to comply with the requisite guidelines by FDA and other agencies to maintain our PMA approval;
and

� the manufacturing process and facilities we use may not meet applicable requirements to maintain our PMA
approval.

In addition, although the FDA has approved our PMA for Senza, we may suffer from product liability or other issues
that impact our ability to continue to market the Senza system in the United States.

Failing to maintain approval from the FDA could result in unexpected and significant costs for us and consume
management�s time and other resources. The FDA could ask us to improve or augment manufacturing processes,
collect and provide data on the quality or safety of our product, or issue us a warning letter relating to matters that may
result in removal of our product from the market. Additionally, we will be required to obtain FDA approval prior to
making any modification to the device, and the FDA may revoke the approval or impose other restrictions if
post-market data demonstrates safety issues or lack of effectiveness. If we are unable to obtain and maintain the
necessary regulatory approvals, our financial condition may be adversely affected, and our ability to grow
domestically and internationally would likely be limited.

We are currently conducting clinical trials for Senza to explore the potential for HF10 therapy to treat other chronic
pain indications, including pre-spinal surgery patients, chronic intractable neck and upper extremity pain and
refractory chronic migraine. We will likely need to conduct additional clinical studies in the future to support approval
for these new indications. Senza may not be approved for these additional indications.

If we are unable to educate physicians on the safe and effective use of our HF10 therapy and Senza, we may be
unable to achieve our expected growth.

An important part of our sales process includes the education of physicians on the safe and effective use of our HF10
therapy and Senza, particularly because Senza and high frequency neuromodulation treatment is relatively new as
compared to existing low frequency traditional SCS systems. In addition, we will need to spend substantial time
educating physicians using traditional SCS systems on the value of our HF10 therapy as demonstrated by our pivotal
U.S. clinical data. Physicians typically need to perform several procedures to become comfortable using HF10 therapy
and Senza. If a physician experiences difficulties during an initial procedure or otherwise, that physician may be less
likely to continue to use our product or to recommend it to other physicians. It is critical to the success of our
commercialization efforts to educate physicians on the proper use of Senza, and to provide them with adequate
product support during clinical procedures. It is important for our growth that these physicians advocate for the
benefits of our products in the broader marketplace. If physicians misuse or ineffectively use our products, it could
result in unsatisfactory patient outcomes, patient injuries, negative publicity or lawsuits against us, any of which could
have an adverse effect on our business.

If our competitors are better able to develop and market neuromodulation products that are safer, more effective,
less costly, easier to use or otherwise more attractive than Senza, our business will be adversely impacted.

The medical device industry is highly competitive and subject to technological change. Our success depends, in part,
upon our ability to establish a competitive position in the neuromodulation market by securing broad market
acceptance of our HF10 therapy and Senza for the treatment of chronic pain conditions. Any product we develop that
achieves regulatory clearance or approval, including Senza, will have to compete for market acceptance and market
share. We believe that the primary competitive factors in the neuromodulation market are demonstrated clinical
effectiveness, product safety, reliability and durability, ease of use, product support and service, minimal side effects
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and salesforce experience and relationships. We face significant competition in the United States and internationally,
which we believe will intensify as we enter the U.S. market. For example, our major competitors, Medtronic, Inc.,
Boston Scientific Corporation and St. Jude Medical, Inc., each has approved neuromodulation systems in at least the
United States, Europe, and Australia and have been established for several years. In addition, we understand that St.
Jude Medical is working on a U.S. pivotal study for its burst stimulation technology, intended for chronic pain relief
with minimal paresthesia, and that Boston
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Scientific has made public its commencement of recruiting patients for a randomized clinical trial of a high-frequency
SCS therapy. In addition to these major competitors, we may also face competition from other emerging competitors
and smaller companies with active neuromodulation system development programs that may emerge in the future.
Many of the companies developing or marketing competing products enjoy several advantages over us, including:

� more experienced sales forces;

� greater name recognition;

� more established sales and marketing programs and distribution networks;

� earlier regulatory approval;

� long established relationships with physicians and hospitals;

� significant patent portfolios, including issued U.S. and foreign patents and pending patent applications, as well
as the resources to enforce patents against us or any of our third-party suppliers and distributors;

� the ability to acquire and integrate our competitors and/or their technology;

� demonstrated ability to develop product enhancements and new product offerings;

� established history of product reliability, safety and durability;

� the ability to offer rebates or bundle multiple product offerings to offer greater discounts or incentives;

� greater financial and human resources for product development, sales, and marketing; and

� greater experience in and resources for conducting research and development, clinical studies, manufacturing,
preparing regulatory submissions, obtaining regulatory clearance or approval for products and marketing
approved products.

Our competitors may develop and patent processes or products earlier than us, obtain patents that may apply to us at
any time, obtain regulatory clearance or approvals for competing products more rapidly than us or develop more
effective or less expensive products or technologies that render our technology or products obsolete or less
competitive. We also face fierce competition in recruiting and retaining qualified sales, scientific, and management
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personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and enrolling patients in clinical studies. If our competitors are more
successful than us in these matters, our business may be harmed.

We only recently began commercializing Senza in the EEA and Australia, and only just received approval to
market Senza in the United States, and we may never achieve market acceptance.

Senza has been CE marked since 2010, enabling us to commercialize it throughout the EEA, which is comprised of
the 28 Member States of the European Union (EU), plus Norway, Liechtenstein and Iceland. It was also approved by
the Australia Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA), in 2011. In May 2015, the FDA approved our PMA to market
Senza in the United States, and we have not yet commercially launched sales in the United States. As a result, we have
a limited history of commercializing our product generally and no history of selling Senza in the United States. We
also have limited experience engaging in commercial activities and limited established relationships with physicians
and hospitals as well as third-party suppliers on whom we depend for the manufacture of our product. As an
organization, we have never commercially launched a product in the United States, nor commenced a sales
representative training program or conducted a launch of a similar expected size. A commercial launch and training
program of this size is a significant undertaking that requires substantial financial and managerial resources. We may
be unable to gain broader market acceptance in the countries in which we have already begun to commercialize Senza
or successfully commercialize it in the United States for a number of reasons, including:

� established competitors with strong relationships with customers, including physicians, hospitals and
third-party suppliers;
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� limitations in our ability to demonstrate differentiation and advantages of our product compared to competing
products and the relative safety, efficacy and ease of use of our product;

� the limited size of our sales force and the learning curve required to gain experience selling our product;

� the inability to obtain sufficient supply of the components for Senza or secure second-source suppliers if our
main suppliers are unable to fulfill our orders;

� insufficient financial or other resources to support our commercialization efforts necessary to reach
profitability; and

� the introduction and market acceptance of new, more effective or less expensive competing products and
technologies.

Moreover, physicians and hospitals may not perceive the benefits of our products and may be unwilling to change
from the SCS devices they are currently using. Communicating the benefits of Senza and HF10 therapy to these
physicians and hospitals requires a significant commitment by our marketing team and sales organization. Physicians
and hospitals may be slow to change their practices because of perceived risks arising from the use of new products.
Physicians may not recommend or use Senza until there is more long-term commercial experience to convince them to
alter their existing treatment methods, or until they receive additional recommendations from other physicians that our
product is effective. We cannot predict when, if ever, physicians and hospitals may adopt use of our product. If we are
unable to educate physicians and hospitals about the advantages of our HF10 therapy and Senza, do not achieve
significantly greater market acceptance of our product, do not gain momentum in our sales activities, or fail to
significantly grow our market share, we will not be able to grow our revenue and our business and financial condition
will be adversely affected.

Our past results in the international markets in which we commercialize Senza should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future performance in those markets or in the United States

Our revenue has increased from $18.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $23.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013 to $32.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 on the basis of our sales of Senza in
Europe and Australia; however, we do not expect to continue this rate of revenue growth in these international
markets. Due to our current penetration in these markets, we expect to grow less rapidly in the future than we have in
the past in these markets.

In addition, the characteristics of these markets differ significantly from the U.S. market, including as a result of
differences in payor systems, competitive dynamics, market size, and patient treatment regimens. As a result of the
differences in these markets, you should not compare our financial results in the international market to any potential
future results in the U.S. market nor should you rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance.

Our success depends on physicians� use of our HF10 therapy to treat chronic back pain.

Our success is dependent on physicians� acceptance and use of our HF10 therapy to treat chronic back pain. We
believe a significant limitation of current neuromodulation systems is the limited evidence supporting efficacy of
traditional SCS for treating chronic back pain. Senza utilizes high-frequency stimulation technology capable of
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delivering waveform of up to 10,000 Hz for spinal cord stimulation that has been shown to be effective in the
treatment of both leg and back pain. However, we may face challenges convincing physicians, many of whom have
extensive experience with competitors� SCS products and established relationships with other companies, to appreciate
the benefits of HF10 therapy and, in particular, its ability to treat back pain as well as leg pain, and adopt it for
treatment of their patients. If Senza is unable to gain acceptance by physicians for the treatment of back pain, our
potential to expand the existing neuromodulation market will be significantly limited and our revenue potential will be
negatively impacted.
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Traditional SCS has been available for over 40 years, while Senza has only been commercially available since 2010
and, as a result, we have a limited track record compared to our competitors.

Traditional SCS has been commercialized since 1967, while we only began commercializing Senza internationally in
2010. Because we have a limited commercial track record compared to our competitors and Senza has been implanted
in patients for less than five years, physicians may be slower to adopt or recommend Senza. Further, while we believe
our international commercial experience and our European two year study and U.S. pivotal study support the safety
and effectiveness of our HF10 therapy, future studies or patient experience over a longer period of time may indicate
that treatment with our HF10 therapy does not achieve non-inferiority status as compared to treatment with
competitive products or that our HF10 therapy causes unexpected or serious complications or other unforeseen
negative effects. Such results would likely slow the adoption of Senza and significantly reduce our sales, which would
harm our business and adversely affect our results of operations.

Furthermore, if patients with traditional SCS implantations were to experience unexpected or serious complications or
other unforeseen effects, the market for Senza may be adversely affected, even if such effects are not applicable to
Senza.

Our international operations subject us to certain operating risks, which could adversely impact our results of
operations and financial condition.

Sales of Senza outside the United States represented all of our revenue from Senza sales. In 2010, we began selling
Senza in the EEA through distributors and, in August 2011, we began selling Senza in Australia through our own sales
force and distributors. As of March 31, 2015, we sell Senza directly in Austria, Switzerland, United Kingdom,
Sweden, Australia, Belgium, Luxembourg and Germany and through distributors and agents located in the
Netherlands, Spain, Italy, Slovakia, Turkey, Kuwait and Ireland. The sale and shipment of Senza across international
borders, as well as the purchase of components from international sources, subject us to U.S. and foreign
governmental trade, import and export, and customs regulations and laws.

Compliance with these regulations and laws is costly and exposes us to penalties for non-compliance. Other laws and
regulations that can significantly impact us include various anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act, as well as export controls laws. Any failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory obligations
could impact us in a variety of ways that include, but are not limited to, significant criminal, civil and administrative
penalties, including imprisonment of individuals, fines and penalties, denial of export privileges, seizure of shipments,
restrictions on certain business activities and exclusion or debarment from government contracting.

Our international operations expose us and our distributors to risks inherent in operating in foreign jurisdictions. These
risks include:

� difficulties in enforcing our intellectual property rights and in defending against third-party threats and
intellectual property enforcement actions against us, our distributors, or any of our third-party suppliers;

� reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

� pricing pressure that we may experience internationally;
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� foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

� a shortage of high-quality sales people and distributors;

� third-party reimbursement policies that may require some of the patients who receive our products
to directly absorb medical costs or that may necessitate the reduction of the selling prices of Senza;

� competitive disadvantage to competition with established business and customer relationships;

� the imposition of additional U.S. and foreign governmental controls or regulations;

� economic instability;

� changes in duties and tariffs, license obligations and other non-tariff barriers to trade;
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� the imposition of restrictions on the activities of foreign agents, representatives and distributors;

� scrutiny of foreign tax authorities which could result in significant fines, penalties and additional taxes being
imposed on us;

� laws and business practices favoring local companies;

� longer payment cycles;

� difficulties in maintaining consistency with our internal guidelines;

� difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;

� the imposition of costly and lengthy new export licensing requirements;

� the imposition of U.S. or international sanctions against a country, company, person or entity with whom we do
business that would restrict or prohibit continued business with the sanctioned country, company, person or
entity; and

� the imposition of new trade restrictions.
If we experience any of these risks, our sales in non-U.S. jurisdictions may be harmed and our results of operations
would suffer.

We are dependent upon third-party manufacturers and suppliers, in some cases sole- or single-source suppliers,
making us vulnerable to supply shortages and problems and price fluctuations, which could harm our business.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers who manufacture and assemble certain components of Senza.

Our suppliers may encounter problems during manufacturing for a variety of reasons, including, for example, failure
to follow specific protocols and procedures, failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements,
equipment malfunction and environmental factors, failure to properly conduct their own business affairs, and
infringement of third-party intellectual property rights, any of which could delay or impede their ability to meet our
requirements. Our reliance on these third-party suppliers also subjects us to other risks that could harm our business,
including:

� third parties may threaten or enforce their intellectual property rights against our suppliers, which may cause
disruptions or delays in shipment, or may force our suppliers to cease conducting business with us;
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� we may not be able to obtain an adequate supply in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms;

� we are not a major customer of many of our suppliers, and these suppliers may therefore give other customers�
needs higher priority than ours;

� our suppliers, especially new suppliers, may make errors in manufacturing that could negatively affect the
efficacy or safety of Senza, impacting our ability to maintain our PMA approval, or cause delays in shipment,
impacting our ability to meet demand in the U.S. or international markets;

� we may have difficulty locating and qualifying alternative suppliers;

� switching components or suppliers may require product redesign and possibly submission to FDA, EEA
Notified Bodies, or other foreign regulatory bodies, which could significantly impede or delay our commercial
activities;

� one or more of our sole- or single-source suppliers may be unwilling or unable to supply components of Senza;

� other customers may use fair or unfair negotiation tactics and/or pressures to impede our use of the supplier;

� the occurrence of a fire, natural disaster or other catastrophe impacting one or more of our suppliers may affect
their ability to deliver products to us in a timely manner; and
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� our suppliers may encounter financial or other business hardships unrelated to our demand, which could inhibit
their ability to fulfill our orders and meet our requirements.

We may not be able to sufficiently quickly establish additional or alternative suppliers for commercialization in the
United States if necessary, in part because we may need to undertake additional activities to establish such suppliers as
required by the regulatory approval process. Any interruption or delay in obtaining products from our third-party
suppliers, or our inability to obtain products from qualified alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner,
could impair our ability to meet the demand of our customers and cause them to switch to competing products. Given
our reliance on certain single-source suppliers, we are especially susceptible to supply shortages because we do not
have alternate suppliers currently available.

We rely upon third-party, single-source, and in certain cases sole-source, suppliers for many of the components
and materials used in Senza, and for critical manufacturing and packaging services, and the loss of any of these
suppliers could harm our business.

A number of the critical components used in Senza are supplied to us from single-source, or in certain cases
sole-source, suppliers, including our implantable pulse generator (IPGs), leads and lead extenders, neurostimulator
components, telemetry modules, batteries, and packaging services. Our ability to supply Senza commercially depends,
in part, on our ability to obtain a supply of these components that has been manufactured in accordance with
regulatory requirements and in sufficient quantities for commercialization and clinical testing. We have not entered
into manufacturing, supply or quality agreements with all of our single-source and sole-source suppliers, some of
which supply components critical to our products. We are not certain that our single-source or sole-source suppliers
will be able to meet our demand for their products and services, either because of the nature of our agreements with
those suppliers, or our limited experience with those suppliers, or due to our relative importance as a customer to those
suppliers. It may be difficult for us to assess their ability to timely meet our demand in the future based on past
performance. While our suppliers have generally met our demand for their products on a timely basis in the past, they
may subordinate our needs in the future to their other customers.

Establishing additional or replacement suppliers for the components or processes used in Senza, if required, may not
be accomplished quickly. If we are able to find a replacement supplier, such replacement supplier would need to be
qualified and may require additional regulatory authority approval, which could result in further delay. While we seek
to maintain adequate inventory of the single-source or sole-source components and materials used in our products, any
interruption or delay in the supply of components or materials, or our inability to obtain components or materials from
alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner, could impair our ability to meet the demand of our
customers and cause them to cancel orders.

If our third-party suppliers fail to deliver the required commercial quantities of materials, or the level of services we
require, on a timely basis and at commercially reasonable prices, and we are unable to find one or more replacement
suppliers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost in substantially equivalent volumes and quality and
on a timely basis, the continued commercialization of Senza would be impeded, delayed, limited or prevented, which
could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

We may not be able to establish or strengthen our brand.

We believe that establishing and strengthening the Nevro and Senza brands is critical to achieving widespread
acceptance of HF10 therapy, particularly because of the highly competitive nature of the market for SCS products.
Promoting and positioning our brand will depend largely on the success of our marketing efforts and our ability to
provide physicians with a reliable product for successful treatment of chronic leg and back pain. Given the established
nature of our competitors, and our lack of commercialization in the United States, it is likely that our future marketing
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efforts will require us to incur significant additional expenses. These brand promotion activities may not yield
increased sales and, even if they do, any sales increases may not offset the expenses we incur to promote our brand. If
we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or if we incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt
to promote and maintain our brand, our HF10 therapy may not be accepted by physicians, which would adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our ability to achieve profitability will depend, in part, on our ability to reduce the per unit manufacturing cost of
Senza.

Currently, the gross profit generated from the sale of Senza is not sufficient to cover our operating expenses. To
achieve our operating and strategic goals, we need to, among other things, reduce the per unit manufacturing cost of
Senza. This cannot be achieved without increasing the volume of components that we purchase in order to take
advantage of volume based pricing discounts, improve manufacturing efficiency or increase our volume to leverage
manufacturing overhead costs. If we are unable to improve manufacturing efficiency and reduce manufacturing
overhead costs per unit, our ability to achieve profitability will be severely constrained. Any increase in
manufacturing volumes is dependent upon a corresponding increase in sales. The occurrence of one or more factors
that negatively impact the manufacturing or sales of Senza or reduce our manufacturing efficiency may prevent us
from achieving our desired reduction in manufacturing costs, which would negatively affect our operating results and
may prevent us from attaining profitability.

If third-party payors do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement for the use of Senza, our revenue will be
negatively impacted.

Our success in marketing Senza depends and will depend in large part on whether U.S. and international government
health administrative authorities, private health insurers and other organizations adequately cover and reimburse
customers for the cost of our products.

In the United States, we expect to derive nearly all our sales from sales of Senza to hospitals and outpatient surgery
centers who typically bill various third-party payors, including Medicare, Medicaid, private commercial insurance
companies, health maintenance organizations and other healthcare-related organizations, to cover all or a portion of
the costs and fees associated with Senza and bill patients for any applicable deductibles or co-payments. Access to
adequate coverage and reimbursement for SCS procedures using Senza (and our other products in development) by
third-party payors is essential to the acceptance of our products by our customers.

Because there is generally no separate reimbursement for medical devices and other supplies used in such procedures,
including Senza and our HF10 therapy, and because we believe that SCS procedures using Senza, if approved, would
be adequately described by existing CPT, HCPCS II and ICD-9-CM codes for the implantation of spinal cord
stimulators and related leads performed in various sites of care, some of our target customers may be unwilling to
adopt Senza over more established or lower cost therapeutic alternatives already available or subsequently become
available. Further, any decline in the amount payors are willing to reimburse our customers for SCS procedures using
Senza could make it difficult for new customers to adopt Senza and could create additional pricing pressure for us,
which could adversely affect our ability to invest in and grow our business.

Third-party payors, whether foreign or domestic, or governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly
sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs. In addition, in the United States, no uniform policy of coverage
and reimbursement for medical device products and services exists among third-party payors. Therefore, coverage and
reimbursement for medical device products and services can differ significantly from payor to payor. In addition,
payors continually review new technologies for possible coverage and can, without notice, deny coverage for these
new products and procedures. As a result, the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly
process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each payor
separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained, or maintained if obtained.

Reimbursement systems in international markets vary significantly by country and by region within some countries,
and reimbursement approvals must be obtained on a country-by-country basis. In many international markets, a
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product must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that country. Further, many
international markets have government-managed healthcare systems that control reimbursement for new devices and
procedures. For example, the governmental healthcare system in France has not yet approved reimbursement of Senza.
In most markets there are private insurance systems as well as government-managed systems. If sufficient coverage
and reimbursement is not available for our current or future products, in either the United States or internationally, the
demand for our products and our revenues will be adversely affected.
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If we fail to properly manage our anticipated growth, our business could suffer.

We have been growing rapidly in recent periods and have a relatively short history of operating as a commercial
company. In May 2015, the FDA approved our PMA to market Senza in the United States, and we have not yet
commercially launched the product in the United States. As an organization, we have never commercially launched a
product in the United States, nor commenced a sales representative training program or conducted a launch of a
similar expected size. A commercial launch and training program of this size is a significant undertaking that requires
substantial financial and managerial resources. We intend to continue to grow and may experience periods of rapid
growth and expansion, which could place a significant additional strain on our limited personnel, information
technology systems and other resources. In particular, the hiring of our direct sales force in the United States requires
significant management, financial and other supporting resources. Any failure by us to manage our growth effectively
could have an adverse effect on our ability to achieve our development and commercialization goals.

To achieve our revenue goals, we must successfully increase manufacturing output to meet expected customer
demand. In the future, we may experience difficulties with manufacturing yields, quality control, component supply
and shortages of qualified personnel, among other problems. These problems could result in delays in product
availability and increases in expenses. Any such delay or increased expense could adversely affect our ability to
generate our revenue.

Future growth will also impose significant added responsibilities on management, including the need to identify,
recruit, train and integrate additional employees. In addition, rapid and significant growth will place a strain on our
administrative and operational infrastructure.

In order to manage our operations and growth we will need to continue to improve our operational and management
controls, reporting and information technology systems and financial internal control procedures. If we are unable to
manage our growth effectively, it may be difficult for us to execute our business strategy and our operating results and
business could suffer.

If we fail to receive access to hospital facilities, our sales may decrease.

In the United States, in order for physicians to use Senza, we expect that the hospital facilities where these physicians
treat patients will typically require us to enter into purchasing contracts. This process can be lengthy and
time-consuming and require extensive negotiations and management time. In the EU, from time to time certain
institutions require us to engage in a contract bidding process in the event that such institutions are considering
making purchase commitments that exceed specified cost thresholds, which vary by jurisdiction. These processes are
only open at certain periods of time, and we may not be successful in the bidding process. If we do not receive access
to hospital facilities via these contracting processes or otherwise, or if we are unable to secure contracts or tender
successful bids, our sales may decrease and our operating results may be harmed. Furthermore, we may expend
significant effort in these time-consuming processes and still may not obtain a purchase contract from such hospitals.

We rely in part on a small group of third-party distributors to effectively distribute our products outside the United
States.

We depend in part on medical device distributors for the marketing and selling of our products in certain territories in
Europe and Australia. We depend on these distributors� efforts to market our products, yet we are unable to control
their efforts completely. These distributors typically sell a variety of other, non-competing products that may limit the
resources they dedicate to selling Senza. In addition, we are unable to ensure that our distributors comply with all
applicable laws regarding the sale of our products. If our distributors fail to effectively market and sell Senza, in full
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compliance with applicable laws, our operating results and business may suffer. Recruiting and retaining qualified
third-party distributors and training them in our technology and product offering requires significant time and
resources. To develop and expand our distribution, we must continue to scale and improve our processes and
procedures that support our distributors. Further, if our relationship with a successful distributor terminates, we may
be unable to replace that distributor without

21

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 47



Table of Contents

disruption to our business. If we fail to maintain positive relationships with our distributors, fail to develop new
relationships with other distributors, including in new markets, fail to manage, train or incentivize existing distributors
effectively, or fail to provide distributors with competitive products on attractive terms, or if these distributors are not
successful in their sales efforts, our revenue may decrease and our operating results, reputation and business may be
harmed.

We may face product liability claims that could result in costly litigation and significant liabilities.

Manufacturing and marketing of Senza, and clinical testing of our HF10 therapy, may expose us to product liability
and other tort claims. Although we have, and intend to maintain, liability insurance, the coverage limits of our
insurance policies may not be adequate and one or more successful claims brought against us may have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of operations. For example, the U.S. Supreme Court recently declined to
hear an appeal where the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit ruled that the 1976 Medical Device Amendments
to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act did not preempt state laws in a product liability case involving a medical
device company. If other courts in the United States adopt similar rulings, we may be subject to increased litigation
risk in connection with our products. Product liability claims could negatively affect our reputation, continued product
sales, and our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval for our products.

If clinical studies for future indications do not produce results necessary to support regulatory clearance or
approval in the United States or elsewhere, we will be unable to commercialize our products for these indications.

We are currently conducting clinical trials for Senza to explore the potential for HF10 therapy to treat other chronic
pain indications, including pre-spinal surgery patients, chronic intractable neck and upper extremity pain and
refractory chronic migraine. We will likely need to conduct additional clinical studies in the future to support approval
for these new indications. Clinical testing takes many years, is expensive and carries uncertain outcomes. The
initiation and completion of any of these studies may be prevented, delayed, or halted for numerous reasons,
including, but not limited to, the following:

� the FDA, institutional review boards (IRBs), Ethics Committees, EU Competent Authorities or other regulatory
authorities do not approve a clinical study protocol, force us to modify a previously approved protocol, or place
a clinical study on hold;

� patients do not enroll in, or enroll at a lower rate than we expect, or do not complete a clinical study;

� patients or investigators do not comply with study protocols;

� patients do not return for post-treatment follow-up at the expected rate;

� patients experience serious or unexpected adverse side effects for a variety of reasons that may or may not be
related to our products such as the advanced stage of co-morbidities that may exist at the time of treatment,
causing a clinical study to be put on hold;
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� sites participating in an ongoing clinical study withdraw, requiring us to engage new sites;

� difficulties or delays associated with establishing additional clinical sites;

� third-party clinical investigators decline to participate in our clinical studies, do not perform the clinical studies
on the anticipated schedule, or perform in a manner inconsistent with the investigator agreement, clinical study
protocol, good clinical practices, other FDA, IRB or Ethics Committee requirements, and EEA Member State
or other foreign regulations governing clinical trials;

� third-party organizations do not perform data collection and analysis in a timely or accurate manner;

� regulatory inspections of our clinical studies or manufacturing facilities require us to undertake corrective
action or suspend or terminate our clinical studies;
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� changes in federal, state, or foreign governmental statutes, regulations or policies;

� interim results are inconclusive or unfavorable as to immediate and long-term safety or efficacy;

� the study design is inadequate to demonstrate safety and efficacy; or

� the statistical endpoints are not met.
Clinical failure can occur at any stage of the testing. Our clinical studies may produce negative or inconclusive results,
and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical or non-clinical studies in addition to
those we have planned. Our failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of any of our devices would
prevent receipt of regulatory clearance or approval and, ultimately, the commercialization of that device or indication
for use.

We could also encounter delays if the FDA concludes that our financial relationships with investigators results in a
perceived or actual conflict of interest that may have affected the interpretation of a study, the integrity of the data
generated at the applicable clinical trial site or the utility of the clinical trial itself. Principal investigators for our
clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive cash compensation
and/or stock options in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation to or
ownership interest by the clinical investigator carrying out the study result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest,
or if the FDA concludes that the financial relationship may have affected interpretation of the study, the integrity of
the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be
jeopardized, which could result in the FDA refusing to accept the data as support for our future applications. Any such
delay or rejection could prevent us from commercializing any of our products currently in development.

Even if our products are approved in the United States, Australia and the EEA, comparable regulatory authorities of
additional foreign countries must also approve the manufacturing and marketing of our products in those countries.
Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods
different from, and greater than, those in the United States, Australia or the EEA, including additional preclinical
studies or clinical trials. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects
significantly.

If we fail to retain our key executives or recruit and hire new employees, our operations and financial results may
be adversely effected while we attract other highly qualified personnel.

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to retain our executive officers and other key employees
and recruit and hire new employees. All of our executive officers and other employees are at-will employees, and
therefore may terminate employment with us at any time with no advance notice. The replacement of any of our key
personnel likely would involve significant time and costs, may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our
business objectives and may harm our business.

In addition, many of our employees have become or will soon become vested in a substantial amount of stock or
number of stock options. Our employees may be more likely to leave us if the shares they own or the shares
underlying their vested options have significantly appreciated in value relative to the original purchase prices of the
shares or the exercise prices of the options, or if the exercise prices of the options that they hold are significantly
below the market price of our common stock. Further, our employees� ability to exercise those options and sell their
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stock in a public market may result in a higher than normal turnover rate.

Our future success also depends on our ability to retain executive officers and other key employees and attract new
key employees. Many executive officers and employees in the neuromodulation and medical device industry are
subject to strict non-compete or confidentiality agreements with their employers, including our main competitors
Medtronic, Inc., Boston Scientific Corp., and St. Jude Medical, Inc. In addition, some of our existing and future
employees are or may be subject to confidentiality agreements with previous employers. Our competitors may allege
breaches of and seek to enforce such non-compete agreements or initiate litigation based on such confidentiality
agreements. Such litigation, whether or not meritorious, may impede our ability to attract
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or use executive officers and other key employees who have been employed by our competitors and may result in
intellectual property claims against us. Boston Scientific Corp., for example, has initiated a lawsuit against one of our
employees alleging that the employee cannot work for us without inevitably disclosing Boston Scientific�s proprietary
information. Although we are not a party to this lawsuit, it has impeded our ability to utilize this employee. It is likely
that we will experience similar aggressive tactics by our competitors as they seek to protect their market position,
particularly as we prepare to enter the U.S. market.

Our credit facility contains restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

In October 2014, we entered into a term loan agreement with Capital Royalty Partners and certain of its affiliates,
which we refer to as our credit facility. Subject to certain conditions, we have access to borrow up to $50.0 million
principal amount of senior secured term loan financing in up to three draws on or before September 30, 2015 under
the credit facility. In December 2014, we drew down $20.0 million under this facility. Our credit facility also contains
various covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified types of transactions. Subject to limited exceptions,
these covenants limit our ability to, among other things:

� sell, lease, transfer, exclusively license or dispose of our assets;

� create, incur, assume or permit to exist additional indebtedness or liens;

� make restricted payments, including paying dividends on, repurchasing or making distributions with respect to
our capital stock;

� make specified investments (including loans and advances);

� merge, consolidate or liquidate; and

� enter into certain transactions with our affiliates.
In addition, our credit facility contains certain financial covenants, including certain minimum pre-specified liquidity
and revenue requirements. In particular, we are required to maintain a minimum of $5.0 million of cash and certain
cash equivalents, and we must achieve minimum revenue of $25.0 million in 2015, $30.0 million in 2016, $40.0
million in 2017, $50.0 million in 2018 and $70.0 million in 2019. The covenants in our credit facility may limit our
ability to take certain actions and, in the event that we breach one or more covenants, our lenders may choose to
declare an event of default and require that we immediately repay all amounts outstanding, terminate the commitment
to extend further credit and foreclose on the collateral granted to it to collateralize such indebtedness, which includes
our intellectual property. In addition, if we fail to meet the required covenants, we will not have access to the
additional tranches under the credit facility.

Failure to protect our information technology infrastructure against cyber-based attacks, network security
breaches, service interruptions, or data corruption could significantly disrupt our operations and adversely affect
our business and operating results.
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We rely on information technology and telephone networks and systems, including the Internet, to process and
transmit sensitive electronic information and to manage or support a variety of business processes and activities,
including sales, billing, marketing, procurement and supply chain, manufacturing, and distribution. We use enterprise
information technology systems to record, process, and summarize financial information and results of operations for
internal reporting purposes and to comply with regulatory, financial reporting, legal, and tax requirements. Our
information technology systems, some of which are managed by third-parties, may be susceptible to damage,
disruptions, or shutdowns due to computer viruses, attacks by computer hackers, failures during the process of
upgrading or replacing software, databases or components thereof, power outages, hardware failures,
telecommunication failures, user errors, or catastrophic events. Despite the precautionary measures we have taken to
prevent breakdowns in our information technology and telephone systems, if our systems suffer severe damage,
disruption, or shutdown and we are unable to effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, our business and
operating results may suffer.
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property

We may in the future become involved in lawsuits to defend ourselves against intellectual property disputes, which
could be expensive and time consuming, and ultimately unsuccessful, and could result in the diversion of
significant resources, and hinder our ability to commercialize our existing or future products.

Our success depends in part on not infringing the patents or violating the other proprietary rights of others. Intellectual
property disputes can be costly to defend and may cause our business, operating results and financial condition to
suffer. Significant litigation regarding patent rights occurs in the medical industry. Whether merited or not, it is
possible that U.S. and foreign patents and pending patent applications controlled by third parties may be alleged to
cover our products. We may also face allegations that our employees have misappropriated the intellectual property
rights of their former employers or other third parties. Our competitors in both the United States and abroad, many of
which have substantially greater resources and have made substantial investments in patent portfolios and competing
technologies, may have applied for or obtained or may in the future apply for and obtain, patents that will prevent,
limit, or otherwise interfere with our ability to make, use, sell, and/or export our products. For example, our major
competitors, Medtronic, Inc., Boston Scientific Corporation, and St. Jude Medical, Inc., each have significant patent
portfolios covering systems, sub-systems, methods, and manufacturing processes. These competitors may have one or
more patents for which they can threaten and/or initiate patent infringement actions against us and/or any of our
third-party suppliers. Our ability to defend ourselves and/or our third-party suppliers may be limited by our financial
and human resources, the availability of reasonable defenses, and the ultimate acceptance of our defenses by the
courts or juries. Further, if such patents are successfully asserted against us, this may result in an adverse impact on
our business, including injunctions, damages, and/or attorneys� fees. From time to time and in the ordinary course of
business, we may develop noninfringement and/or invalidity positions with respect to third-party patents, which may
or not be ultimately adjudicated as successful by a judge or jury if such patents were asserted against us.

We may receive in the future, particularly as a public company, communications from patent holders, including
non-practicing entities, alleging infringement of patents or other intellectual property rights or misappropriation of
trade secrets, or offering licenses to such intellectual property. Any claims that we assert against perceived infringers
could also provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their intellectual property
rights. At any given time, we may be involved as either a plaintiff or a defendant in a number of patent infringement
actions, the outcomes of which may not be known for prolonged periods of time. We may also become involved in
disputes with others regarding the ownership of intellectual property rights. For example, we jointly develop
intellectual property with certain parties, and disagreements may therefore arise as to the ownership of the intellectual
property developed pursuant to these relationships. If we are unable to resolve these disputes, we could lose valuable
intellectual property rights.

The large number of patents, the rapid rate of new patent applications and issuances, the complexities of the
technologies involved and the uncertainty of litigation significantly increase the risks related to any patent litigation.
Any potential intellectual property litigation also could force us to do one or more of the following:

� stop selling, making, using, or exporting products that use the disputed intellectual property;

� obtain a license from the intellectual property owner to continue selling, making, exporting, or using products,
which license may require substantial royalty payments and may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all;
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� incur significant legal expenses;

� pay substantial damages or royalties to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be
infringing, potentially including treble damages if the court finds that the infringement was willful;

� if a license is available from a third-party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, upfront fees or grant
cross-licenses to intellectual property rights for our products and services;

� pay the attorney fees and costs of litigation to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to
be infringing;
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� find non-infringing substitute products, which could be costly and create significant delay due to the need for
FDA regulatory clearance;

� find alternative supplies for infringing products or processes, which could be costly and create significant delay
due to the need for FDA regulatory clearance; and/or

� redesign those products or processes that infringe any third-party intellectual property, which could be costly,
disruptive, and/or infeasible.

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business with respect
to intellectual property. Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual
property claims may cause us to incur significant expenses, and could distract our technical and management
personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of
hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these
results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Finally, any
uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our operations.

If any of the foregoing occurs, we may have to withdraw existing products from the market or may be unable to
commercialize one or more of our products, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and financial condition. Any litigation or claim against us, even those without merit, may cause us to
incur substantial costs, and could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of
management from our core business and harm our reputation. Further, as the number of participants in the
neuromodulation industry grows, the possibility of intellectual property infringement claims against us increases.

In addition, we may indemnify our customers, suppliers and international distributors against claims relating to the
infringement of the intellectual property rights of third parties relating to our products, methods, and/or manufacturing
processes. Third parties may assert infringement claims against our customers, suppliers, or distributors. These claims
may require us to initiate or defend protracted and costly litigation on behalf of our customers, suppliers or
distributors, regardless of the merits of these claims. If any of these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay damages
on behalf of our customers, suppliers, or distributors or may be required to obtain licenses for the products they use. If
we cannot obtain all necessary licenses on commercially reasonable terms, our customers may be forced to stop using
our products, or our suppliers may be forced to stop providing us with products.

Similarly, interference or derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by the USPTO or any foreign
patent authority may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions or other matters of inventorship with respect
to our patents or patent applications. An unfavorable outcome in these or any other such proceedings could require us
to cease using the related technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could
be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms, if any license is
offered at all.

We may also become involved in other proceedings, such as re-examination or opposition proceedings, before the
USPTO or its foreign counterparts relating to our intellectual property or the intellectual property rights of others.
Two of our competitors, Boston Scientific Corporation, and Medtronic, Inc., have filed oppositions in the European
Union with respect to certain of our patents. In addition, on May 11, 2015, we learned that Boston Scientific
Neuromodulation Corporation intended to file with the USPTO two petitions for inter partes review challenging the
validity of our U.S. Patent No. 8,359,102. These petitions were subsequently filed on May 14, 2015. We do not
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anticipate that we will have a final result in the USPTO for at least 12 to 18 months. However, defending our position
in these proceedings will require management�s time and attention, as well as financial costs. An unfavorable outcome
in this inter partes review could cause us to lose certain valuable intellectual property rights. Given the competitive
environment in which we operate, we expect additional challenges to our intellectual property portfolio as we
commence commercialization of Senza in the U.S. An unfavorable outcome in these or any other such proceedings
could cause us to lose valuable intellectual property rights and/or be unable to enforce our intellectual property rights.
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Changes in patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our
existing and future products.

Recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents. On September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America
Invents Act (the Leahy-Smith Act), was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant
changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine
prior art, may affect patent litigation, and switched the United States patent system from a �first-to-invent� system to a
�first-to-file� system. Under a �first-to-file� system, assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first
inventor to file a patent application generally will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether
another inventor had made the invention earlier. The USPTO recently developed new regulations and procedures to
govern administration of the Leahy- Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the
Leahy-Smith Act, in particular, the first-to-file provisions, only became effective on March 16, 2013. Accordingly, it
is not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. The Leahy-Smith Act
and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business and financial condition.

In addition, patent reform legislation may pass in the future that could lead to additional uncertainties and increased
costs surrounding the prosecution, enforcement and defense of our patents and applications. Furthermore, the U.S.
Supreme Court and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit have made, and will likely continue to make,
changes in how the patent laws of the United States are interpreted. Similarly, foreign courts have made, and will
likely continue to make, changes in how the patent laws in their respective jurisdictions are interpreted. We cannot
predict future changes in the interpretation of patent laws or changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law by
United States and foreign legislative bodies. Those changes may materially affect our patents or patent applications
and our ability to obtain additional patent protection in the future.

Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document
submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent
protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment, and other similar provisions during the patent application process. In addition, periodic
maintenance fees on issued patents often must be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies over the lifetime of
the patent. While an unintentional lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in
accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse
of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction.
Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not
limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to
properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our
products or procedures, we may not be able to stop a competitor from marketing products that are the same as or
similar to our own, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our products in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively
expensive. The requirements for patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly developing countries, and
the breadth of patent claims allowed can be inconsistent. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries may not
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able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States. Competitors may
use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent

27

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 59



Table of Contents

protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories in which
we have patent protection that may not be sufficient to terminate infringing activities.

We do not have patent rights in certain foreign countries in which a market may exist. Moreover, in foreign
jurisdictions where we do have patent rights, proceedings to enforce such rights could result in substantial costs and
divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly, and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Additionally, such proceedings could provoke
third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other
remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Thus, we may not be able to stop a competitor from
marketing and selling in foreign countries products that are the same as or similar to our products, and our competitive
position in the international market would be harmed.

If we fail to comply with our obligations under our existing intellectual property license with the Mayo Foundation
or under future license agreements, we could lose license rights that are important to our business.

We are currently a party to a license agreement (the Mayo License), with the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education
and Research (the Mayo Foundation). Our Mayo License imposes, and we expect that future license agreements will
impose, various diligence, royalty, insurance and other obligations on us. For example, the Mayo License requires that
we continue to use commercially reasonable efforts to commercialize products incorporating the technology we
license and to satisfy other specified obligations, including the payment of royalties on the sales of such products. If
we fail to comply with our obligations under the Mayo License or future license agreements, the counterparty to the
license may have the right to terminate such license. We do not believe a termination of the Mayo License would have
an adverse impact on our ability to commercialize Senza due, in part, to our proprietary patent rights; however, if the
Mayo Foundation terminates the license, we may be subject to disputes with them that could be costly and
time-consuming. Further, if any future licenses we enter into are terminated, we may need to negotiate new or
reinstated licenses with less favorable terms, and we could lose access to critical technology related to our existing or
future products.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed
alleged trade secrets of our competitors or are in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with
our competitors.

We could in the future be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of former employers or competitors. In addition, six of
our nine executive officers and key employees, including our Chief Executive Officer, have worked for our major
competitors (or companies acquired by these competitors), which include Boston Scientific Corporation, Medtronic,
Inc. and St. Jude Medical, Inc. Although we have procedures in place that seek to prevent our employees and
consultants from using the intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of others in their
work for us, we may in the future be subject to claims that we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her
non-competition or non-solicitation agreement, or that we or these individuals have, inadvertently or otherwise, used
or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of a former employer or competitor. Litigation
may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims,
litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. If our defense to those claims
fails, in addition to paying monetary damages, a court could prohibit us from using technologies or features that are
essential to our products, if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade secrets
or other proprietary information of the former employers. An inability to incorporate technologies or features that are
important or essential to our products would have a material adverse effect on our business, and may prevent us from
selling our products or from practicing our processes. In addition, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or
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personnel. Moreover, any such litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our ability to hire employees or
contract with independent sales representatives. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or
prevent our ability to commercialize our products, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
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If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name
recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected.

Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared
generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights in these trademarks
and trade names, which we need in order to build name recognition with potential partners or customers in our
markets of interest. In addition, third parties have registered trademarks similar and identical to our trademarks in
foreign jurisdictions, and may in the future file for registration of such trademarks. If they succeed in registering or
developing common law rights in such trademarks, and if we were not successful in challenging such third-party
rights, we may not be able to use these trademarks to market our products in those countries. In any case, if we are
unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete
effectively and our business may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position may be
harmed.

In addition to patent and trademark protection, we also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how,
technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect our trade
secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them,
such as our consultants and vendors, or our former or current employees. We also enter into confidentiality and
invention or patent assignment agreements with our employees and consultants. Despite these efforts, however, any of
these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our trade secrets and other unpatented or unregistered
proprietary information, and once disclosed, we are likely to lose trade secret protection. Monitoring unauthorized
uses and disclosures of our intellectual property is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to
protect our intellectual property will be effective. In addition, we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for any
such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult,
expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the
United States are less willing or unwilling to enforce trade secret protection.

Further, our competitors may independently develop knowledge, methods and know-how similar, equivalent, or
superior to our proprietary technology. Competitors could purchase our products and attempt to replicate some or all
of the competitive advantages we derive from our development efforts, willfully infringe our intellectual property
rights, design around our protected technology, or develop their own competitive technologies that fall outside of our
intellectual property rights. In addition, our key employees, consultants, suppliers or other individuals with access to
our proprietary technology and know-how may incorporate that technology and know-how into projects and
inventions developed independently or with third parties. As a result, disputes may arise regarding the ownership of
the proprietary rights to such technology or know-how, and any such dispute may not be resolved in our favor. If any
of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right
to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or information to compete with us
and our competitive position could be adversely affected. If our intellectual property is not adequately protected so as
to protect our market against competitors� products and methods, our competitive position could be adversely affected,
as could our business.

Risks Related to our Financial and Operating Results

We will be required to obtain additional funds in the future, and these funds may not be available on acceptable
terms or at all.
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Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception, and we anticipate our expenses will
increase as we build a commercial sales force in the United States, investigate the use of our HF10 therapy for the
treatment of other chronic pain conditions, continue to grow our business and transition to operating as a public
company. In particular, we believe that we will continue to expend substantial resources for the

29

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 63



Table of Contents

foreseeable future on the commercialization of Senza in the United States, including sales and marketing efforts and
sales representative training, seeking additional foreign regulatory approvals, the preparation and submission of
regulatory filings and the clinical development of any other product candidates we may choose to pursue. These
expenditures will include costs associated with manufacturing and supply as well as marketing and selling Senza in
the United States and elsewhere, as well as any other future products approved for sale, research and development,
conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approvals.

We believe that our growth will depend, in part, on our ability to fund our commercialization efforts, particularly in
the United States, and our efforts to develop Senza and our HF10 therapy for the treatment of chronic pain and
technology complementary to our current products. Our existing resources may not allow us to conduct all of the
activities that we believe would be beneficial for our future growth. As a result, we may need to seek funds in the
future. If we are unable to raise funds on favorable terms, or at all, we may not be able to support our
commercialization efforts or increase our research and development activities and the growth of our business may be
negatively impacted. As a result, we may be unable to compete effectively. For the year ended December 31, 2014,
our net cash used in operating activities was $31.1 million as compared to $21.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. For the three months ended March 31, 2015, our net cash used in operating activities was $16.8
million and, as of March 31, 2015, our working capital was $174.4 million. Our cash requirements in the future may
be significantly different from our current estimates and depend on many factors, including:

� the costs of commercialization activities related to commercializing Senza in the United States and elsewhere,
including product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution;

� the scope and timing of our investment in our U.S. commercial infrastructure and sales force in connection
with commercialization of Senza in the United States;

� the R&D activities we intend to undertake in order to expand the chronic pain indications and product
enhancements that we intend to pursue;

� the degree and rate of market acceptance of Senza in the United States and elsewhere;

� changes or fluctuations in our inventory supply needs and forecasts of our supply needs;

� the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property
rights;

� the amount and timing of any draws we make under our credit facility;

� our need to implement additional infrastructure and internal systems;
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� our ability to hire additional personnel to support our operations as a public company; and

� the emergence of competing technologies or other adverse market developments.
To finance these activities, we may seek funds through borrowings or through additional rounds of financing,
including private or public equity or debt offerings and collaborative arrangements with corporate partners. We may
be unable to raise funds on favorable terms, or at all.

The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in additional dilution to our stockholders. If we
borrow additional funds or issue debt securities, these securities could have rights superior to holders of our common
stock and could contain covenants that will restrict our operations. We might have to obtain funds through
arrangements with collaborative partners or others that may require us to relinquish rights to our technologies, product
candidates, or products that we otherwise would not relinquish. If we do not obtain additional resources, our ability to
capitalize on business opportunities will be limited, we may be unable to compete effectively and the growth of our
business will be harmed.
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Our operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter, which may negatively impact our stock price
in the future.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operations may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to, among others, the
following reasons:

� physician and payor acceptance of Senza and our HF10 therapy;

� the timing, expense and results of our commercialization efforts in the United States and elsewhere, research
and development activities, clinical trials and regulatory approvals;

� fluctuations in our expenses associated with increasing our inventory, expanding our commercial operations
and operating as a public company;

� the introduction of new products and technologies by our competitors;

� the productivity of our sales representatives;

� supplier, manufacturing or quality problems with our products;

� the timing of stocking orders from our distributors;

� changes in our pricing policies or in the pricing policies of our competitors or suppliers; and

� changes in coverage amounts or government and third-party payors� reimbursement policies.
Because of these and other factors, it is likely that in some future period our operating results will not meet investor
expectations or those of public market analysts.

Any unanticipated change in revenues or operating results is likely to cause our stock price to fluctuate. New
information may cause investors and analysts to revalue our business, which could cause a decline in our stock price.

We are required to maintain high levels of inventory, which could consume a significant amount of our resources,
reduce our cash flows and lead to inventory impairment charges.

As a result of the need to maintain substantial levels of inventory, we are subject to the risk of inventory obsolescence
and expiration, which may lead to inventory impairment charges. Our products consist of a substantial number of
individual components. In order to market and sell Senza effectively, we often must maintain high levels of inventory.
In particular, as we prepare for our commercial launch of Senza in the U.S., we intend to substantially increase our
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levels of inventory in order to meet our estimated demand and, as a result, incur significant expenditures associated
with such increases in our inventory. The manufacturing process requires lengthy lead times, during which
components of our products may become obsolete, and we may over- or under-estimate the amount needed of a given
component, in which case we may expend extra resources or be constrained in the amount of end product that we can
produce. As compared to direct manufacturers, our dependence on third-party manufacturers exposes us to greater
lead times increasing our risk of inventory obsolesce comparatively. Furthermore, our products have a limited shelf
life due to sterilization requirements, and part or all of a given product or component may expire and its value would
become impaired and we would be required to record an impairment charge. For example, during the year ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we recorded charges of $0.8 million and $1.0 million, respectively, and for the three
months ended March 31, 2015 we recorded charges of $0.3 million, for the write down of excess and obsolete
inventory. If our estimates of required inventory are too high, we may be exposed to further inventory obsolesce risk.
In the event that a substantial portion of our inventory becomes obsolete or expires, or in the event we experience a
supply chain imbalance as described above, it could have a material adverse effect on our earnings and cash flows due
to the resulting costs associated with the inventory impairment charges and costs required to replace such inventory.
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The seasonality of our business creates variance in our quarterly revenue, which makes it difficult to compare or
forecast our financial results.

Our revenue fluctuates on a seasonal basis, which affects the comparability of our results between periods. For
example, in certain years we have historically experienced lower sales in the summer months and around the holidays,
primarily due to the buying patterns and implant volumes of our distributors, hospitals and clinics. These seasonal
variations are difficult to predict accurately, may vary amongst different markets, and at times may be entirely
unpredictable, which introduce additional risk into our business as we rely upon forecasts of customer demand to
build inventory in advance of anticipated sales. In addition, we believe our limited history commercializing our
products has, in part, made our seasonal patterns more difficult to discern, making it more difficult to predict future
seasonal patterns.

We are subject to risks associated with currency fluctuations, and changes in foreign currency exchange rates
could impact our results of operations.

All of our current business is located outside the United States and, as a result, we generate revenue and incur
expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, a majority of which is denominated in Euros and
Australian Dollars. In 2014 and 2013, nearly all of our total revenue was denominated in foreign currencies. As a
result, changes in the exchange rates between such foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar could materially impact our
reported results of operations and distort period to period comparisons. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates also impact the reporting of our receivables and payables in non-U.S. currencies. As a result of such foreign
currency fluctuations, it could be more difficult to detect underlying trends in our business and results of operations.
In addition, to the extent that fluctuations in currency exchange rates cause our results of operations to differ from our
expectations or the expectations of our investors, the trading price of our common stock could be adversely affected.

In the future, we may engage in exchange rate hedging activities in an effort to mitigate the impact of exchange rate
fluctuations. If our hedging activities are not effective, changes in currency exchange rates may have a more
significant impact on our results of operations.

Our ability to use our net operating losses and tax credits to offset future taxable income and taxes may be subject
to certain limitations.

In general, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, a corporation that undergoes an
�ownership change� is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating loss (NOL)
carryforwards and other tax attributes, such as research and development tax credits to offset future taxable income
and taxes. We may in the future experience one or more Section 382 �ownership changes.� If so, or if we do not
generate sufficient taxable income, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOLs and tax credits, even
if we achieve profitability. If we are limited in our ability to use our NOLs and tax credits in future years in which we
have taxable income, we will pay more taxes than if we were able to fully utilize our NOLs and tax credits. This could
materially and adversely affect our results of operations. As of December 31, 2014, we had federal and state NOLs of
$108.2 million and $31.7 million, respectively, available to offset future taxable income due to prior period losses,
which if not utilized will begin to expire in 2026 and 2016 for federal and state purposes, respectively.

Risks Related to Regulation of our Industry

Senza is subject to extensive governmental regulation, and our failure to comply with applicable requirements
could cause our business to suffer.
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corresponding state and foreign regulatory agencies and authorities, such as the EU legislative bodies and the
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EEA Member State Competent Authorities. The FDA and other U.S., EEA and foreign governmental agencies and
authorities regulate and oversee, among other things, with respect to medical devices:

� design, development and manufacturing;

� testing, labeling, content and language of instructions for use and storage;

� clinical trials;

� product safety;

� marketing, sales and distribution;

� pre-market regulatory clearance and approval;

� conformity assessment procedures;

� record-keeping procedures;

� advertising and promotion;

� recalls and other field safety corrective actions;

� post-market surveillance, including reporting of deaths or serious injuries and malfunctions that, if they were to
recur, could lead to death or serious injury;

� post-market studies; and

� product import and export.
The laws and regulations to which we are subject are complex and have tended to become more stringent over time.
Legislative or regulatory changes could result in restrictions on our ability to carry on or expand our operations, higher
than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated sales.
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Our failure to comply with U.S. federal and state regulations or EEA or other foreign regulations applicable in the
countries where we operate could lead to the issuance of warning letters or untitled letters, the imposition of
injunctions, suspensions or loss of regulatory clearance or approvals, product recalls, termination of distribution,
product seizures or civil penalties. In the most extreme cases, criminal sanctions or closure of our manufacturing
facilities are possible. If any of these risks materialize, our business would be adversely affected.

Our business is subject to extensive governmental regulation that could make it more expensive and time
consuming for us to bring Senza to market in the United States and introduce new or improved products.

Our products must comply with regulatory requirements imposed by the FDA in the United States and similar
agencies in foreign jurisdictions. These requirements involve lengthy and detailed laboratory and clinical testing
procedures, sampling activities, extensive agency review processes, and other costly and time-consuming procedures.
It often takes several years to satisfy these requirements, depending on the complexity and novelty of the product. We
also are subject to numerous additional licensing and regulatory requirements relating to safe working conditions,
manufacturing practices, environmental protection, fire hazard control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially
hazardous substances. Some of the most important requirements we must comply with include:

� the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and the FDA�s implementing regulations (Title 21 CFR);

� European Union CE mark requirements;

� Medical Device Quality Management System Requirements (ISO 13485:2003);

� Occupational Safety and Health Administration requirements; and

� California Department of Health Services requirements.
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Government regulation may impede our ability to conduct clinical studies and to manufacture and sell our existing and
future products. Government regulation also could delay our marketing of new products for a considerable period of
time and impose costly procedures on our activities. Foreign regulatory agencies may not approve Senza and any of
our future products on a timely basis, if at all. Any delay in obtaining, or failure to obtain, such approvals could
negatively impact our marketing of any future products and reduce our product revenues.

Our products remain subject to strict regulatory controls on manufacturing, marketing and use. We may be forced to
modify or recall a product after release in response to regulatory action or unanticipated difficulties encountered in
general use. Any such action could have a material effect on the reputation of our products and on our business and
financial position.

Further, regulations may change, and any additional regulation could limit or restrict our ability to use any of our
technologies, which could harm our business. We could also be subject to new international, federal, state or local
regulations that could affect our research and development programs and harm our business in unforeseen ways. If this
happens, we may have to incur significant costs to comply with such laws and regulations, which will harm our results
of operations.

In September 2012, the European Commission published proposals for the revision of the EU regulatory framework
for medical devices. The proposal would replace the Medical Devices Directive and the Active Implantable Medical
Devices Directive with a new regulation (the Medical Devices Regulation). Unlike the Directives that must be
implemented into national laws, the Regulation would be directly applicable in all EEA Member States and so is
intended to eliminate current national differences in regulation of medical devices.

In October 2013, the European Parliament approved a package of reforms to the European Commission�s proposals.
Under the revised proposals, only designated �special notified bodies� would be entitled to conduct conformity
assessments of high-risk devices, such as active implantable devices. These special notified bodies will need to notify
the European Commission when they receive an application for a conformity assessment for a new high-risk device.
The European Commission will then forward the notification and the accompanying documents on the device to the
Medical Devices Coordination Group (MDCG), (a new, yet to be created, body chaired by the European Commission,
and representatives of Member States) for an opinion. These new procedures may result in the re-assessment of our
existing medical devices, or a longer or more burdensome assessment of our new products.

If adopted, the Medical Devices Regulation is expected to enter into force in 2015 and become applicable three years
thereafter. In its current form it would, among other things, also impose additional reporting requirements on
manufacturers of high risk medical devices, impose an obligation on manufacturers to appoint a �qualified person�
responsible for regulatory compliance, and provide for more strict clinical evidence requirements. While we believe
that the Medical Device Regulation, if adopted in its current form, would likely require reassessment of Senza, the
actual impact on Senza remains uncertain unless and until the adoption of a final Medical Device Regulation.

Senza is subject to extensive governmental regulation in foreign jurisdictions, such as Europe, and our failure to
comply with applicable requirements could cause our business to suffer.

In the EEA, Senza must comply with the Essential Requirements laid down in Annex I to the EU Active Implantable
Medical Devices Directive. Compliance with these requirements is a prerequisite to be able to affix the CE mark to
Senza, without which they cannot be marketed or sold in the EEA. To demonstrate compliance with the Essential
Requirements and obtain the right to affix the CE Mark to Senza, we must undergo a conformity assessment
procedure, which varies according to the type of medical device and its classification. Except for low risk medical
devices (Class I with no measuring function and which are not sterile), where the manufacturer can issue an EC
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Requirements, a conformity assessment procedure requires the intervention of a Notified Body, which is an
organization designated by a competent authority of an EEA country to conduct conformity assessments. Depending
on the relevant conformity assessment procedure, the Notified Body would
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audit and examine the Technical File and the quality system for the manufacture, design and final inspection of our
devices. The Notified Body issues a CE Certificate of Conformity following successful completion of a conformity
assessment procedure conducted in relation to the medical device and its manufacturer and their conformity with the
Essential Requirements. This Certificate entitles the manufacturer to affix the CE mark to its medical devices after
having prepared and signed a related EC Declaration of Conformity.

As a general rule, demonstration of conformity of medical devices and their manufacturers with the Essential
Requirements must be based, among other things, on the evaluation of clinical data supporting the safety and
performance of the products during normal conditions of use. Specifically, a manufacturer must demonstrate that the
device achieves its intended performance during normal conditions of use and that the known and foreseeable risks,
and any adverse events, are minimized and acceptable when weighed against the benefits of its intended performance,
and that any claims made about the performance and safety of the device (e.g., product labeling and instructions for
use) are supported by suitable evidence. This assessment must be based on clinical data, which can be obtained from
(1) clinical studies conducted on the devices being assessed, (2) scientific literature from similar devices whose
equivalence with the assessed device can be demonstrated or (3) both clinical studies and scientific literature. With
respect to active implantable medical devices or Class III devices, the manufacturer must conduct clinical studies to
obtain the required clinical data, unless reliance on existing clinical data from equivalent devices can be justified. The
conduct of clinical studies in the EEA is governed by detailed regulatory obligations. These may include the
requirement of prior authorization by the competent authorities of the country in which the study takes place and the
requirement to obtain a positive opinion from a competent Ethics Committee. This process can be expensive and
time-consuming.

In order to continue to sell Senza in Europe, we must maintain our CE Mark and continue to comply with certain EU
Directives. Our failure to continue to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, including those
administered by authorities of the EEA countries, could result in enforcement actions against us, including refusal,
suspension or withdrawal of our CE Certificates of Conformity by our Notified Body (the British Standards Institution
(BSI)), which could impair our ability to market products in the EEA in the future.

The misuse or off-label use of our product may harm our image in the marketplace, result in injuries that lead to
product liability suits, which could be costly to our business, or result in costly investigations and sanctions from
the FDA and other regulatory bodies if we are deemed to have engaged in off-label promotion.

Senza has been approved for marketing in the United States, CE Marked in the EEA and approved by the TGA in
Australia for specific treatments and anatomies. We may only promote or market the Senza SCS system for its
specifically approved indications as described on the approved label. We train our marketing and sales force against
promoting our products for uses outside of the approved indications for use, known as �off-label uses.� We cannot,
however, prevent a physician from using our product off-label, when in the physician�s independent professional
medical judgment he or she deems the use of the product in the non-approved indication as appropriate. There may be
increased risk of injury to patients if physicians attempt to use our product off-label. Furthermore, the use of our
product for indications other than those approved by the applicable regulatory body may not effectively treat such
conditions, which could harm our reputation in the marketplace among physicians and patients.

Physicians may also misuse our product or use improper techniques if they are not adequately trained, potentially
leading to injury and an increased risk of product liability. If our product is misused or used with improper technique,
we may become subject to costly litigation by our customers or their patients. Product liability claims could divert
management�s attention from our core business, be expensive to defend, and result in sizable damage awards against us
that may not be covered by insurance. In addition, if the FDA determines that our promotional materials, training or
physician support activities constitute promotion of an off-label use, it could request that we modify our training,
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issuance of an untitled letter, a warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine or criminal penalties. It is also possible
that other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities might take action if they consider our business activities to
constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant penalties, including, but not limited to,
criminal, civil and/or administrative
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penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, and the
curtailment of our operations. Further, regulators or legislators may also enhance the enforcement of, and attempt to
curtail, any off-label use by physicians of medical devices in the future. Any of these events could significantly harm
our business and results of operations and cause our stock price to decline.

Further, the advertising and promotion of our products is subject to EEA Member States laws implementing Directive
93/42/EEC concerning Medical Devices (the EU Medical Devices Directive), Directive 2006/114/EC concerning
misleading and comparative advertising, and Directive 2005/29/EC on unfair commercial practices, as well as other
EEA Member State legislation governing the advertising and promotion of medical devices. EEA Member State
legislation may also restrict or impose limitations on our ability to advertise our products directly to the general
public. In addition, voluntary EU and national Codes of Conduct provide guidelines on the advertising and promotion
of our products to the general public and may impose limitations on our promotional activities with healthcare
professionals.

Senza may in the future be subject to notifications, recalls, or voluntary market withdrawals that could harm our
reputation, business and financial results.

The FDA, EEA Competent Authorities and similar foreign governmental authorities have the authority to require the
recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture that could
affect patient safety. In the case of the FDA, the authority to require a recall must be based on an FDA finding that
there is a reasonable probability that the device would cause serious adverse health consequences or death.
Manufacturers may, under their own initiative, conduct a product notification or recall to inform physicians of
changes to instructions for use (IFU), or if a deficiency in a device is found or suspected. A government-mandated
recall or voluntary recall by us or one of our distributors could occur as a result of component failures, manufacturing
errors, design or labeling defects or other issues. Recalls, which include certain notifications and corrections as well as
removals, of Senza could divert managerial and financial resources and could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition, harm our reputation with customers, and reduce our ability to achieve expected revenue.

In addition, the manufacturing of our products is subject to extensive post-market regulation by the FDA and foreign
regulatory authorities, and any failure by us or our contract manufacturers or suppliers to comply with regulatory
requirements could result in recalls, facility closures, and other penalties. We and our suppliers and contract
manufacturers are subject to the FDA�s Quality System Regulation (QSR), and comparable foreign regulations which
govern the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the design, manufacture, quality assurance,
labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage, shipping, and servicing of medical devices. These regulations are enforced
through periodic inspections of manufacturing facilities. Any manufacturing issues at our or our suppliers� or contract
manufacturers� facilities, including failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in warning or untitled
letters, manufacturing restrictions, voluntary or mandatory recalls or corrections, fines, withdrawals of regulatory
clearances or approvals, product seizures, injunctions, or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties, which would
adversely affect our business results and prospects.

We are required to report certain malfunctions, deaths, and serious injuries associated with our products, which
can result in voluntary corrective actions or agency enforcement actions.

Under the FDA medical device reporting (MDR), regulations, medical device manufacturers are required to submit
information to the FDA when they receive a report or become aware that a device has or may have caused or
contributed to a death or serious injury or has or may have a malfunction that would likely cause or contribute to death
or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur. All manufacturers placing medical devices on the market in the
EEA are legally bound to report incidents involving devices they produce or sell to the regulatory agency, or
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competent authority, in whose jurisdiction the incident occurred. Under the EU Medical Devices Directive (Directive
93/42/EEC), an incident is defined as any malfunction or deterioration in the characteristics and/or performance of a
device, as well as any inadequacy in the labeling or the instructions for use which, directly or indirectly, might lead to
or might have led to the death of a patient, or user or of other persons or to a serious deterioration in their state of
health.
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Malfunction of our products could result in future voluntary corrective actions, such as recalls, including corrections,
or customer notifications, or agency action, such as inspection or enforcement actions. If malfunctions do occur, we
may be unable to correct the malfunctions adequately or prevent further malfunctions, in which case we may need to
cease manufacture and distribution of the affected products, initiate voluntary recalls, and redesign the products.
Regulatory authorities may also take actions against us, such as ordering recalls, imposing fines, or seizing the
affected products. Any corrective action, whether voluntary or involuntary, will require the dedication of our time and
capital, distract management from operating our business, and may harm our reputation and financial results.

A recall of our products, either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA, an EEA Competent Authority or another
governmental authority, or the discovery of serious safety issues with our products, could have a significant
adverse impact on us.

The FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities such as the Competent Authorities of the EEA countries have
the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in design
or manufacture or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. Manufacturers may, under their
own initiative, recall a product if any material deficiency in a device is found. A government-mandated or voluntary
recall by us or one of our distributors could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component failures,
manufacturing errors, design or labeling defects or other deficiencies and issues. Recalls of any of our products would
divert managerial and financial resources and have an adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations and
financial condition, which could impair our ability to produce our products in a cost-effective and timely manner in
order to meet our customers� demands. We may also be required to bear other costs or take other actions that may have
a negative impact on our future sales and our ability to generate profits.

We may be subject to federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations, and a finding of failure to comply
with such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Although we do not provide healthcare services, submit claims for third-party reimbursement, or receive payments
directly from Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party payors for our products, we are subject to healthcare fraud and
abuse regulation and enforcement by federal, state and foreign governments, which could significantly impact our
business. In the United States, the laws that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not limited to:

� the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly
and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering, or paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, in
exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or
recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part,
under federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to have
actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it;

� federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including civil whistleblower or
qui tam actions, that prohibit, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for
payment or approval to the federal government that are false or fraudulent, knowingly making a false statement
material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government or knowingly
concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay or transmit money or
property to the federal government;
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� the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), which created federal
criminal laws that prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false
statements relating to healthcare matters. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of these
statutes or specific intent to violate them;

� HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009
(HITECH), and their respective implementing regulations, which impose requirements on certain
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covered healthcare providers, health plans and healthcare clearinghouses as well as their business associates
that perform services for them that involve individually identifiable health information, relating to the privacy,
security and transmission of individually identifiable health information without appropriate authorization,
including mandatory contractual terms as well as directly applicable privacy and security standards and
requirements;

� the federal physician sunshine requirements under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended
by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act (collectively, the ACA), which require certain
manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics, and medical supplies to report annually to the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians (defined
to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, and ownership
and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members. The period between
August 1, 2013 and December 31, 2013 was the first reporting period, and manufacturers were required to
report aggregate payment data by March 31, 2014, and to report detailed payment data and submit legal
attestation to the accuracy of such data by June 30, 2014. Thereafter, manufacturers must submit reports by the
90th day of each subsequent calendar year;

� state and foreign law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as state anti-kickback and false claims
laws that may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers;
state laws that require device companies to comply with the industry�s voluntary compliance guidelines and the
relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that may
be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state laws that require device
manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other
healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and state and foreign laws governing the privacy and security
of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and
often are not preempted by HIPAA.

The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment
of healthcare reform, especially in light of the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state
enforcement bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and
healthcare providers, which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the
healthcare industry. Responding to investigations can be time-and resource-consuming and can divert management�s
attention from the business. Additionally, as a result of these investigations, healthcare providers and entities may
have to agree to additional onerous compliance and reporting requirements as part of a consent decree or corporate
integrity agreement. Any such investigation or settlement could increase our costs or otherwise have an adverse effect
on our business.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations
that apply to us now or in the future, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages,
fines, disgorgement, exclusion from governmental health care programs, and the curtailment or restructuring of our
operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results.

Healthcare legislative reform measures may have a material adverse effect on us.

In March 2010, the ACA was signed into law, which includes, among other things, a deductible 2.3% excise tax on
any entity that manufactures or imports medical devices offered for sale in the United States, with limited exceptions,
effective January 1, 2013. This excise tax is resulting in a significant increase in the tax burden on our industry, and if
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any efforts we undertake to offset the excise tax are unsuccessful as we begin to sell the product in the United States,
the increased tax burden could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows. Other elements of
the PPACA, including comparative effectiveness research, an independent payment advisory board and payment
system reforms, including shared savings pilots and other provisions, may significantly affect the payment for, and the
availability of, healthcare services and result in fundamental changes to federal healthcare reimbursement programs,
any of which may materially affect numerous aspects of our business.
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was
enacted. On August 2, 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011 among other things, created measures for spending
reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeted deficit
reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby
triggering the legislation�s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of
Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect on April 1, 2013, and will remain in
effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken. On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer
Relief Act of 2012 (the ATRA), was signed into law which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments
to certain providers, including hospitals.

We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which
could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could
result in reduced demand for our product candidates or additional pricing pressures.

Our future success depends on our ability to develop, receive regulatory clearance or approval for, and introduce
new products or product enhancements that will be accepted by the market in a timely manner.

It is important to our business that we build a pipeline of product offerings for treatment of chronic pain. As such, our
success will depend in part on our ability to develop and introduce new products. However, we may not be able to
successfully develop and obtain regulatory clearance or approval for product enhancements, or new products, or these
products may not be accepted by physicians or the payors who financially support many of the procedures performed
with our products.

The success of any new product offering or enhancement to an existing product will depend on a number of factors,
including our ability to:

� identify and anticipate physician and patient needs properly;

� develop and introduce new products or product enhancements in a timely manner;

� avoid infringing upon the intellectual property rights of third parties;

� demonstrate, if required, the safety and efficacy of new products with data from preclinical and clinical studies;

� obtain the necessary regulatory clearances or approvals for new products or product enhancements;

� comply fully with FDA and foreign regulations on marketing of new devices or modified products;

� provide adequate training to potential users of our products; and
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� receive adequate coverage and reimbursement for procedures performed with our products.
If we do not develop new products or product enhancements in time to meet market demand or if there is insufficient
demand for these products or enhancements, or if our competitors introduce new products with functionalities that are
superior to ours, our results of operations will suffer.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We incur significantly increased costs and devote substantial management time as a result of operating as a public
company.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private
company. For example, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the Exchange Act), and are required to comply with the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 (the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as
rules and regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange, including the
establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance
practices. We expect that compliance with these requirements will increase our legal and financial compliance costs
and will make some activities more time consuming and costly.
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In addition, we expect that our management and other personnel will need to divert attention from operational and
other business matters to devote substantial time to these public company requirements. In particular, we expect to
incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will increase when we are no longer an emerging
growth company, as defined by the JOBS Act. We will need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with
appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge and may need to establish an internal
audit function. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur as a result of becoming a
public company or the timing of such costs. Additional compensation costs and any future equity awards will increase
our compensation expense, which would increase our general and administrative expense and could adversely affect
our profitability. We also expect that operating as a public company will make it more difficult and expensive for us to
obtain director and officer liability insurance on reasonable terms. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract
and retain qualified people to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers

Our stock price may be volatile and our stockholders may not be able to resell shares of our common stock at or
above the price they paid.

The trading price of our common stock could be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response
to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include those discussed in this �Risk Factors�
section of this document and others such as:

� delays in the commercialization of Senza or any future product candidates;

� announcements of new products by us or our competitors;

� achievement of expected product sales and profitability;

� manufacture, supply or distribution shortages;

� adverse actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our clinical trials, manufacturing supply chain or
sales and marketing activities;

� our operating results;

� results from, or any delays in, clinical trial programs relating to our product candidates;

� changes or developments in laws or regulations applicable to our products;

� any adverse changes in our relationship with any manufacturers or suppliers;
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� the success of our efforts to acquire or develop additional products;

� any intellectual property infringement actions in which we may become involved;

� announcements concerning our competitors or the medical device industry in general;

� actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

� FDA or other U.S. or foreign regulatory actions affecting us or our industry or other healthcare reform
measures in the United States;

� changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

� trading volume of our common stock;

� sales of our common stock by us, our executive officers and directors or our stockholders in the future;

� general economic and market conditions and overall fluctuations in the United States equity markets; and

� the loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel.
In addition, the stock markets in general, and the markets for medical device stocks in particular, have experienced
volatility that may have been unrelated to the operating performance of the issuer. These broad
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market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price or liquidity of our common stock. In the past, when the
market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have sometimes instituted securities class action
litigation against the issuer. If any of our stockholders were to bring such a lawsuit against us, we could incur
substantial costs defending the lawsuit and the attention of our management would be diverted from the operation of
our business, which could seriously harm our financial position. Any adverse determination in litigation could also
subject us to significant liabilities.

If securities or industry analysts issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts
publish about us or our business. If any of the analysts who cover us issues an adverse or misleading opinion
regarding us, our business model, our intellectual property or our stock performance, or if our clinical trials and
operating results fail to meet the expectations of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these
analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial
markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

We are an �emerging growth company� and as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements
applicable to emerging growth companies, our common stock may be less attractive to investors.

We are an �emerging growth company,� as defined in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take advantage of certain
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging
growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements
of Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation
and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors
will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our
common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock
price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer an emerging
growth company. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year
(a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our IPO in November 2014, (b) in which we have total annual
gross revenue of at least $1.0 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the
market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th, and
(2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future,
investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of
our common stock could be adversely affected.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material
weaknesses in such internal control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we evaluate and determine
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and, beginning with our second annual report
following our IPO, which will be for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015, provide a management report on
internal control over financial reporting. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also requires that our internal control over financial
reporting be attested to by our independent registered public accounting firm, to the extent we are no longer an
�emerging growth company,� as defined by the JOBS Act. We do not expect to have our independent registered public
accounting firm attest to our internal control over financial reporting for so long as we are an emerging growth
company.
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basis and our financial statements may be materially misstated. We are in the process of designing and implementing
the internal control over financial reporting required to comply with this obligation, which process
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will be time consuming, costly and complicated. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, if we are
unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting are effective, or, when required in the future, if our
independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial
reports and the market price of our common stock could be adversely affected, and we could become subject to
investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which
could require additional financial and management resources.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert
significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval.

As of March 31, 2015, our executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of our capital stock and their respective
affiliates held approximately 61% of our outstanding voting stock. These stockholders will have the ability to
influence us through this ownership position, and may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval.
For example, these stockholders may be able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational
documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or
discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that our stockholders may feel are in their
best interest.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may
consider favorable and may lead to entrenchment of management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could
significantly reduce the value of our shares to a potential acquirer or delay or prevent changes in control or changes in
our management without the consent of our board of directors. The provisions in our charter documents include the
following:

� a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to
change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

� no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect
director candidates;

� the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the
board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being
able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

� the required approval of at least 66 2/3% of the shares entitled to vote to remove a director for cause, and the
prohibition on removal of directors without cause;

�
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the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the
price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval,
which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror;

� the ability of our board of directors to alter our bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval;

� the required approval of at least 66 2/3% of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to adopt,
amend or repeal our bylaws or repeal the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
regarding the election and removal of directors;

� a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual
or special meeting of our stockholders;

� the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the board of directors, which may
delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the
removal of directors; and
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� advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of
directors or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders� meeting, which may discourage or deter a
potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror�s own slate of directors or
otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, these provisions would apply even if we were to receive an offer that some stockholders may consider
beneficial.

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisions contained in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law. Under Section 203, a corporation may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15%
or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other exceptions, the board
of directors has approved the transaction.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful
third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will
indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated bylaws
and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide that:

� we will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business
enterprises at our request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a
corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any
criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person�s conduct was unlawful;

� we may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is
permitted by applicable law;

� we are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a
proceeding, except that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately
determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification;

� we will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to
proceedings initiated by that person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings
authorized by our board of directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification;

� the rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into
indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to
indemnify such persons; and
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� we may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification
obligations to directors, officers, employees and agents.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, our stockholders� ability to
achieve a return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently
intend to invest our future earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Additionally, the terms of our credit facility prohibit us
from paying cash dividends on our capital stock. Therefore, our stockholders are not likely to receive any dividends
on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Since we do not intend to pay dividends, our stockholders� ability to
receive a return on their investment will depend on any future appreciation in the market value of our common stock.
There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate or even maintain the price at which our stockholders
have purchased it.
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Risks Related to this Offering

If you purchase our common stock in this offering, you will incur immediate and substantial dilution in the book
value of your shares.

Investors purchasing shares of common stock in this offering will pay a price per share that substantially exceeds the
as-adjusted book value per share of our tangible assets after subtracting our liabilities. As a result, investors
purchasing shares of common stock in this offering will incur immediate dilution of $44.71 per share, based on an
assumed public offering price of $53.41 per share, which was the last reported sale price of our common stock on the
New York Stock Exchange on May 15, 2015, and our as-adjusted net tangible book value as of March 31, 2015 after
giving effect to this offering. For information on how the foregoing amounts were calculated, see �Dilution.�

This dilution is due to the substantially lower price paid by our investors who purchased shares prior to this offering as
compared to the price offered to the public in this offering, and the exercise of stock options granted to our employees.
In addition, as of March 31, 2015, we had outstanding options to purchase approximately 3.3 million shares of our
common stock; the exercise of any of these or future options, equity incentive awards or warrants would result in
additional dilution. As a result of the dilution to investors purchasing shares in this offering, investors may receive
significantly less than the purchase price paid in this offering, if anything, in the event of our liquidation.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to
fall.

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public
market after the lock-up and other legal restrictions on resale in connection with our IPO lapse, the trading price of our
common stock could decline. As of March 31, 2015, we had outstanding a total of approximately 24.9 million shares
of common stock. Of these shares, the 8,050,000 shares of our common stock sold in the IPO are freely tradable,
without restriction (except as otherwise applicable), in the public market.

In addition, the lock-up agreements pertaining to our IPO expired on May 4, 2015, following which approximately
16.8 million additional shares of common stock became eligible for sale in the public market, approximately
9.6 million of which shares were held by current directors, executive officers and other affiliates and may be subject to
Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

Based upon the number of shares of common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015, upon the closing of this
offering we will have outstanding a total of approximately          million shares of common stock. Our directors,
executive officers and the selling stockholders have entered into lock-up agreements with the underwriters of this
offering that will expire 90 days from the date of this prospectus, following which approximately          million shares
of common stock will be eligible for sale in the public market, subject to the limitations of Rule 144 under the
Securities Act, to the extent applicable. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, in their sole
discretion, may release the common stock subject to these lock-up agreements at any time.

Furthermore, as of March 31, 2015, approximately 6.1 million shares of common stock that are either subject to
outstanding options or reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans will become eligible for sale in
the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules, and Rule 144 and Rule 701
under the Securities Act. If these additional shares of common stock are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be
sold, in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
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The holders of up to approximately 16.5 million shares of our outstanding common stock as of March 31, 2015 were
entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act, subject to the lock-up
agreements described above. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in the shares becoming
freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares purchased by affiliates. Any sales of
securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.
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We will receive only a portion of the proceeds from this offering, will have broad discretion to determine how to use
the funds raised in this offering, and may use them in ways that may not enhance our operating results or the price
of our common stock.

We will receive only a portion of the proceeds from this offering, as a significant portion of the proceeds from this
offering will be received by the selling stockholders. We expect to receive net proceeds of $69.8 million from this
offering, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses
payable by us

Our management will have broad discretion over the use of proceeds received by us this offering, and we could spend
the proceeds from this offering in ways our stockholders may not agree with or that do not yield a favorable return, if
at all. We currently expect to use the net proceeds from this offering to support the commercial launch of Senza in the
United States, and for working capital and general corporate purposes, including research and development. If we do
not invest or apply the proceeds of this offering in ways that improve our operating results, we may fail to achieve
expected financial results, which could cause our stock price to decline.

45
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements, within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, concerning our business, operations and financial
performance and condition, as well as our plans, objectives and expectations for our business operations and financial
performance and condition. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical facts may be deemed
to be forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statet; FONT-SIZE: 10pt;
VERTICAL-ALIGN: bottom" id=TBL4486.finRow.9.trail.2 noWrap>  $144,162  $(2,738

)

 $150,109 

Net income

  ---   13,168   ---   13,168 

Dividends $0.54 per share

  ---   (3,752

)

  ---   (3,752

)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax ($7,125)

  ---   ---   (13,231

)

  (13,231

)

Balances at September 30, 2013

 $8,685  $153,578  $(15,969

)

 $146,294 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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National Bankshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

(Unaudited)

$ in thousands

September
30,

2013

September
30,

2012
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income $ 13,168 $13,062
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for loan losses 1,329 2,554
Depreciation of bank premises and equipment 546 571
Amortization of intangibles 809 812
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts, net 130 168
Gains on disposal of fixed assets --- (2 )
(Gains) losses on sales and calls of securities available for sale, net 4 (20 )
Gains on calls of securities held to maturity, net (6 ) (14 )
Losses and write-downs on other real estate owned, net 92 29
Increase in cash value of bank-owned life insurance (497 ) (534 )
Net change in:
Mortgage loans held for sale 2,179 (392 )
Accrued interest receivable 203 13
Other assets 921 269
Accrued interest payable (42 ) (28 )
Other liabilities 167 (251 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 19,003 16,237

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net change interest-bearing deposits 33,821 30,961
Proceeds from calls, principal payments, sales and maturities of securities available for sale 61,135 119,493
Proceeds from calls, principal payments and maturities of securities held to maturity 9,176 24,255
Purchases of securities available for sale (83,993 ) (143,284 )
Purchases of securities held to maturity (13,484 ) (42,063 )
Net change in restricted stock 275 (22 )
Purchases of loan participations (900 ) (2,000 )
Collections of loan participations 127 4,656
Loan originations and principal collections, net 113 (9,699 )
Proceeds from disposal of other real estate owned 848 1,174
Recoveries on loans charged off 92 76
Additions to bank premises and equipment (170 ) (667 )
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7,040 (17,120 )
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net change in time deposits (29,164 ) (19,092 )
Net change in other deposits 5,896 24,142
Cash dividends paid (3,752 ) (3,678 )
Stock options exercised --- 59
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (27,020 ) 1,431
Net change in cash and due from banks (977 ) 548
Cash and due from banks at beginning of period 14,783 11,897
Cash and due from banks at end of period $ 13,806 $12,445

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Interest paid on deposits and borrowed funds $ 4,657 $6,099
Income taxes paid 3,610 3,937

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Activities
Loans charged against the allowance for loan losses $ 1,680 $2,444
Loans transferred to other real estate owned 478 1,608
Unrealized net losses on securities available for sale (20,356 ) (529 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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National Bankshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013

(Unaudited)

$ in thousands, except per share data

Note 1: General

The consolidated financial statements of National Bankshares, Inc. (“NBI”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, The
National Bank of Blacksburg (“NBB”) and National Bankshares Financial Services, Inc. (“NBFS”) (collectively, the
“Company”), conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and to general
practices within the banking industry. The accompanying interim period consolidated financial statements are
unaudited; however, in the opinion of management, all adjustments consisting of normal recurring adjustments, which
are necessary for a fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements, have been included.  The results of
operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of results of operations for the
full year or any other interim period.  The interim period consolidated financial statements and financial information
included in this Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the notes to consolidated financial statements included
in the Company’s 2012 Form 10-K/A.  The Company posts all reports required to be filed under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934 on its web site at www.nationalbankshares.com.

Subsequent events have been considered through the date when the Form 10-Q was issued.

Note 2: Stock-Based Compensation

The Company had a stock option plan, the 1999 Stock Option Plan, that was adopted in 1999 and that was terminated
on March 9, 2009. Incentive stock options were granted annually to key employees of NBI and its subsidiaries from
1999 to 2005 and none have been granted since 2005. All of the stock options are vested.

Options Shares Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
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Share Term
Outstanding at January 1, 2013 69,000 $ 23.75
Exercised --- ---
Forfeited or expired --- ---
Outstanding September 30, 2013 69,000 $ 23.75 1.11 $ 838
Exercisable at September 30, 2013 69,000 $ 23.75 1.11 $ 838

There were no shares exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2013. There were 4,000 shares with an
intrinsic value of $74 exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2012. As of September 30, 2013, there
was no unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options.

10
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Note 3:    Loan Portfolio

The loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale, was comprised of the following.

September
30,

2013

December
31,

2012
Real estate construction $ 55,022 $ 50,313
Consumer real estate 146,447 143,262
Commercial real estate 301,890 304,308
Commercial non real estate 31,329 37,349
Public sector and IDA 28,332 26,169
Consumer non real estate 28,532 31,714
Gross loans 591,552 593,115
Less unearned income and deferred fees (888 ) (953 )
Loans, net of unearned income and deferred fees $ 590,664 $ 592,162

Note 4:    Allowance for Loan Losses, Nonperforming Assets and Impaired Loans

The allowance for loan losses methodology incorporates individual evaluation of impaired loans and collective
evaluation of groups of non-impaired loans. The Company performs ongoing analysis of the loan portfolio to
determine credit quality and to identify impaired loans. Credit quality is rated based on the loan’s payment history, the
borrower’s current financial situation and value of the underlying collateral.

Impaired loans are those loans that have been modified in a troubled debt restructure (“TDR” or “restructure”) and larger,
non-homogeneous loans that are in nonaccrual or exhibit payment history or financial status that indicate the
probability that collection will not occur according to the loan’s terms. Generally, impaired loans are given risk ratings
that indicate higher risk, such as “classified” or “other assets especially mentioned.” Impaired loans are individually
evaluated to determine appropriate reserves and are measured at the lower of the invested amount or the fair market
value. Impaired loans with an impairment loss are designated nonaccrual. Please refer to Note 2 of the Company’s
2012 Form 10-K/A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for additional information on evaluation of impaired
loans and associated specific reserves, and policies regarding nonaccruals, past due status and charge-offs.

Troubled debt restructurings impact the estimation of the appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses. If the
restructuring included forgiveness of a portion of principal or accrued interest, the charge-off is included in the
historical charge-off rates applied to the collective evaluation methodology. Further, restructured loans are
individually evaluated for impairment, with amounts below fair value accrued in the allowance for loan losses. TDRs
that experience a payment default are examined to determine whether the default indicates collateral dependency or
cash flows below those that were included in the fair value measurement. TDRs, as well as all impaired loans, that are
determined to be collateral dependent are charged down to fair value. Deficiencies indicated by impairment
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measurements for TDRs that are not collateral dependent may be accrued in the allowance for loan losses or charged
off if deemed uncollectible.

The Company evaluated characteristics in the loan portfolio and determined major segments and smaller classes
within each segment. These characteristics include collateral type, repayment sources, and (if applicable) the
borrower’s business model. The methodology for calculating reserves for collectively-evaluated loans is applied at the
class level.

Portfolio Segments and Classes

Beginning January 1, 2013, the Company segregated certain loans that were included within the classes of the
Residential Real Estate segment, including Equity lines, Residential closed-end first liens and Residential closed-end
junior liens. The newly-segregated loans are secured by residential real estate collateral that is owned by investors and
for which the primary repayment source is rental income. The new class in the Residential Real Estate segment allows
the Company to address credit risks characteristic of investor-owned residential real estate. Segregating the
investor-owned residential real estate did not have a significant impact on the calculation of the allowance for loan
losses. Consistent with accounting guidance, prior periods have not been restated and are shown as originally
published using the segments and classes in effect for the period.

11
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The segments and classes used in determining the allowance for loan losses, beginning in 2013 are as follows.

Real Estate Construction Commercial Non Real
Estate

Construction, residential Commercial and Industrial
Construction, other

Public Sector and IDA
Consumer Real Estate Public sector and IDA
Equity lines
Residential closed-end first liens Consumer Non Real Estate
Residential closed-end junior liens Credit cards
Investor-owned residential real estate Automobile

Other consumer loans
Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily real estate
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied
Commercial real estate, other

Historical Loss Rates

The Company’s allowance methodology for collectively-evaluated loans applies historical loss rates by class to current
class balances as part of the process of determining required reserves. Class loss rates are calculated as the net
charge-offs for the class as a percentage of average class balance. The annualized current-year loss rate is averaged
with that of prior periods to obtain the historical loss rate. Prior to the first quarter of 2013, one historical loss rate for
each class was calculated and applied to current class balance to obtain the allocation for historical loss rates.

Beginning with the first quarter of 2013, two loss rates for each class are calculated: total net charge-offs for the class
as a percentage of average class loan balance (“class loss rate”), and total net charge-offs for the class as a percentage of
average classified loans in the class (“classified loss rate”). Classified loans are those with risk ratings of “substandard” or
higher. Net charge-offs in both calculations include charge-offs and recoveries of classified and non-classified loans as
well as those associated with impaired loans. Class historical loss rates are applied to non-classified loan balances at
the reporting date, and classified historical loss rates are applied to classified balances at the reporting date.

The revised calculation and application of historical loss rates impacted the calculation of reserves for
collectively-evaluated loans. Under the former methodology, the class historical loss rates were applied to all
collectively-evaluated loans and would have resulted in a total allocation of $2,384. Under the revised methodology,
class historical loss rates are applied to only non-classified loans, resulting in an allocation of $2,370. In addition, the
classified historical loss rate resulted in an allocation of $452, for a total allocation based on historical loss rates of
$2,822. Consistent with accounting guidance, prior periods have not been restated and are shown as originally
published using the methodology in effect for the period.
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Risk Factors

In addition to historical loss rates, risk factors pertinent to each class are analyzed to estimate reserves for
collectively-evaluated loans. Factors include changes in national and local economic and business conditions, the
nature and volume of classes within the portfolio, loan quality and loan officers’ experience. Prior to the first quarter of
2013, management also reviewed the Company’s lending policies and loan review system to determine whether
changes had occurred during the quarter that affected credit risk. Until the first quarter of 2013, no changes were
found to affect credit risk and no additional allocations were applied. During the first quarter of 2013, the Company
incorporated to the allowance methodology a factor for changes in the Company’s lending policies and a factor for
changes in the quality of the Company’s loan review, and set standard allocations for associated risk. The addition of
the factors formalized and standardized a practice already in place and did not have a significant impact on the
calculation of the allowance for loan losses.

The analysis of certain factors results in standard allocations to all segments and classes. These factors include loan
officers’ average years of experience, the risk from changes in lending policies, and the risk from changes in loan
review. Factors analyzed for each class, with resultant allocations based upon the level of risk assessed for each class,
include levels of past due loans, nonaccrual loans, current class balance as a percentage of total loans, and the
percentage of high risk loans within the class. Additionally, factors specific to each segment are analyzed and result in
allocations to the segment.

Real estate construction loans are subject to general risks from changing commercial building and housing market
trends and economic conditions that may impact demand for completed properties and the costs of completion. These
risks are measured by market-area unemployment rates, bankruptcy rates, housing and commercial building market
trends, and interest rates.

The credit quality of consumer real estate is subject to risks associated with the borrower’s repayment ability and
collateral value, measured generally by analyzing local unemployment and bankruptcy trends, local housing market
trends, and interest rates.

12
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The commercial real estate segment includes loans secured by multifamily residential real estate, commercial real
estate occupied by the owner/borrower, and commercial real estate leased to non-owners. Loans in the commercial
real estate segment are impacted by economic risks from changing commercial real estate markets, rental markets for
multi-family housing and commercial buildings, business bankruptcy rates, local unemployment and interest rate
trends that would impact the businesses housed by the commercial real estate.

Commercial non real estate loans are secured by collateral other than real estate, or are unsecured. Credit risk for
commercial non real estate loans is subject to economic conditions, generally monitored by local business bankruptcy
trends, and interest rates. Public sector and IDA loans are extended to municipalities and related entities. Credit risk is
based upon the entity’s ability to repay and interest rate trends.

Consumer non real estate includes credit cards, automobile and other consumer loans. Credit cards and certain other
consumer loans are unsecured, while collateral is obtained for automobile loans and other consumer loans. Credit risk
stems primarily from the borrower’s ability to repay, measured by average unemployment, average personal
bankruptcy rates and interest rates.

Factor allocations applied to each class are increased for loans rated special mention and increased to a greater extent
for loans rated classified. The Company allocates additional reserves for “high risk” loans, determined to be junior lien
mortgages, high loan-to-value loans and interest-only loans.

A detailed analysis showing the allowance roll-forward by portfolio segment and related loan balance by segment
follows.

Activity in the Allowance for Loan Losses for the Three Months Ended September
30, 2013

Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and
IDA

Consumer
Non
Real
Estate

UnallocatedTotal

Balance, June 30, 2013 $1,032 $ 1,670 $ 3,029 $ 1,481 $ 111 $ 513 $ 116 7,952
Charge-offs --- (120 ) --- (8 ) --- (68 ) --- (196 )
Recoveries --- --- 8 2 --- 21 --- 31
Provision for loan losses (11 ) 334 553 (472 ) (6 ) (59 ) (36 ) 303
Balance, September 30,
2013 $1,021 $ 1,884 $ 3,590 $ 1,003 $ 105 $ 407 $ 80 $8,090

Activity in the Allowance for Loan Losses for the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013
Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and

Consumer
Non
Real

UnallocatedTotal
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IDA Estate
Balance, December 31,
2012 $1,070 $ 2,263 $ 3,442 $ 959 $ 142 $ 424 $ 49 $8,349

Charge-offs (184 ) (219 ) (35 ) (968 ) --- (274 ) --- (1,680)
Recoveries --- 1 12 18 --- 61 --- 92
Provision for loan losses 135 (161 ) 171 994 (37 ) 196 31 1,329
Balance, September 30,
2013 $1,021 $ 1,884 $ 3,590 $ 1,003 $ 105 $ 407 $ 80 $8,090

Activity in the Allowance for Loan Losses for the Three Months Ended September
30, 2012

Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and
IDA

Consumer
Non Real
Estate

Unallocated Total

Balance, June 30, 2012 $1,396 $ 1,910 $ 3,257 $ 909 $ 111 $ 422 $ 163 $8,168
Charge-offs (51 ) (33 ) (592 ) --- --- (40 ) --- (716 )
Recoveries --- --- --- 1 --- 23 --- 24
Provision for loan losses (158 ) 95 872 (46 ) 34 (5 ) (14 ) 778
Balance, September 30,
2012 $1,187 $ 1,972 $ 3,537 $ 864 $ 145 $ 400 $ 149 $8,254

13
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Activity in the Allowance for Loan Losses for the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2012

Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and
IDA

Consumer
Non Real
Estate

UnallocatedTotal

Balance, December 31,
2011 $1,079 $ 1,245 $ 3,515 $ 1,473 $ 232 $ 403 $ 121 $8,068

Charge-offs (640 ) (278 ) (1,329 ) (5 ) --- (192 ) --- (2,444)
Recoveries 13 2 --- 2 --- 59 --- 76
Provision for loan losses 735 1,003 1,351 (606 ) (87 ) 130 28 2,554
Balance, September 30,
2012 $1,187 $ 1,972 $ 3,537 $ 864 $ 145 $ 400 $ 149 $8,254

Allowance for Loan Losses as of September 30, 2013

Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and
IDA

Consumer
Non
Real
Estate

UnallocatedTotal

Individually evaluated for
impairment $--- $ 11 $ 617 $ 3 $ --- $ --- $ --- $631

Collectively evaluated for
impairment 1,021 1,873 2,973 1,000 105 407 80 7,459

Total $1,021 $ 1,884 $ 3,590 $ 1,003 $ 105 $ 407 $ 80 $8,090

Allowance for Loan Losses as of December 31, 2012

Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and
IDA

Consumer
Non
Real
Estate

UnallocatedTotal

Individually evaluated for
impairment $--- $ 43 $ 273 $ 231 $ --- $ 7 $ --- $554

Collectively evaluated for
impairment 1,070 2,220 3,169 728 142 417 49 7,795

Total $1,070 $ 2,263 $ 3,442 $ 959 $ 142 $ 424 $ 49 $8,349

Loans as of September 30, 2013

Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and
IDA

Consumer
Non Real
Estate

UnallocatedTotal

Individually evaluated
for impairment $2,992 $1,199 $ 12,719 $ 112 $--- $ 24 $ --- $17,046

Collectively evaluated
for impairment 52,030 145,248 289,171 31,217 28,332 28,508 --- 574,506
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Total loans $55,022 $146,447 $ 301,890 $ 31,329 $28,332 $ 28,532 $ --- $591,552

Loans as of December 31, 2012

Real
Estate
Construction

Consumer
Real
Estate

Commercial
Real
Estate

Commercial
Non Real
Estate

Public
Sector
and
IDA

Consumer
Non Real
Estate

UnallocatedTotal

Individually evaluated
for impairment $6,643 $864 $ 10,329 $ 574 $--- $ 46 $ --- $18,456

Collectively evaluated
for impairment 43,670 142,398 293,979 36,775 26,169 31,668 --- 574,659

Total $50,313 $143,262 $ 304,308 $ 37,349 $26,169 $ 31,714 $ --- $593,115

14
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A summary of ratios for the allowance for loan losses follows.

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,

Year
Ended

December
31,

2013 2012 2012
Ratio of allowance for loan losses to the end of period loans, net of unearned income
and deferred fees

1.37
%

1.40
% 1.41 %

Ratio of net charge-offs to average loans, net of unearned income and deferred fees(1) 0.36
%

0.54
% 0.49 %

(1)Net charge-offs are on an annualized basis.

A summary of nonperforming assets follows.

September 30, December 31,
2013 2012 2012

Nonperforming assets:
Nonaccrual loans $ 10,194 $ 3,876 $ 10,870
Restructured loans in nonaccrual 1,042 2,254 2,151
Total nonperforming loans 11,236 6,130 13,021
Other real estate owned, net 973 1,894 1,435
Total nonperforming assets $ 12,209 $ 8,024 $ 14,456
Ratio of nonperforming assets to loans, net of
unearned income and deferred fees, plus other real
estate owned

2.06 % 1.35 % 2.44 %

Ratio of allowance for loan losses to
nonperforming loans(1) 72.00 % 134.65 % 64.12 %

(1)     The Company defines nonperforming loans as nonaccrual loans. Loans 90 days or more past due and still
accruing and accruing restructured loans are excluded.

A summary of loans past due 90 days or more and impaired loans follows.

September 30, December 31,
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2013 2012 2012
Loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing $ 149 $ 114 $ 170
Ratio of loans past due 90 days or more and still
accruing to loans, net of unearned income and
deferred fees

0.03 % 0.02 % 0.03 %

Accruing restructured loans $ 6,545 $ 2,021 $ 2,005
Impaired loans:
Impaired loans with no valuation allowance $ 14,874 $ 11,063 $ 16,974
Impaired loans with a valuation allowance 2,172 902 1,482
Total impaired loans $ 17,046 $ 11,965 $ 18,456
Valuation allowance (631 ) (327 ) (554 )
Impaired loans, net of allowance $ 16,415 $ 11,638 $ 17,902
Average recorded investment in impaired loans(1) $ 17,357 $ 13,831 $ 13,540
Interest income recognized on impaired loans, after
designation as impaired $ 159 $ 292 $ 9

Amount of income recognized on a cash basis $ --- $ --- $ ---

(1)      Recorded investment includes principal, accrued interest and net deferred fees.
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Nonaccrual loans that meet the Company’s balance threshold of $250 and TDRs are designated as impaired. No
interest income was recognized on nonaccrual loans for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 or September 30,
2012 or for the year ended December 31, 2012.

A detailed analysis of investment in impaired loans, associated reserves and interest income recognized, segregated by
loan class follows.     

Impaired Loans as of September 30, 2013

Principal
Balance

(A)

Total
Recorded
Investment(1)

Recorded
Investment(1)
in (A) for
Which
There is No
Related
Allowance

Recorded
Investment(1)
in (A) for
Which
There is a
Related
Allowance

Related
Allowance

Real Estate Construction
Construction, residential $123 $ 118 $ 118 $ --- $ ---
Construction, other 2,869 2,854 2,854 --- ---
Consumer Real Estate
Equity lines --- --- --- --- ---
Residential closed-end first liens 760 762 214 548 4
Residential closed-end junior liens 310 312 48 264 7
Investor-owned residential real estate 129 131 131 --- ---
Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily real estate 3,970 3,967 3,967 --- ---
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied 5,271 5,274 3,713 1,561 617
Commercial real estate, other 3,478 3,478 3,478 --- ---
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 112 112 4 108 3
Public Sector and IDA
Public sector and IDA --- --- --- --- ---
Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards --- --- --- --- ---
Automobile 24 24 24 --- ---
Other consumer loans --- --- --- --- ---
Total $17,046 $ 17,032 $ 14,551 $ 2,481 $ 631

(1)     Recorded investment includes the unpaid principal balance and any accrued interest and net deferred fees.
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Impaired Loans as of December 31, 2012

Principal
Balance

(A)

Total
Recorded
Investment(1)

Recorded
Investment(1)
in (A) for
Which
There is No
Related
Allowance

Recorded
Investment(1)
in (A) for
Which
There is a
Related
Allowance

Related
Allowance

Real Estate Construction
Construction, residential $123 $ 118 $ 118 $ --- $ ---
Construction, other 6,520 6,487 6,487 --- ---

Consumer Real Estate
Equity lines --- --- --- --- ---
Residential closed-end first liens 783 785 634 151 43
Residential closed-end junior liens 81 81 81 --- ---

Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily real estate 5,284 5,288 5,288 --- ---
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied 5,045 5,043 4,293 750 273
Commercial real estate, other --- --- --- --- ---

Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 574 574 39 535 231

Public Sector and IDA
Public sector and IDA --- --- --- --- ---

Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards --- --- --- --- ---
Automobile 46 46 --- 46 7
Other consumer loans --- --- --- --- ---
Total $18,456 $ 18,422 $ 16,940 $ 1,482 $ 554

(1)     Recorded investment includes the unpaid principal balance, accrued interest and any accrued interest and deferred
fees.
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The following tables show the average investment and interest income recognized for impaired loans.

Average Investment and Interest Income for
Impaired Loans
For the Three
Months Ended
September 30, 2013

For the Nine Months
Ended September 30,
2013

Average
Recorded
Investment(1)

Interest
Income
Recognized

Average
Recorded
Investment(1)

Interest
Income
Recognized

Real Estate Construction
Construction, residential $118 $ --- $118 $ ---
Construction, other 3,005 --- 3,005 ---
Consumer Real Estate
Equity lines --- --- --- ---
Residential closed-end first liens 863 2 729 4
Residential closed-end junior liens 410 2 238 2
Investor-owned residential real estate 131 2 100 4
Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily real estate 4,133 --- 4,189 ---
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied 5,424 28 5,073 82
Commercial real estate, other 3,489 22 3,492 65
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and industrial 138 1 380 2
Public Sector and IDA
Public sector and IDA --- --- --- ---
Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards --- --- --- ---
Automobile 26 --- 33 ---
Other consumer --- --- --- ---
Total $17,737 $ 57 $17,357 $ 159

(1)     Recorded investment includes the unpaid principal balance and any accrued interest and net deferred fees.
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Average Investment
and Interest Income
for Impaired Loans
For the Year Ended

December 31, 2012
Average
Recorded
Investment(1)

Interest
Income
Recognized

Real Estate Construction
Construction, residential $1,171 $ ---
Construction, other 4,290 1

Commercial Real Estate
Equity lines 101 ---
Residential closed-end first liens 873 2
Residential closed-end junior liens 234 ---

Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily real estate 1,466 5
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied 4,806 1
Commercial real estate, other --- ---

Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 570 ---

Public Sector and IDA
Public sector and IDA --- ---

Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards --- ---
Automobile 4 ---
Other consumer 25 ---
Total $13,540 $ 9

(1)Recorded investment includes the unpaid principal balance and any accrued interest and deferred fees.
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The Company reviews nonaccrual loans on an individual loan basis to determine whether future payments are
reasonably assured. To satisfy this criteria, the Company’s evaluation must determine that the underlying cause of the
original delinquency or weakness that indicated nonaccrual status has been resolved, such as receipt of new
guarantees, increased cash flows that cover the debt service or other resolution. Nonaccrual loans that demonstrate
reasonable assurance of future payments and that have made at least six consecutive payments in accordance with
repayment terms and timeframes may be returned to accrual status.

A restructured loan for which impairment measurement does not indicate a loss and that maintains current status for at
least six months may be returned to accrual status.

An analysis of past due and nonaccrual loans as of September 30, 2013 follows.

30 – 89

Days
Past
Due

90 or
More

Days
Past
Due

90 or
More

Days Past
Due

and Still
Accruing

Nonaccruals
(Including

Impaired
Nonaccruals)

Real Estate Construction
Construction, residential $--- $123 $ --- $ 123
Construction, other 46 2,869 --- 2,869
Consumer Real Estate
Equity lines 5 --- --- ---
Residential closed-end first liens 1,045 338 146 447
Residential closed-end junior liens 54 77 --- 78
Investor-owned residential real estate 170 53 --- 52
Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily real estate 433 3,278 --- 3,970
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied 573 3,540 --- 3,540
Commercial real estate, other 35 --- --- ---
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 182 43 --- 133
Public Sector and IDA
Public sector and IDA --- --- --- ---
Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards 20 2 2 ---
Automobile 190 24 1 24
Other consumer loans 61 --- --- ---
Total $2,814 $10,347 $ 149 $ 11,236
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An analysis of past due and nonaccrual loans follows.

December 31, 2012

30 – 89

Days
Past

Due

90 or
More

Days
Past
Due

90 or
More

Days
Past Due

and Still

Accruing

Nonaccruals
(Including

Impaired
Nonaccruals)

Real Estate Construction
Construction, residential $--- $123 $ --- $ 123
Construction, other 31 89 --- 3,109

Consumer Real Estate
Equity lines 22 30 30 98
Residential closed-end first liens 1,507 605 126 801
Residential closed-end junior liens 121 39 --- 120

Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily real estate 671 261 --- 4,624
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied 1,113 --- --- 3,536
Commercial real estate, other 40 2,089 --- ---

Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 291 505 --- 561

Public Sector and IDA
Public sector and IDA --- --- --- ---

Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards 20 4 4 ---
Automobile 142 10 10 49
Other consumer loans 132 --- --- ---
Total $4,090 $3,755 $ 170 $ 13,021

The estimate of credit risk for non-impaired loans is obtained by applying allocations for internal and external factors.
The allocations are increased for loans that exhibit greater credit quality risk.

Credit quality indicators, which the Company terms risk grades, are assigned through the Company’s credit review
function for larger loans and selective review of loans that fall below credit review thresholds. Loans that do not
indicate heightened risk are graded as “pass.” Loans that appear to have elevated credit risk because of frequent or
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persistent past due status, which is less than 75 days, or that show weakness in the borrower’s financial condition are
risk graded “special mention.” Loans with frequent or persistent delinquency exceeding 75 days or that have a higher
level of weakness in the borrower’s financial condition are graded “classified.” Classified loans have regulatory risk
ratings of “substandard” and “doubtful.” Allocations are increased by 50% and by 100% for loans with grades of “special
mention” and “classified,” respectively.

Determination of risk grades was completed for the portfolio as of September 30, 2013 and 2012 and December 31,
2012.
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The following displays collectively-evaluated loans by credit quality indicator.

September 30, 2013

Pass
Special

Mention

Classified

(Excluding
Impaired)

Real Estate Construction
Construction, 1-4 family residential $17,451 $ 158 $ ---
Construction, other 34,375 30 16
Consumer Real Estate
Equity lines 16,289 33 ---
Closed-end first liens 81,171 1,446 1,605
Closed-end junior liens 4,856 166 35
Investor-owned residential real estate 39,550 --- 97
Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily residential real estate 64,940 305 752
Commercial real estate owner-occupied 126,418 2,501 679
Commercial real estate, other 89,525 964 3,087
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 30,070 916 231
Public Sector and IDA
States and political subdivisions 28,332 --- ---
Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards 7,054 --- ---
Automobile 11,964 217 5
Other consumer 9,215 53 ---
Total $561,210 $ 6,789 $ 6,507
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The following displays collectively-evaluated loans by credit quality indicator.

December 31, 2012

Pass
Special

Mention

Classified

(Excluding

Impaired)
Real Estate Construction
Construction, 1-4 family residential $14,344 $ 158 $ ---
Construction, other 29,011 --- 120

Consumer Real Estate
Equity lines 17,742 100 182
Closed-end first liens 113,893 652 2,413
Closed-end junior liens 6,713 119 138

Commercial Real Estate
Multifamily residential real estate 36,421 --- 324
Commercial real estate owner-occupied 160,188 253 1,079
Commercial real estate, other 92,628 3,112 ---

Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 36,372 99 318

Public Sector and IDA
States and political subdivisions 26,170 --- ---

Consumer Non Real Estate
Credit cards 6,690 --- ---
Automobile 12,344 101 56
Other consumer 11,815 45 105
Total $564,331 $ 4,639 $ 4,735

Sales, Purchases and Reclassification of Loans

The Company finances mortgages under “best efforts” contracts with mortgage purchasers. The mortgages are
designated as held for sale upon initiation. There have been no major reclassifications from portfolio loans to held for
sale. Occasionally, the Company purchases or sells participations in loans. All participation loans purchased met the
Company’s normal underwriting standards at the time the participation was entered. Participation loans are included in
the appropriate portfolio balances to which the allowance methodology is applied.

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 121



23

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 122



Troubled Debt Restructurings

The Company modifies loans in troubled debt restructurings. Total troubled debt restructurings amounted to $7,587 at
September 30, 2013, $4,246 at December 31, 2012, and $4,275 at September 30, 2012. The following tables present
restructurings by class that occurred during three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2013, and the three and
nine month periods ended September 30, 2012.

Note: Only classes with restructured loans are presented.

Restructurings That Occurred During the Three
Months Ended

September 30, 2013

Number
of

Contracts

Pre-Modification
Outstanding
Principal
Balance

Post-

Modification
Outstanding
Principal
Balance

Impairment

Accrued

Consumer Real Estate
Residential closed-end first liens 1 $ 241 $ 309 $ ---
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and industrial 1 32 45 1
Total 2 $ 273 $ 354 $ 1

The loans restructured during the three months ended September 30, 2013 were designated and reported as troubled
debt restructures in previous quarters. The loans received additional modifications during the third quarter of 2013,
transitioning payments from interest-only to amortizing, and capitalizing accrued interest. The interest rate for the
consumer real estate loan remained unchanged, while the interest rate for the commercial non real estate loan
decreased.

Restructurings That Occurred During the Nine
Months Ended

September 30, 2013
Number
of

Contracts

Pre-Modification
Outstanding
Principal
Balance

Post-Modification
Outstanding
Principal Balance

Impairment

Accrued
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Consumer Real Estate
Residential closed-end first liens 2 $ 453 $ 525 $ 3
Residential closed-end junior liens 1 262 267 7
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial real estate, owner-occupied 1 154 239 ---
Commercial real estate, other 1 3,500 3,500 ---
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and industrial 1 32 45 1
Total 6 $ 4,401 $ 4,576 $ 11

The modifications that resulted in troubled debt restructurings between January 1, 2013 and September 30, 2013
provided payment relief to the borrowers without forgiveness of principal or accrued interest. The date of conversion
from interest-only to amortizing payments for one commercial real estate loan was extended beyond the date specified
by the contract, resulting in designation as a troubled debt restructuring. During the second quarter of 2013, the loan
was converted to amortizing payments and moved from Real Estate Construction to Commercial Real Estate. The
other commercial real estate loan was modified to extend the term, lower the interest rate and provide debt
consolidation to allow the borrower increased debt service ability. The modifications of the consumer real estate loans
capitalized accrued interest and for one loan reduced the interest rate, while the other loan transitioned from
interest-only payments to amortizing payments. The term for one consumer real estate loan was shortened, resulting in
a higher payment, while the term for the other consumer real estate loan was lengthened, resulting in a lower payment.
The interest rate for the commercial non real estate loan decreased, the balance increased to capitalize accrued interest
and the payment was changed from interest-only to amortizing.
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Restructurings That Occurred During
the Three Months Ended

September 30, 2012
Number
of

Contracts

Pre-Modification
Outstanding
Principal
Balance

Post-Modification
Outstanding
Principal Balance

Consumer Real Estate
Residential closed-end first liens 1 $ 38 $ 38
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial real estate, owner occupied 1 193 193
Total 2 $ 231 $ 231

Restructurings That Occurred During
the Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2012
Number
of

Contracts

Pre-Modification
Outstanding
Principal
Balance

Post-Modification
Outstanding
Principal Balance

Consumer Real Estate
Residential closed-end first liens 5 $ 383 $ 402
Residential closed-end junior liens 1 143 147
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial real estate, owner occupied 3 890 895
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial 1 400 400
Total 10 $ 1,816 $ 1,844

Loans modified in troubled debt restructurings during the three months ended September 30, 2012 received
non-financial underwriting exceptions that reduced payments by changing maturities or amortization structures. The
troubled debt restructurings for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 included partial charge offs of $109 for
two consumer real estate loans; providing payment relief primarily by extending maturity dates or changing
amortization structures without reducing interest rates or amounts owed; and adding a co-borrower to one consumer
real estate loan. Restructured loans are designated impaired and measured for impairment. Collateral dependent
restructured loans are measured using the fair value of collateral. Non-collateral dependent restructured loans are
measured using the present value of cash flows. The impairment measurement resulted in no specific allocations for
loans modified during the three months ended September 30, 2012 and $220 for loans modified during the nine
months ended September 30, 2012.
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The following tables present restructured loans that defaulted during the three and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2013 and the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2012, and that were modified within
12 months prior to default. The Company defines default as one or more payments that occur more than 90 days past
the due date, or charge-offs after the date of restructuring.

Restructured Loans That Defaulted

And Were Modified Within 12 Months Prior to Default
Default During the 3
Month Period Ended

September 30, 2013

Default During the 9 Month
Period Ended

September 30, 2013
Number
of

Contracts

Principal

Balance

Impairment

Accrued

Number
of

Contracts

Principal

Balance

Impairment

Accrued

Consumer Real Estate
Residential closed-end first liens 1 $ 26 $ 1 1 $ 26 $ 1
Residential closed-end junior liens 1 47 --- 1 47 ---
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial real estate owner-occupied 2 664 352 3 857 352
Commercial Non Real Estate
Commercial and industrial 1 137 --- 1 137 ---
Total 5 $ 874 $ 353 6 $ 1,067 $ 353

Restructured loans are individually evaluated for impairment. The fair value measurements for most of the
restructured loans that defaulted during the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2013 were
based upon the fair value of collateral and as such were not significantly affected by the default. One of the
commercial real estate restructurings that defaulted during the three months ended September 31, 2013 was measured
using the present value of cash flows, resulting in an impairment allocation of $352. In previous quarters, no
allocation was recognized. One of the commercial real estate loans that defaulted in the first quarter of 2013 was
placed into other real estate owned, and the commercial non real estate loan was partially paid off by the borrower,
with the remainder of the principal charged against the allowance for loan losses. All of the restructurings that
defaulted during the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2013 and that remain active loans are
in nonaccrual status.

Restructured Loans That Defaulted

And Were Modified Within 12 Months Prior to Default
Default During the 3
Month Period Ended

Default During the 9 Month
Period Ended
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September 30, 2012 September 30, 2012
Number
of

Contracts

Principal

Balance

Impairment

Accrued

Number
of

Contracts

Principal

Balance

Impairment

Accrued

Consumer Real Estate
Residential closed-end first liens 1 $ 96 $ --- 1 $ 96 $ ---
Residential closed-end junior liens 1 84 --- 1 84 ---
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial real estate owner-occupied 2 861 21 2 861 21
Total 4 $ 1,041 $ 21 4 $ 1,041 $ 21

The fair value measurements for all of the restructured loans that defaulted during the three-month and nine-month
periods ended September 30, 2012 were measured using the fair value of collateral and as such, were not significantly
affected by the payment default. All were maintained on nonaccrual status as of September 30, 2012.
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Note 5: Securities

The amortized costs, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair values for securities available for sale by
major security type are as follows.

September 30, 2013

Amortized

Costs

Gross

Unrealized

Gains

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

Fair

Values

Available for Sale:
U.S. Treasury $2,001 $ 11 $ --- $2,012
U.S. Government agencies 169,815 253 17,925 152,143
Mortgage-backed securities 2,919 234 --- 3,153
States and political subdivisions 23,742 785 123 24,404
Corporate 8,805 113 541 8,377
Other securities 2,151 --- 15 2,136
Total $209,433 $ 1,396 $ 18,604 $192,225

December 31, 2012

Amortized

Costs

Gross

Unrealized

Gains

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

Fair

Values

Available for Sale:
U.S. Treasury $2,005 $ 68 $ --- $2,073
U.S. Government agencies 128,805 1,381 622 129,564
Mortgage-backed securities 4,202 367 --- 4,569
States and political subdivisions 35,029 1,753 3 36,779
Corporate 14,207 368 --- 14,575
Other securities 2,419 9 173 2,255
Total $186,667 $ 3,946 $ 798 $189,815
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The amortized costs, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair values for securities held to maturity by
major security type are as follows.

September 30, 2013

Amortized
Costs

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Values

Held to Maturity:
U.S. Government agencies $13,977 $ 315 $ 1,025 $13,267
Mortgage-backed securities 547 55 --- 602
States and political subdivisions 150,228 3,158 6,579 146,807
Total $164,752 $ 3,528 $ 7,604 $160,676

December 31, 2012

Amortized
Costs

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Values

Held to Maturity:
U.S. Government agencies $7,988 $ 563 $ --- $8,551
Mortgage-backed securities 691 73 --- 764
States and political subdivisions 151,209 9,880 216 160,873
Corporate 651 7 --- 658
Total $160,539 $ 10,523 $ 216 $170,846

Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses aggregated by investment category and length of time
that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, follows.

September 30, 2013
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More
Fair
Value

Unrealized
Loss

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Loss

Temporarily Impaired Securities:
U.S. Government agencies $156,170 $ 18,542 $2,608 $ 408
States and political subdivisions 57,677 6,593 850 109
Corporate 5,477 541 --- ---
Other securities --- --- 174 15
Total $219,324 $ 25,676 $3,632 $ 532

December 31, 2012
Less Than 12
Months

12 Months or
More
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Fair

Value

Unrealized
Loss

Fair

Value

Unrealized
Loss

Temporarily Impaired Securities:
U.S. Government agencies $44,351 $ 622 $--- $ ---
States and political subdivisions 9,358 216 482 3
Other securities --- --- 133 172
Total $53,709 $ 838 $615 $ 175
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The Company had 278 securities with a fair value of $222,956 which were temporarily impaired at September 30,
2013.  The total unrealized loss on these securities was $26,208. Of the temporarily impaired total, five securities with
a fair value of $3,632 and an unrealized loss of $532 have been in a continuous loss position for twelve months or
more. The Company has determined that these securities are temporarily impaired at September 30, 2013 for the
reasons set out below.

U.S. Government agencies. The unrealized losses in this category of investments were caused by interest rate and
market fluctuations. The contractual terms of the investments do not permit the issuer to settle the securities at a price
less than the cost basis of each investment. The Company is monitoring bond market trends and developing strategies
to address unrealized losses. At this time the unrealized losses are not considered to be other-than-temporarily
impaired.

States and political subdivisions. This category’s unrealized losses are primarily the result of interest rate and market
fluctuations. The contractual terms of the investments do not permit the issuer to settle the securities at a price less
than the cost basis of each investment. Because the Company does not intend to sell any of the investments and it is
not likely that the Company will be required to sell any of the investments before recovery of its amortized cost basis,
which may be at maturity, the Company does not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired.

Corporate. The Company’s unrealized losses in corporate debt securities are related to interest rate and market
fluctuations. The contractual terms of the investments do not permit the issuer to settle the securities at a price less
than the cost basis of each investment. Because the Company does not intend to sell any of the investments before
recovery of its amortized cost basis, which may be at maturity, the Company does not consider these investments to be
other-than-temporarily impaired.

Other securities. The Company holds an investment in an LLC and a small amount of community bank stock. The
value of these investments has been negatively affected by market conditions. Because the Company does not intend
to sell these investments before recovery of amortized cost basis, the Company does not consider these investments to
be other-than-temporarily impaired.

As a member of the Federal Reserve and the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of Atlanta, NBB is required to
maintain certain minimum investments in the common stock of those entities. Required levels of investment are based
upon NBB’s capital and a percentage of qualifying assets. In addition, NBB is eligible to borrow from the FHLB with
borrowings collateralized by qualifying assets, primarily residential mortgage loans and NBB’s capital stock
investment in the FHLB. Redemption of FHLB stock is subject to certain limitations and conditions. At its discretion,
the FHLB may declare dividends on the stock. Management reviews for impairment based upon the ultimate
recoverability of the cost basis of the FHLB stock, and at September 30, 2013, management did not consider there to
be any impairment.

Management regularly monitors the credit quality of the investment portfolio. Changes in ratings are noted and
follow-up research on the issuer is undertaken when warranted. Management intends to carefully follow any changes
in bond quality.

Note 6: Recent Accounting Pronouncements
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In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11, “Balance Sheet (Topic 210) – Disclosures about Offsetting Assets
and Liabilities.” This ASU requires entities to disclose both gross information and net information about both
instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the balance sheet and instruments and transactions subject to an
agreement similar to a master netting arrangement. An entity is required to apply the amendments for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those annual periods. An entity should
provide the disclosures required by those amendments retrospectively for all comparative periods presented. The
adoption of the new guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Indefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairment.” The amendments in this ASU apply to all entities that have indefinite-lived
intangible assets, other than goodwill, reported in their financial statements. The amendments in this ASU provide an
entity with the option to make a qualitative assessment about the likelihood that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is
impaired to determine whether it should perform a quantitative impairment test. The amendments also enhance the
consistency of impairment testing guidance among long-lived asset categories by permitting an entity to assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to calculate the asset’s fair value when testing an
indefinite-lived intangible asset for impairment. The amendments are effective for annual and interim impairment tests
performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of the new
guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In January 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-01, “Balance Sheet (Topic 210): Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures
about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities.” The amendments in this ASU clarify the scope for derivatives accounted for in
accordance with Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, including bifurcated embedded derivatives, repurchase
agreements and reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions that are
either offset or subject to netting arrangements. An entity is required to apply the amendments for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those years, beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The adoption of the new guidance did not
have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of Amounts
Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.” The amendments in this ASU require an entity to
present (either on the face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes) the effects on the line items
of net income of significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income. In addition, the
amendments require a cross-reference to other disclosures currently required for other reclassification items to be
reclassified directly to net income in their entirety in the same reporting period. Companies should apply these
amendments for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after December 15, 2012. The
Company has included the required disclosures from ASU 2013-02 in the consolidated financial statements.
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In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-10, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the Fed Funds
Effective Swap Rate (or Overnight Index Swap Rate) as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes.”
The amendments in this ASU permit the Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate (also referred to as the Overnight Index
Swap Rate) to be used as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for hedge accounting purposes under Topic 815, in addition
to interest rates on direct Treasury obligations of the U.S. government and the London Interbank Offered Rate. The
amendments also remove the restriction on using different benchmark rates for similar hedges. The amendments apply
to all entities that elect to apply hedge accounting of the benchmark interest rate under Topic 815. The amendments
are effective prospectively for qualifying new or redesignated hedging relationships entered into on or after July 17,
2013. The adoption of the new guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax
Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists.” The
amendments in this Update provide guidance on the financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit
when a net operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss, or tax credit carryforward exists. An unrecognized tax
benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, should be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a
deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward, except as
follows. To the extent a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not available
at the reporting date under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction to settle any additional income taxes that would
result from the disallowance of a tax position or the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction does not require the entity to
use, and the entity does not intend to use, the deferred tax asset for such purpose, the unrecognized tax benefit should
be presented in the financial statements as a liability and should not be combined with deferred tax assets. The
amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied prospectively to all unrecognized
tax benefits that exist at the effective date. Retrospective application is permitted. The adoption of the new guidance
did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Note 7: Defined Benefit Plan

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Pension
Benefits
Nine Months
Ended
September
30,
2013 2012

Service cost $447 $351
Interest cost 462 555
Expected return on plan assets (738) (807)
Amortization of prior service cost (75 ) (75 )
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Recognized net actuarial loss 399 381
Net Periodic Benefit Cost $495 $405

2013 Plan Year Employer Contribution

Without considering the prefunding balance, the Company’s minimum required contribution to the National
Bankshares, Inc. Retirement Income Plan (the “Plan”) is $815. Considering the prefunding balance, the 2013 minimum
required contribution is $0. The Company elected to contribute $519 to the Plan during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013.
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Note 8: Fair Value Measurements

The Company records fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and determines fair value disclosures
utilizing a definition of fair value of assets and liabilities that states that fair value is an exit price, representing the
amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. Additional considerations come into play in determining the fair value of assets in markets that are not
active.

The Company uses a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while
unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy based on
these two types of inputs are as follows:

Level
1 – Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level
2 –

Valuation is based on observable inputs including quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and
liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in less active markets, and model-based
valuation techniques for which significant assumptions can be derived primarily from or corroborated by
observable data in the market.

Level
3 – 

Valuation is based on model-based techniques that use one or more significant inputs or assumptions that are
unobservable in the market.

The following describes the valuation techniques used by the Company to measure certain assets and liabilities
recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the financial statements.

Securities Available for Sale

Securities available for sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value measurement is based upon
quoted market prices, when available (Level 1). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are measured
utilizing independent valuation techniques of identical or similar securities for which significant assumptions are
derived primarily from or corroborated by observable market data. Third party vendors compile prices from various
sources and may determine the fair value of identical or similar securities by using pricing models that consider
observable market data (Level 2). The carrying value of restricted Federal Reserve Bank and Federal Home Loan
Bank stock approximates fair value based upon the redemption provisions of each entity and is therefore excluded
from the following table.

The following table presents the balances of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
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Fair Value Measurements at
September 30, 2013 Using

Description

Balance as
of
September
30, 2013

Quoted
Prices
in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
(Level
1)

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

U.S. Treasury $ 2,012 $--- $ 2,012 $ ---
U.S. Government agencies 152,143 --- 152,143 ---
States and political subdivisions 24,404 --- 24,404 ---
Mortgage-backed securities 3,153 --- 3,153 ---
Corporate 8,377 --- 8,377 ---
Other securities 2,136 --- 2,136 ---
Total Securities Available for Sale $ 192,225 $--- $ 192,225 $ ---
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Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2012 Using

Description

Balance
as of
December
31,
2012

Quoted
Prices
in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
(Level
1)

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

U.S. Treasury $ 2,073 $--- $ 2,073 $ ---
U.S. Government agencies 129,564 --- 129,564 ---
States and political subdivisions 36,779 --- 36,779 ---
Mortgage-backed securities 4,569 --- 4,569 ---
Corporate 14,575 --- 14,575 ---
Other securities 2,255 --- 2,255 ---
Total Securities Available for Sale $ 189,815 $--- $ 189,815 $ ---

Certain assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with GAAP. Adjustments to the fair
value of these assets usually result from the application of lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or write-downs of
individual assets.

The following describes the valuation techniques used by the Company to measure certain assets recorded at fair value
on a nonrecurring basis in the financial statements.

Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or market value. These loans currently consist of one-to-four family
residential loans originated for sale in the secondary market. Fair value is based on the price secondary markets are
currently offering for similar loans using observable market data which is not materially different than cost due to the
short duration between origination and sale (Level 2). As such, the Company records any fair value adjustments on a
nonrecurring basis. No nonrecurring fair value adjustments were recorded on loans held for sale at September 30,
2013 or December 31, 2012. Gains and losses on the sale of loans are recorded within income from mortgage banking
on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Impaired Loans
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Loans are designated as impaired when, in the judgment of management based on current information and events, it is
probable that the Company will be unable to collect all the contractual interest and principal payments as scheduled in
the loan agreement. Troubled debt restructurings are impaired loans. The measurement of loss associated with
impaired loans may be based on either the observable market price of the loan, the present value of the expected cash
flows or the fair value of the collateral. Collateral may be in the form of real estate or business assets including
equipment, inventory, and accounts receivable. The vast majority of the collateral is real estate. The value of real
estate collateral is determined utilizing an income or market valuation approach based on an appraisal conducted by an
independent, licensed appraiser outside of the Company using observable market data (Level 2). However, if the
collateral is a house or building in the process of construction, if an appraisal of the real estate property is over 12
months old or if the real estate market is considered by management to be experiencing volatility, then the fair value is
considered Level 3. The value of business equipment is based upon an outside appraisal using observable market data,
if the collateral is deemed significant. If the collateral is not deemed significant, the value of business equipment is
based on the net book value on the borrower’s financial statements. Likewise, values for inventory and accounts
receivables collateral are based on the borrower’s financial statement balances or aging reports (Level 3). Estimated
losses on impaired loans allocated to the allowance for loan losses are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.
Any fair value adjustments are recorded in the period incurred as provision for loan losses on the Consolidated
Statements of Income.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s impaired loans that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring
basis at September 30, 2013 and at December 31, 2012.

Carrying Value

Date Description Balance

Quoted
Prices
in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
(Level
1)

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
September 30, 2013 Impaired loans net of valuation allowance $ 1,541 $--- $ --- $ 1,541
December 31, 2012 Impaired loans net of valuation allowance 928 --- --- 928

Impaired loans are measured quarterly for impairment. The Company employs the most applicable valuation method
for each loan based on current information at the time of valuation.

The following tables present information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements for September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012.

September 30, 2013 Valuation Technique Unobservable Input
Range

(Weighted Average)

Impaired loans Discounted appraised
value Selling cost 10.00%(1)

Impaired loans Present value of cash
flows Discount rate  6.25% - 9.50% (6.75%)

(1)     Of the Company’s impaired loans with specific allocations based on Level 3 inputs, both loans valued using fair
value of collateral utilized the same discount rate.

December 31, 2012 Valuation Technique Unobservable Input Range
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(Weighted Average)

Impaired loans Discounted appraised
value Selling cost  0%  - 10.00%(2.00%)

Impaired loans Discounted appraised
value

Discount for lack of
marketability and age
of appraisal

 0%  - 60.00%(52.00%)

Impaired loans Present value of cash
flows Discount rate  6.00%  - 7.50% (6.28%)

Other Real Estate Owned

Other real estate owned are real estate assets acquired in full or partial satisfaction of a loan. At acquisition, other real
estate owned assets are measured at fair value. If the assets are marketed for sale by an outside party, the
acquisition-date fair value is discounted by selling costs; if the assets are marketed for sale by the Company, no
reduction to fair value for selling costs is made. Subsequent to acquisition, the assets are measured at the lower of
initial measurement or current fair value, discounted for selling costs as appropriate.

The fair value of an other real estate owned asset is determined by an income or market valuation approach based on
an appraisal conducted by an independent, licensed appraiser outside of the Company using observable market data
(Level 2). If the appraisal is discounted either for age or because management considers the real estate market to be
experiencing volatility, then the fair value is considered Level 3. Discounts for selling costs also result in
measurement based on Level 3 inputs. Fair value adjustments are measured on a nonrecurring basis and are recorded
in the period incurred as valuation allowances to other real estate owned, and expensed through noninterest expense.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s other real estate owned that was measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis.

Carrying Value

Date Description Balance

Quoted
Prices
in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
(Level
1)

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
September 30, 2013Other real estate owned net of valuation allowance $ 973 $--- $ --- $ 973
December 31, 2012 Other real estate owned net of valuation allowance 1,435 --- --- 1,435

The following tables present information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements for September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012.

September 30, 2013 Valuation Technique Unobservable Input
Range

(Weighted Average)

Other real estate owned Discounted appraised
value Selling cost  0.00%(1) – 9.95% 2.99%)

Other real estate owned Discounted appraised
value

Discount for lack of marketability
and age of appraisal   0.00% – 20.71% (3.48%)

December 31, 2012 Valuation Technique Unobservable Input
Range

(Weighted Average)

Other real estate owned Discounted appraisedvalue Selling cost  0.00%(1) – 6.00% (4.30%)

Other real estate owned Discounted appraisedvalue

Discount for lack of
marketability and age of
appraisal

 0.00% – 30.90%(4.68%)

(1)      The Company markets other real estate owned both independently and with local realtors. Properties marketed by
realtors are discounted by selling costs. Properties that the Company markets independently are not discounted by
selling costs.
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The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair value disclosures for financial
instruments.

Cash and Due from Banks and Interest-Bearing Deposits

The carrying amounts approximate fair value.

Securities

The fair value of securities, excluding restricted stock, is determined by quoted market prices or dealer quotes. The
fair value of certain state and municipal securities is not readily available through market sources other than dealer
quotations, so fair value estimates are based on quoted market prices of similar instruments adjusted for differences
between the quoted instruments and the instruments being valued. The carrying value of restricted securities
approximates fair value based upon the redemption provisions of the applicable entities.

Loans Held for Sale

The fair value of loans held for sale is based on commitments on hand from investors or prevailing market prices.
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Loans

Fair value for the loan portfolio is estimated on an account-level basis by discounting scheduled cash flows through
the projected maturity for each loan. The calculation applies estimated market discount rates that reflect the credit and
interest rate risk inherent in the loan. The estimate of maturity is based on the Company’s historical experience with
repayments for loan classification, modified by an estimate of the effect of economic conditions on lending.

Impaired loans are individually evaluated for fair value. Fair value for the Company’s impaired loans is estimated by
using either discounted cash flows or the appraised value of collateral. Any amount of principal balance that exceeds
fair value is accrued in the allowance for loan losses. Assumptions regarding credit risk, cash flows and discount rates
are determined within management’s judgment, using available market information and specific borrower information.
Discount rates for cash flow analysis are based on the loan’s interest rate, and cash flows are estimated based upon the
loan’s historical payment performance and the borrower’s current financial condition. Appraisals may be discounted for
age, reasonableness, and selling costs.

Deposits

The fair value of demand and savings deposits is the amount payable on demand. The fair value of fixed maturity term
deposits and certificates of deposit is estimated using the rates currently offered for deposits with similar remaining
maturities.

Accrued Interest

The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate fair value.

Bank-Owned Life Insurance

Bank owned life insurance represents insurance policies on officers of the Company and certain officers who are no
longer employed by the Company.  The cash values of the policies are estimates using information provided by
insurance carriers.  These policies are carried at their cash surrender value, which approximates the fair value.
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Commitments to Extend Credit and Standby Letters of Credit

The only amounts recorded for commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and financial guarantees written
are the deferred fees arising from these unrecognized financial instruments. These deferred fees are not deemed
significant at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and, as such, the related fair values have not been
estimated.

The estimated fair values and related carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments follow.

September 30, 2013

Carrying
Amount

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets

Level 1

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs

Level 2

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

Level 3

Total
Estimated

Fair Value

Financial Assets:
Cash and due from banks $13,806 $13,806 $ --- $ --- $ 13,806
Interest-bearing deposits 62,776 62,776 --- --- 62,776
Securities 356,977 --- 352,901 --- 352,901
Restricted securities 1,414 --- 1,414 --- 1,414
Mortgage loans held for sale 617 --- 617 --- 617
Loans, net 582,574 --- --- 590,117 590,117
Accrued interest receivable 6,044 6,044 --- --- 6,044
Bank-owned life insurance 21,020 21,020 --- --- 21,020
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits $923,498 $674,924 $ --- $ 250,304 $ 925,228
Accrued interest payable 97 97 --- --- 97
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December 31, 2012

Carrying
Amount

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets

Level 1

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs

Level 2

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

Level 3

Total
Estimated

Fair Value

Financial Assets:
Cash and due from banks $14,783 $14,783 $ --- $ --- $ 14,783
Interest-bearing deposits 96,597 96,597 --- --- 96,597
Securities 350,354 --- 360,661 --- 360,661
Restricted securities 1,689 --- 1,689 --- 1,689
Mortgage loans held for sale 2,796 --- 2,796 --- 2,796
Loans, net 583,813 --- --- 570,471 570,471
Accrued interest receivable 6,247 6,247 --- --- 6,247
Bank-owned life insurance 20,523 20,523 --- --- 20,523
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits $946,766 $669,028 $ --- $ 272,820 $ 941,848
Accrued interest payable 139 139 --- --- 139

Note 9: Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Net
Unrealized

Gain
(Loss) on

Securities

Adjustments
Related

to Pension
Benefits

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive

(Loss)

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 2,646 $ (3,967 ) $ (1,321 )
Unrealized holding loss on available for sale securities net of tax of
($178) (331 ) --- (331 )

Reclassification adjustment, net of tax of ($7) (13 ) --- (13 )
Balance at September 30, 2012 2,302 (3,967 ) (1,665 )

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,047 (4,785 ) (2,738 )
Unrealized holding loss on available for sale securities net of tax of
($7,126) (13,234 ) --- (13,234 )

Reclassification adjustment, net of tax of $1 3 --- 3
Balance at September 30, 2013 $ (11,184 ) $ (4,785 ) $ (15,969 )
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

$ in thousands, except per share data

The purpose of this discussion and analysis is to provide information about the financial condition and results of
operations of National Bankshares, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Company”), which are not otherwise
apparent from the consolidated financial statements and other information included in this report.  Please refer to the
financial statements and other information included in this report as well as the 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A
for an understanding of the following discussion and analysis.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

We make forward-looking statements in this Form 10-Q that are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.  These
forward-looking statements include statements regarding our profitability, liquidity, allowance for loan losses, interest
rate sensitivity, market risk, growth strategy, and financial and other goals, and are based upon our management’s
views and assumptions as of the date of this report.  The words “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “projects,”
“contemplates,” “anticipates,”  “forecasts,” “intends,” or other similar words or terms are intended to identify forward-looking
statements.

These forward-looking statements are based upon or are affected by factors that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from historical results or from any results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These
factors include, but are not limited to, changes in:

●    interest rates,
●    general economic conditions,
●    the legislative/regulatory climate,

●

monetary and fiscal policies of the U.S. Government, including policies of the U.S. Treasury, the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and the
impact of any policies or programs implemented pursuant to the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008
(“EESA”) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) and other
financial reform legislation,
●    unanticipated increases in the level of unemployment in the Company’s trade area,
●    the quality or composition of the loan and/or investment portfolios,
●    demand for loan products,
●    deposit flows,
●    competition,
●    demand for financial services in the Company’s trade area,
●    the real estate market in the Company’s trade area,
●    the Company’s technology initiatives,
●    threats from technology based frauds and scams,
●    loss or retirement of key executives,
●    adverse changes in the securities market, and
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●    applicable accounting principles, policies and guidelines.
These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in this
report. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on those statements, which speak only as of the date of this
report. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the description of our “Risk Factors” in Item 1A.
of our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A.

The effects of the recession continue to impact the national economy as well as the Company’s market. Signs of
economic recovery are mixed with continued high unemployment and diminished real estate values. The Company’s
trade area contains a diverse economy that includes large public colleges and universities, which somewhat insulated
the Company’s market from the dramatic declines in real estate values seen in some other areas of the country. The
Company’s market area experienced moderate declines in real estate values associated with the recession that appear to
have stabilized within the past two years. If the economic recovery wavers or reverses, it is likely that unemployment
will continue at higher-than-normal levels or rise in the Company’s trade area. Because of the importance to the
Company’s markets of state-funded universities, any cutbacks in the funding provided by the State could also
negatively impact employment. This could lead to an even higher rate of delinquent loans and a greater number of real
estate foreclosures. Higher unemployment and the fear of layoffs causes reduced consumer demand for goods and
services, which negatively impacts the Company’s business and professional customers. A slow economic recovery
could have an adverse effect on all financial institutions, including the Company.

37

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 149



Critical Accounting Policies

General

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (GAAP). The financial information contained within our statements is, to a significant extent, financial
information that is based on measures of the financial effects of transactions and events that have already occurred. A
variety of factors could affect the ultimate value that is obtained when earning income, recognizing an expense,
recovering an asset or relieving a liability. The Company uses historical loss rates as one factor in determining the
inherent loss that may be present in the loan portfolio. Actual losses could differ significantly from one previously
acceptable method to another method. Although the economics of the Company’s transactions would be the same, the
timing of events that would impact the transactions could change.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is an accrual of estimated losses that have been sustained in our loan portfolio. The
allowance is funded by the provision for loan losses, reduced by charge-offs of loans and increased by recoveries of
previously charged-off loans. The determination of the allowance is based on two accounting principles, Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 450-20 (Contingencies) which requires that losses be accrued when occurrence is
probable and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable, and ASC Topic 310-10 (Receivables) which requires
accrual of losses on impaired loans if the recorded investment exceeds fair value.

Probable losses are accrued through two calculations, individual evaluation of impaired loans and collective
evaluation of the remainder of the portfolio. Impaired loans are larger non-homogeneous loans for which there is a
probability that collection will not occur according to the loan terms, as well as loans whose terms have been modified
in a troubled debt restructuring. Impaired loans with an estimated impairment loss are placed on nonaccrual status.

Impaired loans

Impaired loans are identified through the Company’s credit risk rating process. Estimated loss for an impaired loan is
the amount of recorded investment that exceeds the loan’s fair value. Fair value of an impaired loan is measured by one
of three methods: the fair value of collateral (“collateral method”), the present value of future cash flows (“cash flow
method”), or observable market price. The Company applies the collateral method to collateral-dependent loans, loans
for which foreclosure is eminent and to loans for which the fair value of collateral is a more reliable estimate of fair
value. The cash flow method is applied to loans that are not collateral dependent and for which cash flows may be
estimated.

The Company bases collateral method fair valuation upon the “as-is” value of independent appraisals or evaluations.
Valuations for impaired loans with outstanding principal balances of $250 or more are based on a current appraisal.
Appraisals are also used to value impaired loans with principal balances of $100 or greater and secured by one piece
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of collateral. Collateral-method impaired loans with principal balances below $100, or if secured by multiple pieces of
collateral, below $250, are valued using an internal evaluation.

Appraisals and internal valuations provide an estimate of market value. Appraisals must conform to the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”) and are prepared by an independent third-party appraiser who
is certified and licensed and who is approved by the Company. Appraisals incorporate market analysis, comparable
sales analysis, cash flow analysis and market data pertinent to the property to determine market value. Internal
evaluations are prepared and reviewed by employees of the Company who are independent of the loan origination,
operation, management and collection functions. Evaluations provide a property’s market value based on the property’s
current physical condition and characteristics and the economic market conditions that affect the collateral’s market
value. Evaluations incorporate multiple sources of data to arrive at a property’s market value, including physical
inspection, tax values, independent third-party automated tools, comparable sales analysis and local market
information.

Updated appraisals or evaluations are ordered when the loan becomes impaired if the appraisal or evaluation on file is
more than twelve months old. Appraisals and evaluations are reviewed for propriety and reasonableness and may be
discounted if the Company determines that the value exceeds reasonable levels. If an updated appraisal or evaluation
has been ordered but has not been received by a reporting date, the fair value may be based on the most recent
available appraisal or evaluation, discounted for age.

The appraisal or evaluation value for a collateral-dependent loan for which recovery is expected solely from the sale
of collateral is reduced by estimated selling costs. Estimated losses on collateral-dependent loans, as well as any other
impairment loss considered uncollectible, are charged against the allowance for loan losses. For loans that are not
collateral dependent, the impairment loss is accrued in the allowance. Impaired loans with partial charge-offs are
maintained as impaired until the remaining balance is satisfied. Smaller homogeneous impaired loans that are not
troubled debt restructurings or part of a larger impaired relationship are collectively evaluated.

38

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 151



Troubled debt restructurings are impaired loans and are measured for impairment under the same valuation methods
as other impaired loans. Troubled debt restructurings are maintained in nonaccrual status until the loan has
demonstrated reasonable assurance of repayment with at least six months of consecutive timely payment performance,
unless the impairment measurement indicates a loss. Troubled debt restructurings with impairment losses remain in
nonaccrual status.

Collectively-evaluated loans

Non-impaired loans and smaller homogeneous impaired loans that are not troubled debt restructurings and not part of
a larger impaired relationship are grouped by portfolio segments that are made up of smaller loan classes. Loans
within a segment or class have similar risk characteristics.

Beginning January 1, 2013, the Company segregated certain loans that were included within the classes of the
Residential Real Estate segment, including Equity lines, Residential closed-end first liens and Residential closed-end
junior liens. The newly-segregated loans are secured by residential real estate collateral that is owned by investors and
for which the primary repayment source is rental income. The new class in the Residential Real Estate segment allows
the Company to address credit risks characteristic of investor-owned residential real estate. Segregating the
investor-owned residential real estate did not have a significant impact on the calculation of the allowance for loan
losses. Consistent with accounting guidance, prior periods have not been restated and are shown as originally
published using the segments and classes in effect for the period.

Probable loss is determined by applying historical net charge-off rates as well as additional percentages for trends and
current levels of quantitative and qualitative factors. Loss rates are calculated for and applied to individual classes and
encompass losses for the current year and the previous year. The Company utilizes a two-year “look-back period”, by
averaging loss rates from the current year and the previous year to apply to current collectively-evaluated classes.
Calculations made for quarterly reporting use the annualized current-year loss rate averaged with the loss rate from the
previous year. The look-back period is the same for all classes and segments, and for all periods reported.

Beginning with the first quarter of 2013, two loss rates for each class are calculated: total net charge-offs for the class
as a percentage of average class loan balance (“class loss rate”), and total net charge-offs for the class as a percentage of
average classified loans in the class (“classified loss rate”). Classified loans are those with risk ratings of “substandard” or
higher. Net charge-offs in both calculations include charge-offs and recoveries of classified and non-classified loans as
well as those associated with impaired loans. Class historical loss rates are applied to non-classified loan balances at
the reporting date, and classified historical loss rates are applied to classified balances at the reporting date.

Trends and current levels of qualitative factors are evaluated and allocations are applied to each class. Delinquency
rates, loan quality and concentrations are evaluated for individual classes, while factors for loan officers’ experience,
changes in lending policies and changes in the loan review process are evaluated on a general level. Economic factors
such as unemployment rates, bankruptcy rates and others are also evaluated, with standard allocations applied
consistently to relevant classes.

The Company accrues additional estimated loss for criticized loans within each class and for loans designated high
risk. High risk loans are defined as junior lien mortgages, loans with high loan-to-value ratios and loans with terms
that require only interest payments. Both criticized loans and high risk loans are included in the base risk analysis for
each class and are allocated additional reserves.
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Estimation of the allowance for loan losses

The estimation of the allowance involves analysis of internal and external variables, methodologies, assumptions and
our judgment and experience. Key judgments used in determining the allowance for loan losses include internal risk
rating determinations, market and collateral values, discount rates, loss rates, and our view of current economic
conditions. These judgments are inherently subjective and our actual losses could be greater or less than the estimate.
Future estimates of the allowance could increase or decrease based on changes in the financial condition of individual
borrowers, concentrations of various types of loans, economic conditions or the markets in which collateral may be
sold. The estimate of the allowance accrual determines the amount of provision expense and directly affects our
financial results.

The estimate of the allowance for September 30, 2013 considered market and portfolio conditions during the first nine
months of 2013 as well as the elevated levels of delinquencies and net charge-offs in 2012. Given the continued
economic difficulties, the ultimate amount of loss could vary from that estimate. For additional discussion of the
allowance, see Note 4 to the financial statements and “Asset Quality,” and “Provision and Allowance for Loan Losses.”

Goodwill and Core Deposit Intangibles

Goodwill is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair value based test. The Company
performs impairment testing in the fourth quarter of each year. The Company’s most recent impairment test was
performed in the fourth quarter of 2012. Accounting guidance provides the option of performing preliminary
assessment of qualitative factors before performing more substantial testing for impairment. The Company opted not
to perform the preliminary assessment. The Company’s goodwill impairment analysis considered three valuation
techniques appropriate to the measurement. The first technique uses the Company’s market capitalization as an
estimate of fair value; the second technique estimates fair value using current market pricing multiples for companies
comparable to the Company; while the third technique uses current market pricing multiples for change-of-control
transactions involving companies comparable to the Company. Each measure indicated that the Company’s fair value
exceeded its book value, validating that goodwill is not impaired.
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Certain key judgments were used in the valuation measurement. Goodwill is held by the Company’s bank
subsidiary. The bank subsidiary is 100% owned by the Company, and no market capitalization is available. Because
most of the Company’s assets are comprised of the subsidiary bank’s equity, the Company’s market capitalization was
used to estimate the Bank’s market capitalization. Other judgments include the assumption that the companies and
transactions used as comparables for the second and third technique were appropriate to the estimate of the Company’s
fair value, and that the comparable multiples are appropriate indicators of fair value, and compliant with accounting
guidance.

Acquired intangible assets (such as core deposit intangibles) are recognized separately from goodwill if the benefit of
the asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exchanged, and amortized over its useful life. The Company
amortizes intangible assets arising from branch transactions over their useful life. Core deposit intangibles are subject
to a recoverability test based on undiscounted cash flows, and to the impairment recognition and measurement
provisions required for other long-lived assets held and used. The impairment testing showed that the expected cash
flows of the intangible assets exceeded the carrying value.

Overview

National Bankshares, Inc. (“NBI”) is a financial holding company incorporated under the laws of Virginia. Located in
southwest Virginia, NBI has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, the National Bank of Blacksburg (“NBB” or “the Bank”) and
National Bankshares Financial Services, Inc. (“NBFS”). NBB, which does business as National Bank from twenty-five
office locations, is a community bank. NBB is the source of nearly all of the Company’s revenue. NBFS does business
as National Bankshares Investment Services and National Bankshares Insurance Services. Income from NBFS is not
significant at this time, nor is it expected to be so in the near future.

NBI common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market and is traded under the symbol “NKSH.” National
Bankshares, Inc. has been included in the Russell Investments Russell 3000 and Russell 2000 Indexes since June 29,
2009.

Lending

NBB is community-oriented and offers a full range of retail and commercial banking services to individuals, small
and mid-sized businesses, non-profits and local governments. Loan types include commercial and agricultural,
commercial real estate, construction for commercial and residential properties, residential real estate, home equity and
various consumer loan products. Of primary consideration in the Bank’s decision to extend credit is the repayment
ability of the borrowers and (if secured) the collateral value in relation to the principal balance. Collateral value lowers
risk and may be used as a secondary source of repayment. The credit decision is supported by documentation
appropriate to the type of loan, including current financial information, income verification or cash flow analysis, tax
returns, credit reports, collateral information, guarantor verification, title reports, appraisals (where appropriate), and
other documents. A discussion of underwriting policies and procedures specific to the major loan products follows.
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Commercial and agricultural loans primarily finance equipment acquisition, expansion, working capital, and other
general business purposes. Because these loans have a higher degree of risk, the Bank generally obtains collateral such
as inventories, accounts receivable or equipment, and personal guarantees from the borrowing entity’s principal
owners. The Bank’s policy limits lending to 60% of the appraised value for inventory and equipment and up to 70% for
accounts receivables less than 90 days old. Credit decisions are based upon an assessment of the financial capacity of
the applicant, including the primary borrower’s ability to repay within proposed terms, a risk assessment, financial
strength of guarantors and adequacy of collateral. Credit agency reports of individual owners’ credit history
supplement the analysis.

Commercial mortgages and construction loans are offered to investors, developers and builders, primarily within the
Bank’s market area in southwest Virginia. These loans are secured by first mortgages on real estate. The loan amount
is generally limited to 80% of the collateral value, and is individually determined based on the property type, quality,
location and sponsorship. Commercial properties include retail centers, apartments, and industrial properties.

Underwriting decisions are based upon an analysis of the economic viability of the collateral and creditworthiness of
the borrower. The Bank obtains appraisals from qualified certified independent appraisers to establish the value of
collateral properties. The property’s projected net cash flows compared to the debt service requirement (the “debt
service coverage ratio” or “DSC” ratio) is required to be 110% or greater, and is computed after deduction for a vacancy
factor and property expenses, as appropriate. Borrower cash flow may be supplemented by a personal guarantee from
the principal(s) of the borrower, and guarantees from other parties. The Bank requires title insurance, fire, and
extended coverage casualty insurance, and flood insurance, if appropriate, in order to protect the security interest in
the underlying property. In addition, the Bank may employ stress testing techniques on higher balance loans to
determine repayment ability in a changing rate environment before granting loan approval.

Construction loans are underwritten against projected cash flows from rental income, business and/or personal income
from an owner-occupant or the sale of the property to an end-user. Associated risks may be mitigated by requiring
fixed-price construction contracts, performance and payment bonding, controlled disbursements, and pre-sale
contracts or pre-lease agreements.
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The Bank offers a variety of first mortgage and junior lien loans secured by 1-4 family residences to individuals
within our markets. Credit decisions are primarily based on loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratios, debt-to-income (“DTI”) ratios,
liquidity, net worth, and DSC ratios. Income and financial information is obtained from personal tax returns, personal
financial statements and employment documentation. A maximum LTV ratio of 80% is generally required, although
higher levels are permitted with mortgage insurance. The debt-to-income ratio is limited to 40% of gross income.

Consumer real estate mortgages may have fixed interest rates for the entire term of the loan or variable interest rates
subject to change yearly after the first, third, or fifth year. Variable rates are based on the weekly average yield of
United States Treasury Securities and are underwritten at fully-indexed rates. We do not offer consumer real estate
interest-only loans, sub-prime loans, or any variation on sub-prime lending including hybrid loans and payment option
ARMs, or any product with negative amortization. Sub-prime loans involve extending credit to borrowers who exhibit
characteristics indicating a significantly higher risk of default than traditional bank lending customers. Hybrid loans
are loans that start out as a fixed rate mortgage but after a set number of years automatically adjust to an adjustable
rate mortgage. Payment option ARMs usually have adjustable rates, for which borrowers choose their monthly
payment of either a full payment, interest only, or a minimum payment which may be lower than the payment required
to reduce the balance of the loan in accordance with the originally underwritten amortization.

Home equity loans are secured primarily by second mortgages on residential property. The underwriting policy for
home equity loans generally permits aggregate (the total of all liens secured by the collateral property) borrowing
availability up to 80% of the appraised value of the collateral. We offer variable rate home equity loans, with variable
rate loans underwritten at fully-indexed rates. Decisions are primarily based on LTV ratios, DTI ratios and liquidity.
We do not offer home equity loan products with reduced documentation.

Automobile loans include loans secured by new or used automobiles. Automobile loans are originated either on a
direct basis or on an indirect basis through selected dealerships. We require borrowers to maintain collision insurance
on automobiles securing consumer loans. Our procedures for underwriting automobile loans include an assessment of
an applicant’s overall financial capacity, including credit history and the ability to meet existing obligations and
payments on the proposed loan. Although an applicant’s creditworthiness is the primary consideration, the
underwriting process also includes a comparison of the value of the collateral security to the proposed loan amount.

Performance Summary

The following table presents the Company’s key performance ratios for the nine months ended September 30, 2013
and the year ended December 31, 2012. The measures for September 30, 2013 are annualized, except for basic
earnings per share and fully diluted earnings per share.

September
30,

2013

December
31,
2012

Return on average assets 1.61 % 1.64 %
Return on average equity 11.70 % 12.01 %
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Basic earnings per share $ 1.90 $ 2.56
Fully diluted earnings per share $ 1.89 $ 2.55
Net interest margin (1) 4.27 % 4.38 %
Noninterest margin (2) 1.44 % 1.36 %

(1)Net interest margin: Year-to-date tax-equivalent net interest income divided by year-to-date average earning assets.

(2)
Noninterest margin: Noninterest expense (excluding the provision for bad debts and income taxes) less noninterest
income (excluding securities gains and losses) divided by average year-to-date assets.

The annualized return on average assets declined 3 basis points for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. The annualized return on average equity declined 31 basis points for
the same period.

The annualized net interest margin was 4.27% for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, down 11 basis points
from the 4.38% reported for the year ended December 31, 2012. The primary factor driving the decrease in the net
interest margin was the declining yield on earning assets offset by a smaller decline in the cost to fund earning assets.

The annualized noninterest margin increased 8 basis points from the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily because
of a decrease in noninterest income. Please refer to the discussion under noninterest expense for further information.
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Growth

NBI’s key growth indicators are shown in the following table.

September 30, 2013 December 31, 2012 Percent Change
Interest-bearing deposits $ 62,776 $ 96,597 (35.01 )%
Securities 358,391 352,043 1.80 %
Loans, net 582,574 583,813 (0.21 )%
Deposits 923,498 946,766 (2.46 )%
Total assets 1,077,403 1,104,361 (2.44 )%

When compared with the balances at December 31, 2012, loans decreased 0.21%, interest-bearing deposits decreased
35.01% and customer deposits decreased 2.46%, while securities increased 1.80%.

Asset Quality

Key indicators of the Company’s asset quality are presented in the following table.

September 30, 2013 September 30,2012 December 31, 2012

Nonperforming loans $ 11,236 $ 6,130 $ 13,021
Loans past due 90 days or more, and still accruing 149 114 170
Other real estate owned 973 1,894 1,435
Allowance for loan losses to loans 1.37 % 1.40 % 1.41 %
Net charge-off ratio 0.36 % 0.54 % 0.49 %
Ratio of nonperforming assets to loans, net of
unearned income and deferred fees, plus other real
estate owned

2.06 % 1.35 % 2.44 %

Ratio of allowance for loan losses to nonperforming
loans 72.00 % 134.65 % 64.12 %

The Company monitors asset quality indicators in managing credit risk and in determining the allowance and
provision for loan losses. The Company’s risk analysis for collectively-evaluated loans is based on historical
charge-off rates, asset quality trends represented by past due and nonaccrual ratios, diversification of loans within the
portfolio, the value of underlying collateral if secured, the risk of unsecured loans, and economic trends pertinent to
the Company’s loan portfolio.
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The Company’s risk analysis determined an allowance for loan losses of $8,090 at September 30, 2013, a decrease
from $8,349 at December 31, 2012. The provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was $1,329, a
decline from $2,554 for the same period in 2012. The ratio of allowance for loan losses to loans was 1.37% as of
September 30, 2013, lower than 1.41% at December 31, 2012 and 1.40% at September 30, 2012.

Contributing to decreases in the level of allowance for loan losses and provision were improvements in nonperforming
loans, accruing loans past due 90 days or more, and improvements in economic indicators when compared to
December 31, 2012. Nonperforming loans were $13,021 at December 31, 2012 and declined to $11,236 at September
30, 2013. The ratio of nonperforming assets to loans, net of unearned income and deferred fees, plus other real estate
owned was 2.06% as of September 30, 2013, a decrease from 2.44% at December 31, 2012. At September 30, 2012,
nonperforming loans were $6,130 and the ratio of nonperforming assets to loans, net of unearned income and deferred
fees, plus other real estate owned was 1.35%.

Accruing loans past due 90 days or more improved from $170 at December 31, 2012 to $149 at September 30, 2013.
The annualized net charge-off ratio for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was 0.36%, a decline from 0.49%
for the year ended December 31, 2012, and 0.54% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Improvements in levels of high risk loans and economic indicators also contributed to the decline in the assessment of
provision and allowance for loan losses. The percentage of high risk loans to total loans, defined by the Company to
be junior lien mortgages, interest only loans and loans with high loan-to-value ratios, declined from 35.36% at
September 30, 2012 and from 34.33% at December 31, 2012 to 27.67% at September 30, 2013. High risk loans are
provided greater allocations than other loans within the same portfolio segment. Economic factors were analyzed to
determine their impact on the credit risk of the loan portfolio. Within the Company’s market area, average
unemployment, bankruptcy rates, and commercial and residential vacancy rates improved from September 30, 2012,
though increased slightly from December 31, 2012.
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The recent economic recession and slow recovery have contributed to levels of asset quality measures that are higher
than normal for the Company, however risk analyses showed signs of improvement. When September 30, 2013 is
compared to December 31, 2012, improvements in charge-off trends, nonperforming loans, accruing loans past due 90
days or more and certain economic factors that affect real estate construction, consumer real estate and commercial
real estate resulted in a lower allocation. The Company continues to monitor risk levels within the loan portfolio.
Please refer to Note 4: Allowance for Loan Losses, Nonperforming Assets and Impaired Loans for further information
on collectively-evaluated loans, individually-evaluated impaired loans and the unallocated portion of the allowance
for loan losses.

Other real estate owned decreased $462 from December 31, 2012 and $921 from September 30, 2012. As of
September 30, 2013, total properties approximating $3,784 are in various stages of foreclosure and may impact other
real estate owned in future quarters. It is not possible to accurately predict the future total of other real estate owned
because property sold at foreclosure may be acquired by third parties and NBB’s other real estate owned properties are
regularly marketed and sold.

Modifications and Troubled Debt Restructurings (“TDRs”)

In the ordinary course of business, the Company modifies loan terms on a case-by-case basis, including both
consumer and commercial loans, for a variety of reasons. Modifications to consumer loans generally involve
short-term deferrals to accommodate specific, temporary circumstances. The Company may grant extensions to
borrowers who have demonstrated a willingness and ability to repay their loan but who are dealing with the
consequences of a specific unforeseen temporary hardship.

An extension defers monthly payments and requires a balloon payment at the original contractual maturity. Where the
temporary event is not expected to impact a borrower’s ability to repay the debt, and where the Company expects to
collect all amounts due including interest accrued at the contractual interest rate for the period of delay at contractual
maturity, the modification is not designated a TDR.

Modifications to commercial loans may include, but are not limited to, changes in interest rate, maturity, amortization
and financial covenants. In the original underwriting, loan terms are established that represent the then-current and
projected financial condition of the borrower. If the modified terms are consistent with competitive market conditions
and are representative of terms the borrower could otherwise obtain in the open market, the modified loan is not
categorized as a TDR.

The Company began coding modification on the core processing system during the second quarter of 2013. The
Company uses the coding to assist in identifying troubled debt restructurings. The majority of modifications
completed since formal coding was implemented were granted for competitive reasons and did not constitute troubled
debt restructurings. A description of modifications that did not result in troubled debt restructurings follows:

Modifications To Borrowers Not Experiencing

Financial Difficulty

Number
of Loans

Total
Amount
Modified
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Modified
Rate reductions for competitive purposes 26 $11,648
Payment extensions for less than 3 months 138 5,908
Maturity date extensions of more than 3 months and up to 6 months 20 3,375
Maturity date extensions of more than 6 months and up to 12 months 113 2,939
Maturity date extensions of more than 12 months 12 671
Advances on non-revolving loans or recapitalization 4 845
Change in amortization term or method 23 4,496
Renewal of expired Home Equity Line of Credit loans to additional 10 years 19 284
Renewal of single-payment notes 73 1,622
Total modifications that do not constitute TDRs 428 $31,788

Modifications in which the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and in which the Company makes a
concession to the original contractual loan terms are designated troubled debt restructurings.

Modifications of loan terms to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty are made in an attempt to protect as much
of the Company’s investment in the loan as possible. The determination of whether a modification should be accounted
for as a TDR requires significant judgment after consideration of all facts and circumstances surrounding the
transaction.

The Company recognizes that the current economy, elevated levels of unemployment and depressed real estate values
have resulted in financial difficulties for some customers. The Company has restructured loan terms for certain
qualified financially distressed borrowers who have agreed to work in good faith and have demonstrated the ability to
make the restructured payments in order to avoid a foreclosure. All TDR loans are individually evaluated for
impairment for purposes of determining the allowance for loan losses. TDR loans with an impairment loss or that do
not demonstrate current payments for at least six months are maintained on nonaccrual until the borrower
demonstrates sustained repayment history under the restructured terms and continued repayment is not in doubt.
Otherwise, interest income is recognized using a cost recovery method.
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The Company’s TDRs were $7,587 at September 30, 2013, an increase from $4,156 at December 31, 2012. Accruing
TDR loans amounted to $6,545 at September 30, 2013 and $2,005 at December 31, 2012. TDRs with a current
payment history of at least 6 months may accrue interest. Accruing restructured loans increased with the addition of
six loans totaling $4,576 restructured in 2013 that maintained sufficient current status prior to restructuring. Two of
the loans restructured during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, totaling $354, were reported as nonaccrual
TDR’s in prior quarters. The loans demonstrated current repayment history for the required period and were granted
additional modifications to change payments to amortizing. Because of the satisfactory repayment history the loans
were placed in accruing status.

TDR Status as of September 30, 2013
Accruing

Total
TDR

Loans

Current

30-89
Days

Past
Due

90+
Days

Past
Due

Nonaccrual

Real estate construction $123 $--- $ --- $ --- $ 123
Consumer real estate 1,152 898 --- --- 254
Commercial real estate 6,243 5,578 --- --- 665
Commercial non real estate 69 69 --- --- ---
Public sector and IDA --- --- --- --- ---
Consumer non real estate --- --- --- --- ---
Total TDR Loans $7,587 $6,545 $ --- $ --- $ 1,042

TDR Status as of December 31, 2012
Accruing

Total
TDR

Loans

Current

30-89
Days

Past
Due

90+
Days

Past
Due

Nonaccrual

Real estate construction $123 $--- $ --- $ --- $ 123
Consumer real estate 487 80 --- --- 407
Commercial real estate 3,028 1,886 --- --- 1,142
Commercial non real estate 518 39 --- --- 479
Public sector and IDA --- --- --- --- ---
Consumer non real estate --- --- --- --- ---
Total TDR Loans $4,156 $2,005 $ --- $ --- $ 2,151

Restructuring generally results in loans with either lower payments or an extended maturity beyond that originally
required, and are expected to have a lower risk of loss due to nonperformance than loans classified as nonperforming.
During the first three quarters of 2013, the Company modified six loans totaling $4,576 in troubled debt
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restructurings, and during the first three quarters of 2012, the Company modified ten loans totaling $1,844. Please
refer to Note 4 for information on troubled debt restructurings.
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Net Interest Income

The net interest income analysis for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 follows:

September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012

Average
Balance Interest

Average
Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Average
Yield/
Rate

Interest-earning
assets:
Loans, net
(1)(2)(3)(4) $ 585,230 $ 25,067 5.73 % $ 588,844 $ 26,820 6.08 %

Taxable securities
(5) 197,752 5,007 3.39 % 163,070 4,991 4.09 %

Nontaxable
securities (1)(5)(6) 173,442 7,504 5.78 % 164,432 7,431 6.04 %

Interest-bearing
deposits 79,795 161 0.27 % 96,410 187 0.26 %

Total
interest-earning
assets

$ 1,036,219 $ 37,739 4.87 % $ 1,012,756 $ 39,429 5.20 %

Interest-bearing
liabilities:
Interest-bearing
demand deposits $ 454,943 $ 2,856 0.84 % $ 415,839 $ 3,144 1.01 %

Savings deposits 72,226 26 0.05 % 64,323 28 0.06 %
Time deposits 264,771 1,733 0.88 % 302,887 2,899 1.28 %
Total
interest-bearing
liabilities

$ 791,940 $ 4,615 0.78 % $ 783,049 $ 6,071 1.04 %

Net interest
income and
interest rate spread

$ 33,124 4.09 % $ 33,358 4.16 %

Net yield on
average
interest-earning
assets

4.27 % 4.40 %

(1)
Interest on nontaxable loans and securities is computed on a fully taxable equivalent basis using a Federal income
tax rate of 35% in the nine-month periods presented.

(2)
Included in interest income are loan fees of $698 and $642 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and
2012, respectively.
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(3)Nonaccrual loans are included in average balances for yield computations.
(4)Includes mortgage loans held for sale.
(5)Daily averages are shown at amortized cost.
(6)Includes restricted stock.

The net interest margin for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 13 basis points from the nine months
ended September 30, 2012. The decrease in interest rate spread was driven by a decline in the yield on earning assets
of 33 basis points offset by a decline in the cost of interest-bearing liabilities of 26 basis points. Both loans and
securities experienced a decline in yields. The 35 basis point decline in the yield on loans stemmed from contractual
repricing terms and the renegotiation of loan interest rates in response to competition. The yield on taxable securities
was 70 basis points lower for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, when compared with the same period in
2012, while the yield on nontaxable securities declined 26 basis points over the same period. The market yield for
securities of a comparable term has declined over the past year, causing matured and called bonds to be replaced with
lower yielding investments. The decline in the cost of interest-bearing liabilities came primarily from a 40 basis point
reduction in the cost of time deposits when the nine month periods ended September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012
are compared.

The Company’s yield on earning assets and cost of funds are largely dependent on the interest rate environment. In the
recent past, historically low interest rates caused funding costs to decline at a faster pace than the yield on earning
assets. The decline in deposit pricing has begun to slow while competitive and market forces continue to pressure the
yield on earning assets. The Company’s cost of funding is more sensitive to interest rate changes than is the yield on
earning assets.

Provision and Allowance for Loan Losses

The provision for loan losses for the nine month period ended September 30, 2013 was $1,329, compared with $2,554
for the nine months of 2012. The provision for loan losses is the result of a detailed analysis performed to estimate an
appropriate and adequate allowance for loan losses. The ratio of the allowance for loan losses to total loans at
September 30, 2013 was 1.37%, which compares to 1.41% at December 31, 2012. The net charge-off ratio was 0.36%
at September 30, 2013 and 0.49% at December 31, 2012. The change in the provision for loan losses was largely
attributable to improvements in credit quality trends and lower net charge-offs during the third quarter of 2013. See
“Asset Quality” for additional information.
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Noninterest Income

Nine Months
Ended
September
30,
2013

September
30, 2012

Percent
Change

Service charges on deposits $1,922 $ 1,956 (1.74 )%
Other service charges and fees 139 130 6.92 %
Credit card fees 2,427 2,441 (0.57 )%
Trust fees 867 1,037 (16.39)%
BOLI income 546 605 (9.75 )%
Other income 502 341 47.21 %
Realized securities gains 2 33 (93.94)%

Service charges on deposit accounts for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 declined $34 or 1.74% when
compared with the same period in 2012.

Other service charges and fees includes charges for official checks, income from the sale of checks to customers, safe
deposit box rent, fees for letters of credit and the income earned from commissions on the sale of credit life, accident
and health insurance. Other service charges & fees for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased $9 from
the same period in 2012, due to minor and routine fluctuations.

Credit card fees for the nine months of 2013 decreased $14, or 0.57%, when compared with the same period last year.
The decrease was due to a lower volume of merchant transactions and credit card fees.

Income from trust fees decreased 16.39% or $170 from the $1,037 earned in the same period of 2012. Trust income
varies depending on the total assets held in trust accounts, the type of accounts under management and financial
market conditions. Estate fees contributed to the amount recognized in 2012.

BOLI income decreased $59 from September 30, 2012 to September 30, 2013.

Other income includes net gains from the sales of fixed assets, revenue from investment and insurance sales and other
smaller miscellaneous components. Other income for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased $161
when compared with the nine months ended September 30, 2012. These areas fluctuate with market conditions and
because of competitive factors.

Net realized securities gains for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 were $2, as compared with $33 for the
same period in 2012. Net realized securities gains and losses are market driven and have resulted from calls and sales
of securities.

Noninterest Expense
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Nine Months
Ended
September
30,
2013

September
30, 2012

Percent
Change

Salaries and employee benefits $8,963 $ 9,014 (0.57 )%
Occupancy, furniture and fixtures 1,230 1,181 4.15 %
Data processing and ATM 1,288 1,206 6.80 %
FDIC assessment 408 343 18.95%
Credit card processing 1,854 1,817 2.04 %
Intangibles amortization 809 812 (0.37 )%
Net costs of other real estate owned 192 209 (8.13 )%
Franchise taxes 803 646 24.30%
Other operating expenses 2,637 2,302 14.55%

46

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 167



Total noninterest expense increased $654 or 3.73% when the nine months ended September 30, 2013 are compared to
the same period of 2012. Most of the increase was contributed by increases in franchise tax expense and other
operating expense. Bank franchise tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased $157 or
24.30% over the same period in 2012. The tax is calculated based on equity. Bank franchise tax expense in 2012
benefitted from refunds of prior years’ tax.

The category of other operating expenses includes noninterest expense items such as professional services, stationery
and supplies, telephone costs, postage, charitable donations and other expenses. Other operating expenses for the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 increased $335 or 14.55% from same period in 2012. Contributing to the increase
were higher marketing and business development expenses.

FDIC assessment expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased $65 or 18.95% over the same
period for 2012. The calculation to determine the FDIC assessment uses assets as the assessment base.

Occupancy, furniture and fixtures expense increased 4.15%, from $1,181 for the nine months ended September 30,
2012 to $1,230 as of September 30, 2013.

Salary and benefits expense was $8,963 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, similar to the $9,014 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Credit card processing expense increased by 2.04% from the total for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. This
expense is driven by volume and other factors and is subject to a degree of variability.

Net costs of other real estate owned decreased $17 from the nine months ended September 30, 2012 to $192 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013. This expense category includes maintenance costs as well as valuation
write-downs and gains and losses on the sale of properties. The expense varies with the number of properties, the
maintenance required and changes in the real estate market.

Data processing and ATM expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased $82 when compared with
the expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2012, due to expenses related to system updates.

The expense for intangibles amortization is related to acquisitions. There were no acquisitions in the past year, with
minimal change in expense between the nine month periods ended September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012.

Balance Sheet

Year-to-date daily averages for the major balance sheet categories are as follows:

Assets September
30, 2013

December
31, 2012

Percent
Change

Interest-bearing deposits $79,795 $94,724 (15.76)%
Securities available for sale 200,770 188,167 6.70 %
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Securities held to maturity 165,014 149,566 10.33 %
Loans, net 575,741 579,817 (0.70 )%
Total assets 1,090,630 1,080,351 0.95 %

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Noninterest-bearing demand deposits $140,680 $141,269 (0.42 )%
Interest-bearing demand deposits 454,943 420,947 8.08 %
Savings deposits 72,226 64,973 11.16 %
Time deposits 264,771 298,797 (11.39)%
Stockholders’ equity 150,425 147,812 1.77 %

Securities

Management regularly monitors the quality of the securities portfolio, and management closely follows the
uncertainty in the economy and the volatility of financial markets.  The value of individual securities will be written
down if the decline in fair value is considered to be other than temporary based upon the totality of circumstances. See
Note 5 Securities for additional information.
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Loans

September
30, 2013

December
31, 2012

Percent
Change

Real estate construction loans $ 55,022 $ 50,313 9.36 %
Consumer real estate loans 146,447 143,262 2.22 %
Commercial real estate loans 301,890 304,308 (0.79 )%
Commercial non real estate loans 31,329 37,349 (16.12)%
Public sector and IDA 28,332 26,169 8.27 %
Consumer non real estate 28,532 31,714 (10.03)%
Less: unearned income (888 ) (953 ) (6.82 )%
Loans, net of unearned income $ 590,664 $ 592,162 (0.25 )%

The Company’s loans net of unearned income decreased by $1,498 or 0.25%, from $592,162 at December 31, 2012 to
$590,664 at September 30, 2013. Growth in real estate construction, consumer real estate and public sector loans was
offset by declines in other categories. Real estate construction loans grew by $4,709 and public sector loans grew by
$2,163 from December 31, 2012 to September 30, 2013.

The 10.03% decline in consumer non real estate loans continues a trend that has been evident over the past several
years. The availability of low cost dealer auto loans and other products, such as home equity lines of credit, make
traditional consumer installment loans less attractive to customers.

Commercial real estate loans declined $2,418 from December 31, 2012 while commercial non real estate loans
decreased by $6,020 or 16.12% from December 31, 2012. The declines are due to market, economic and competitive
forces and are not the result of changes in lending policies.

The Company does not now, nor has it ever, offered certain types of higher-risk loans such as subprime loans, option
ARM products, reverse mortgages or loans with initial teaser rates.

Deposits

September
30, 2013

December
31, 2012

Percent
Change

Noninterest-bearing demand deposits $ 147,928 $ 144,252 2.55 %
Interest-bearing demand deposits 453,044 455,713 (0.59 )%
Saving deposits 73,952 69,063 7.08 %
Time deposits 248,574 277,738 (10.50)%
Total deposits $ 923,498 $ 946,766 (2.46 )%
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Total deposits decreased $23,268, or 2.46% from $946,766 at December 31, 2012 to $923,498 at September 30, 2013.
Increases in noninterest bearing demand deposits and savings deposits totaled $8,565, or 4.02%. These increases were
offset by a decline in interest bearing demand deposits and time deposits of $31,833, or 4.34%, when September 30,
2013 is compared with December 31, 2012. Historically low rates have caused a migration from time deposits to other
types of deposits. As longer-term certificates of deposit mature, customers are unwilling to commit their funds for
extended periods at low interest rates. Time deposits do not include any brokered deposits.

Liquidity

Liquidity measures the Company’s ability to meet its financial commitments at a reasonable cost. Demands on the
Company’s liquidity include funding additional loan demand and accepting withdrawals of existing deposits. The
Company has diverse sources of liquidity, including customer and purchased deposits, customer repayments of loan
principal and interest, sales, calls and maturities of securities, Federal Reserve discount window borrowing, short-term
borrowing, and Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) advances. At September 30, 2013, the bank did not have purchased
deposits, discount window borrowings, short-term borrowings, or FHLB advances. To assure that short-term
borrowing is readily available, the Company tests accessibility annually. 

Liquidity from securities is restricted by accounting and business considerations. The securities portfolio is segregated
into available-for-sale and held-to-maturity. The Company considers only securities designated available-for-sale for
typical liquidity needs. Further, portions of the securities portfolio are pledged to meet state requirements for public
funds deposits. Discount window borrowings also require pledged securities. Increased or decreased liquidity from
public funds deposits or discount window borrowings results in increased or decreased liquidity from pledging
requirements. The Company monitors public funds pledging requirements and the amount of unpledged
available-for-sale securities that are accessible for liquidity needs.
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Regulatory capital levels determine the Company’s ability to utilize purchased deposits and the Federal Reserve
discount window for liquidity needs. At September 30, 2013, the Company is considered well capitalized and does not
have any restrictions on purchased deposits or the Federal Reserve discount window.

The Company monitors factors that may increase its liquidity needs. Some of these factors include deposit trends,
large depositor activity, maturing deposit promotions, interest rate sensitivity, maturity and repricing timing gaps
between assets and liabilities, the level of unfunded loan commitments and loan growth. At September 30, 2013, the
Company’s liquidity is sufficient to meet projected trends in these areas.

To monitor and estimate liquidity levels, the Company performs stress testing under varying assumptions on credit
sensitive liabilities. It also tests the sources and amounts of balance sheet and external liquidity available to replace
outflows. The Company’s Contingency Funding Plan sets forth avenues for rectifying liquidity shortfalls. At
September 30, 2013, the analysis indicated adequate liquidity under the tested scenarios.

The Company utilizes several other strategies to maintain sufficient liquidity. Loan and deposit growth are managed to
keep the loan to deposit ratio within the Company’s own policy range of 65% to 75%. At September 30, 2013, the loan
to deposit ratio was 63.96%, slightly below the Company’s internal target. The investment strategy takes into
consideration the term of the investment, and securities in the available for sale portfolio are laddered to account for
projected funding needs.

Capital Resources

Total stockholders’ equity at September 30, 2013 was $146,294, a decrease of $3,815, or 2.54%, from the $150,109 at
December 31, 2012. The Tier I and Tier II risk-based capital ratios at September 30, 2013 were 22.70% and 23.89%,
respectively. Capital levels remain significantly above the regulatory minimum capital requirements of 4.0% for Tier I
and 8.0% for Tier II capital.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of business, NBB extends lines of credit and letters of credit to its customers. Depending on their
needs, customers may draw upon lines of credit at any time in any amount up to a pre-approved limit. Standby letters
of credit are issued for two purposes. Financial letters of credit guarantee payments to facilitate customer purchases.
Performance letters of credit guarantee payment if the customer fails to complete a specific obligation.

Historically, the full approved amount of letters and lines of credit has not been drawn at any one time. The Company
has developed plans to meet a sudden and substantial funding demand. These plans include accessing a line of credit
with a correspondent bank, borrowing from the FHLB, selling available for sale investments or loans and raising
additional deposits.
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The Company sells mortgages on the secondary market for which there are recourse agreements should the borrower
default. Mortgages must meet strict underwriting and documentation requirements for the sale to be completed. The
Company has determined that its risk in this area is not significant because of a low volume of secondary market
mortgage loans and high underwriting standards. The Company estimates a potential loss reserve for recourse
provisions that is not material as of September 30, 2013. To date, no recourse provisions have been invoked. If funds
were needed, the Company would access the same sources as noted above for funding lines and letters of credit.

There were no material changes in off-balance sheet arrangements during the nine months ended September 30, 2013,
except for normal seasonal fluctuations in the total of mortgage loan commitments.

Contractual Obligations

The Company had no capital lease or purchase obligations and no long-term debt at September 30, 2013. Operating
lease obligations, which are for buildings used in the Company’s day-to-day operations, were not material at the end of
the nine months of 2013 and have not changed materially from those which were disclosed in the Company’s 2012
Form 10-K/A.

Item 3.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company considers interest rate risk to be a significant market risk and has systems in place to measure the
exposure of net interest income to adverse movement in interest rates. Interest rate shock analyses provide
management with an indication of potential economic loss due to future rate changes. There have not been any
changes which would significantly alter the results disclosed as of December 31, 2012 in the Company’s 2012 Form
10-K/A.
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Item 4.    Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management evaluated, with the participation of the Company’s principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule
13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial
officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of September 30, 2013 to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s
management, including the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There were changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the
Exchange Act) during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 that materially affected, or were reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting. Additional information with respect to
this issue is included in the discussion below.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In March 2013, following the examination of the Company’s subsidiary, The National Bank of Blacksburg, by its
primary federal regulator, the Company identified a material weakness in Company’s internal control over classifying
certain loans as impaired and nonaccrual within the appropriate regulatory timeframe. After management discovered
the material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting described above, management implemented
additional internal control procedures to ensure that more thorough review procedures are in place over the
determination of classifying certain loans as impaired and nonaccrual. In addition, the Company changed the
workflow of the procedures and segregated duties among the lending department, credit administration department
and accounting department to properly identify and disclose impaired loans. Also, following the examination of the
Bank, and as a means of corrective action, the Company’s management, under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, established a task force of
Company and Bank employees who reviewed all commercial relationships over $500,000 in the Bank’s portfolio to
ensure compliance with Bank and regulatory policies relating to nonaccrual classification. This task force determined
that the loans constituting the remaining portfolio of commercial relationships over $500,000 were properly classified.

These changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting procedures were implemented and deemed
effective by management as of September 30, 2013.
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Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, the Company believes that no system of controls, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide absolute assurance that all control issues have been detected.

Part II

Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

There are no pending or threatened legal proceedings to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or to
which the property of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is subject that, in the opinion of management, may
materially impact the financial condition of the Company.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Please refer to the “Risk Factors” previously disclosed in Item 1A of our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A and the
factors discussed under “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in Part I. Item 2 of this Form
10-Q.

Item 2.    Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.
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Item 3.    Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.          

Item 5. Other Information

Subsequent Events

From September 30, 2013, the balance sheet date of this Form 10-Q, through the date of filing the Form 10-Q with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, there have been no material subsequent events that 1) provide additional
evidence about conditions that existed on the date of the balance sheet, or 2) provide evidence about conditions that
did not exist at the date of the balance sheet, but arose after the balance sheet date.

Item 6. Exhibits

See Index of Exhibits.     

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
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NATIONAL BANKSHARES, INC.

Date: November 8, 2013 /s/ James G. Rakes
James G. Rakes
Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 8, 2013 /s/ David K. Skeens
David K. Skeens
Treasurer and

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Index of Exhibits

Exhibit No.
Description

Page No. in

Sequential System

3(i) Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation
of National Bankshares, Inc.

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Form 8K for filed on March 16, 2006)

3(ii) Amended By-laws of National Bankshares, Inc.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(ii) of
the Annual Report on Form 10K for fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007)

4(i) Specimen copy of certificate for National
Bankshares, Inc. common stock 

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(a) of the
Annual Report on Form 10K for fiscal year
ended December 31, 1993)

*10(iii)(A) National Bankshares, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the
Form S-8, filed as Registration No. 333-79979 with
the Commission on June 4, 1999)

*10(iii)(A)
Executive Employment Agreement dated
December 17, 2008, between National
Bankshares, Inc. and James G. Rakes

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Annual Report on Form 10K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2008)

*10(iii)(A)
Executive Employment Agreement dated
December 17, 2008, between National
Bankshares, Inc. and F. Brad Denardo

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Annual Report on Form 10K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2008)

*10(iii)(A)
Salary Continuation Agreement dated February 8,
2006, between The National Bank of Blacksburg
and James G. Rakes

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Form 8K filed on February 8, 2006)

*10(iii)(A)
Salary Continuation Agreement dated February 8,
2006, between The National Bank of Blacksburg
and F. Brad Denardo

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Form 8K filed on February 8, 2006)

*10(iii)(A)

Salary Continuation Agreement dated February 8,
2006, between

The National Bank of Blacksburg and David K.
Skeens

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Form 8K filed on January 25, 2012)

*10(iii)(A)
First Amendment, dated December 19, 2007, to
The National Bank of Blacksburg Salary
Continuation Agreement for James G. Rakes

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Form 8K filed on December 19, 2007)

*10(iii)(A)
First Amendment, dated December 19, 2007, to
The National Bank of Blacksburg Salary
Continuation Agreement for F. Brad Denardo

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Form 8K filed on December 19, 2007)

*10(iii)(A)
First Amendment, dated December 19, 2007, to
The National Bank of Blacksburg Salary
Continuation Agreement for David K. Skeens

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Form 8K filed on January 25, 2012)

*10(viii)(A)
Second Amendment, dated June 12, 2008, to The
National Bank of Blacksburg Salary Continuation
Agreement for F. Brad Denardo

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)
of the Form 8K filed on June 12, 2008)

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 178



52

Edgar Filing: NEVRO CORP - Form S-1

Table of Contents 179



*10(viii)(A)Second Amendment, dated December 17, 2008, to The National Bank ofBlacksburg Salary Continuation Agreement for James G. Rakes

(incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit
10(iii)(A) of the Annual
Report on Form 10K for
the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2008)

*10(iii)(A) Second Amendment, dated June 12, 2008, to The National Bank of Blacksburg
Salary Continuation Agreement for David K. Skeens

(incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit
10(iii)(A) of the Form
8K filed on January 25,
2012)

*10(viii)(A)Third Amendment, dated December 17, 2008, to The National Bank ofBlacksburg Salary Continuation Agreement for F. Brad Denardo

(incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit
10(iii)(A) of the Annual
Report on Form 10K for
the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2008)

*10(iii)(A) Third Amendment, dated January 20, 2012, to The National Bank of Blacksburg
Salary Continuation Agreement for David K. Skeens

(incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit
10(iii)(A) of the Form
8K filed on January 25,
2012)

*10(iii)(A)
Salary Continuation Agreement dated January 20, 2012 between

The National Bank of Blacksburg and Bryson J. Hunter

(incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit
10(iii)(A) of the Form
8K filed on January 25,
2012)

31(i) Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer (included herewith)
31(ii) Section 906 Certification of Chief Financial Officer (included herewith)
32(i) 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer (included herewith)
32(ii) 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer (included herewith)

101

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, the following financial information
from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2013 is formatted in XBRL interactive data files: (i) Consolidated
Statements of Income for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, and 2012;
(ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012;
(iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012; (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012; and (v)
Notes to Financial Statements

*     Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.          
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